REGULAR BOARD MEETING
AGENDA PACKET

OCTOBER 16, 2017

POSTED: OCTOBER 12, 2017

Regular Board Meeting – October 16, 2017, 7:00 p.m.
Carmichael Water District Board Room
7837 Fair Oaks Boulevard
Carmichael, CA 95608
AGENDA
The Board will discuss all items on its agenda, and may take action on any of those items, including information items
and continued items. The Board may also discuss other items that do not appear on its agenda, but will not act on
those items unless action is urgent, and a resolution is passed by a two-thirds vote declaring the need for action arose
after posting of the agenda.

The Board of Directors welcomes and encourages participation in meetings. Public testimony may be
given on any agenda item as it is called and limited to three minutes per speaker. Matters not on the
posted agenda may be addressed under Public Comment. Please fill out a Speaker Card and turn it in at
the staff table, either before or during the meeting. Public comment rules and procedures are on the
back of the speaker card.
In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you have a disability and need a disability-related
modification or accommodation to participate in this meeting, please contact the General Manager at 483-2452.
Requests must be made as early as possible, and at least one full business day before the start of the meeting.
CALL TO ORDER AND STATEMENT REGARDING PUBLIC PARTICIPATION: President Emmerson
FY 2015-2016 Annual District Audit Presentation performed by Richardson & Company.
(Information included in agenda packet)
DISTRICT REPORTS:
1.

General Manager’s Written Report

2.

District Activity Written Report Presented by the Assistant General Manager

PUBLIC COMMENT:
3.

Public Comment
Any member of the public may address the Board on any item of interest to the public that is within the subject
matter jurisdiction of the Board.

CONSENT CALENDAR:
Consent Calendar items are expected to be routine and non-controversial, to be acted on by the Board in one motion.
Should any Board member, staff member, or interested person request discussion on an item, the Board will consider
the item separate from the Consent Calendar.
4.

Minutes for the Regular Board Meeting – September 18, 2017

5.

Paid Expenditures Report – September 2017

6.

Investment Transaction Report – September 2017

7.

Budget Summary – September 2017

8.

Cash Flow Projection – September 2017

9.

FY 2017-2018 Reserve Requirements – September 2017

10. Statement of Net Position – September 2017
11. Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position – Quarter Ending September 30, 2017
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ACTION CALENDAR:
12. FY 2016-2017 Annual District Audit has been performed by Richardson & Company. Richardson &
Company’s report to the Board regarding internal controls is provided for the Board’s consideration
Management staff recommends that the FY 2016-2017 District Audit be accepted by the Board of Directors.
13. Employee Growth Recognition and Retention
Management staff recommends that the Board of Directors approves:
a. the FY 2017-2018 addition of the Communications Specialist position; and
b. the adoption of the FY 2017-2018 published salary band for the list above.
14. Selection of Sacramento Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCo) Special District
Commissioner and Selection of Alternate Special District Commissioner
Management staff recommends that the Board of Directors votes on the LAFCo Special District Commissioner and
Alternate Ballot.
15. Nominations for Sacramento Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCo) Membership on the
Special District Advisory Committee (SDAC)
Management staff recommends that the Board of Directors nominates a Director to serve on the SDAC.
16. General Session Membership Meeting at ACWA 2017 Fall Conference
Management staff recommends that the Board of Directors selects a Director to serve as Carmichael Water
District’s voting delegate.
STAFF REPORTS/INFORMATION:
17. Director’s Expense Reimbursement Summary for September
GENERAL CORRESPONDENCE/INFORMATION:
18. News Articles
19. Director’s Written and/or Oral Reports
CALENDARS AND COMMITTEES:
20. Meetings Calendars:
a. 2017 Board Meeting Calendar
b. Meeting/Conference Calendar – November
c. Meeting/Conference Calendar – December
21. Board Representatives Committees Assignments
CLOSED SESSION:
A. Public Employee performance evaluation involving the General Manager under Government Code
section 54954.4(e) and 54957.
B. Conference with Labor Negotiators Director Emmerson and Director Selsky with direction concerning
changes to General Manager’s compensation and benefits under Government Code section
54954.5(f) and 54957.6.
Report out of Closed Session.
The next meeting of the Board of Directors will be a Regular Board Meeting held on:
Monday, November 13, 2017 at 7:00 p.m.
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General Manager’s Report
by Steve Nugent
September/October 2017
Administration:
Public Outreach: Updates to the website continue to take place to keep the public informed of the
District’s activities to include: Water Conservation and Pipeline Projects.
Aerojet Activity: GET LA and GET LB are operating as designed and are meeting water quality
requirements. The GET LA plant at Ancil Hoffman park is currently offline until the well motor can be
repaired.
Ongoing and Upcoming:
1. Regional Water Reliability Plan – working
2. CWD/Sacramento County intertie – under discussion
3. FOWD agreement, intertie, and 2x2 – working
4. GSWC scope of work for additional water supply – under discussion
5. CWD Petition to the SWRCB on Lead Testing – waiting for response from SWRCB
6. CWD hydraulic model update – nearing completion
7. Sacramento Metro Fire District is selling Dewey Drive Property
8. Aerojet Extraction Well project, Met with EPA
The first CWD FOWD 2x2 committee meeting was held September 6th at 3:30 p.m. at the District
office. Topics for discussion were the Mutual Aid Agreements; investigation of expanding interties for
more flexibility; joint water transfer opportunities; value of historic SJWD pre-1914 place of use in
CWD; and RWA regional reliability activities. The next meeting is scheduled for October 30, 2017
where the focus will be on water transfers.
CWD has received another verbal response from the SWRCB on the Petition for Reconsideration
Regarding Lead Testing. I have asked legal counsel to comment on how the passing of AB 746 would
affect CWD’s petition, below is counsel’s response:
“I do not know whether the new law will motivate the State Water Board to respond to
the petition because the new law does not help or hurt their case. In other words, the
new law does not provide legal support for the permit amendment and the new law does
not compel them to modify or revoke their permit amendment.
AB746 will be codified at Health and Safety Code section 116277, which is in Chapter 4,
Part 12. The citation provision for violations of Chapter 4 is contained in Health and
safety code section 11650, which allows the State Water Board, upon a determination
that a public water system is in violation of Chapter 4, to assess a penalty in an amount
not to exceed $1,000 per day for each day that a violation occurs, and for each day that
a violation continues to occur. The State Water Board could apply this citation provision
in the context of the new law by assessing $1,000 per/day per school that a failure to
test occurs after July 1, 2019. The State Water Board may issue more severe penalties
for violations of orders issued pursuant to Chapter 4.
So, under the new law, The State Water Board could, pursuant to Health and Safety
Code section 116655, issue an order to comply with the testing requirement. Failure to
comply with the order could subject the District to a $5,000 penalty for each day that the
violation continues. (Health and Safety. Code, 1116725(c)). If the violation could
subject the District to a fine of not more than $25,000 for each day of violation,
imprisonment in a county jail not to exceed one year, or both the fine and imprisonment
(Health and safety Code, 116730(a)(5)).”

Sacramento Metro Fire District: On August 23, 2017, I sent a letter to Sacramento Metro Fire
Department stating that CWD was interested in purchasing the land where the Dewey tank is located.
On September 5, 2017, I spoke with Jeff Frye from Sacramento Metropolitan Fire District about the
Dewey Drive Property and he asked that the District submit an offer. Per Board approval on
September 18, 2017, I submitted an offer on the property. On October 11, 2017 Jeff Frye informed me
that the Chief was taking CWD’s offer to the Board for approval at their next meeting.
Aerojet Extraction Well project: District staff met with the new USEPA manager and their consultant to
review ongoing remediation. The District inquired about the timeline for the new extraction well. The
USEPA consultant didn’t think that it would begin in 2018. We expressed our concerns about that
schedule and they said they would get back us shortly with an update. If I don’t hear from them by the
end of the month I will send them a letter.
Associations:
ACWA: No Report
RWA: No report.
SGA: No Report.
Water Caucus: I attended the October 11, 2017 Water Caucus meeting: The Water Forums will be
providing testimony on part 2 comments which are due in early November. Water Forums main
comments are regarding damage to the Lower American River from the project and the solution to
adopt the Modified Flow Management Standard.
BDWCP DWR continues to believe in the unimpaired flow criteria methodology of somewhere
between 35%-75%.
The Babbitt settlement is ongoing. This region is still pushing Modified Flow Management Standard. I
find this process extremely frustrating since those involved can only release so much information. We
did hear that the timeline for a deal needs to be reached by early 2018.
SGMA: The 127 GSA’s of the basin cover 99% of the land effected so there will be no state
intervention on this round. Next date is January 2022 for the Groundwater Sustainability Plan (GSP).
The North American Basin has 5 GSA’s and we seem to be moving in the right direction. The scope
of work to complete the GSP is estimated at $1.8 million and SGA is going after $900,000 in grant
funding for the project.
Water Reliability Plan: Global vulnerabilities have been completed. The next step is to identify the
regional conjunctive use yield during wet and dry years between surface and groundwater.
Meetings (# meetings) with:
 Tully & Young (2)
 RWA Lobbyist (1)
 West Yost – water model, and USEPA (3)
 FOWD 2x2 Committee (1)
 USEPA – Aerojet remediation (1)
 Brentwood HOA Directors – internal complex metered billing options (1)
 General Manager, San Juan Water District (1)
 Carmichael Creek Neighborhood Association Representative – awards, future presentation (1)
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District Activity Report
September 2017
District Overview:
In-house staff training: Training is continuing on an ongoing basis by the department managers and through
online training. Departmental meetings are held on an ongoing schedule for training, compliance, safety,
customer service and District updates. Individual manager and exempt employee meetings are continuing on
a one-on-one basis to discuss and review budget, operations and activities.
Meetings attended (28):
 Audit Work – Full Week (5)
 Project Workgroups (2)
 Consultant (3)
 Modeling (1)
 Supervisors/HR/IT (6)
 Staff (9)
 HR Legal (1)
 HOA (1)
Information Technology:
Infrastructure and Planning: gather and inspect all equipment and documentation necessary for network
server disaster recovery; installed a dedicated billing workstation allowing billing to run uninterrupted
Reporting: engaged several network cleanup activities, diagnostics, and compliance issues in preparation for
new backup system appliance; identify devices not returning proper identification on scan reports
Routine: Troubleshoot issues; normal IT duties as scheduled or as needed
Human Resources:
Benefits/Payroll: assisted employees with benefits related issues; CalPERS Open Enrollment
Compliance: completed required reporting and postings; researched legal updates/new laws; Audit
Personnel: researched and handled personnel issues, questions; create/update documentation; one new
employee orientation
Security/Building Maintenance: coordinate District needs
Training: Health Benefits

Public Information Activity
Public Outreach:
Upcoming Events:
 2018 Water Efficiency Calendar Contest – Preparations are currently under way for the 2018 Water
Efficiency Calendar Contest.
Past Events:
 Carmichael Founder’s Day – September 30, 2017, District staff presented information regarding water
efficiency and recent projects.
 Nature Fest – October 8, 2017, District staff focused on youth education of water resources which
included a hands on water cycle activity.
Website Updates:
Employment, Board Activities, Announcements/RFP’s, Outreach, Founder’s Day
Mandatory Water Conservation Regulation: On April 7 Governor Brown issued Executive Order B-40-17
directing the State Water Resources Control Board (SWRCB) to rescind the water supply stress test for urban
water suppliers as well remaining mandatory conservation standards. It also directs the SWRCB to maintain
urban water use reporting requirements, and prohibitions on wasteful practices such as watering during or
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after rainfall and hosing off sidewalks. Although the District is no longer subject to mandatory reductions,
reporting and prohibition requirements will remain in effect until they expire in October 2017.
Reporting: Utilizing the SWRCB guidelines, staff reported the following data for June 2015 to September
2017:
R-GPCD
253

Monthly Reduction
7%

Cumulative Reduction
28%

Regional Water Reductions: The total water use reduction for Sacramento area water agencies for August
2017 was 12%.
Senate Bill (SB) 555 Water Loss Management: SB-555 requires urban water suppliers to annually submit a
completed and validated water loss audit to the California Department of Water Resources with the first report
due on October 1, 2017. The American Water Works Association’s California-Nevada Section established a
Water Loss Technical Assistance (TAP) Program. This free program has assisted urban water suppliers in
reporting and validating the required water loss audits. District staff has been participating in the program
since July of 2016.
In September of 2017, District staff competed the final phase of this program through meetings with the TAP
representatives who reviewed District specific water loss data and validated the final report. District
Accountant Andrew Black and Production Superintendent Mark McClintock assisted in providing financial and
production data for the report.
The final report shows that for calendar year 2016, the District’s non-revenue water was 11.3% and the
validity score for supplied data and operations was 71 out of 100. The TAP report noted that the District’s
validity score falls above the average scores reported by other agencies. Two opportunities to improve the
validity score were identified:
 Improved supply meter testing and calibration frequency
 Improved customer meter testing program
Both of the identified opportunities have been addressed and implemented.

Water Efficiency Activities
Public Outreach Events
Water Waste
Water Waste Fines
Customer Assistance
Water Efficiency Surveys

Month
2
12
0
13
8

FYTD
2
52
0
27
16

Water Treatment and Production Activity
Water Treatment Plant (WTP) Maintenance: Production Staff performed a series Chemical Clean-in-Place
(CIP’s) on the primary and tertiary membrane units in September.
Compliance: The annual update and submission of the Sacramento County Hazardous Material Plans
(HMP’s) were continuing in September for all operational well sites and the WTP. These are comprehensive
plans required for all sites that store hazardous chemicals and are required to be updated and resubmitted
annually.
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Production Charts and Graphs:

CWD Monthly Water Production, Million Gallons (MG) 2011-2017
Jul

Aug

Sep

Oct

Nov

Dec

Jan

Feb

Mar

Apr

May

Jun

2017-18

399.61

383.76

323.74

2016-17

357.82

353.35

299.41

193.38

123.16

115.61

113.74

95.81

116.84

123.76

268.14

332.52

2015-16

287.66

2493.99

283.68

259.99

213.09

128.89

107.92

100.49

97.72

107.12

148.87

219.44

308.84

2263.71

2014-15
2013-14

373.21

338.74

294.65

240.50

153.63

116.73

120.74

110.98

168.88

175.83

214.05

255.44

2563.38

470.97

434.57

349.04

306.94

212.49

160.96

158.30

109.17

132.71

164.82

283.33

358.07

3141.37

2012-13

474.75

465.78

391.92

287.92

150.24

123.99

123.20

128.54

186.95

233.28

370.15

411.86

3348.58

2011-12

448.20

454.95

402.18

237.81

162.12

158.97

158.05

136.99

140.45

153.99

321.46

418.58

3193.75

Avg.

401.75

387.83

331.56

246.61

155.09

130.70

129.09

113.28

142.16

166.76

279.43

347.55

2834.13

Daily

12.96

12.51

11.05

7.96

5.17

4.22

4.16

4.05

4.59

5.56

9.01

11.59

Totals
1107.11

Sep-17

Aug-17

Jul-17

Jun-17

May-17

Apr-17

Mar-17

Feb-17

Jan-17

Dec-16

Nov-16

Oct-16

Sep-16

Aug-16

Jul-16

Jun-16

May-16

Apr-16

Mar-16

Jan-16

Dec-15

Nov-15

Oct-15

Sep-15

Aug-15

Feb-16

PERIOD 7/1/2014- 9/30/2017

700
600
500
400
300
200
100
0
Jul-15

X ONE THOUSAND

FY

PRODUTION - 100 CUBIC FEET UNITS

Production
Production from same month last year
System Monthly Production Average
Peak Day – September 2nd

Up/ Down
Up

Month
8%
10.8 MGD
13.0 MGD

6 Year Running
Average
2%

Up/ Down
Down

Surface Water

Sep-17

Aug-17

Jul-17

Jun-17

May-17

Apr-17

Mar-17

Feb-17

Jan-17

Dec-16

Nov-16

Oct-16

Sep-16

Aug-16

Jul-16

Jun-16

May-16

Apr-16

Mar-16

Feb-16

Jan-16

Dec-15

Nov-15

Oct-15

Sep-15

Aug-15

500
400
300
200
100
0
Jul-15

X one million

CWD Combined Surface & Ground Water Usage

Ground Water
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CWD Total Production Allocation
Surface Water
Groundwater

62%
38%

C.W.D. Combined Surface & Groundwater Monthly Water Totals for FY 2017/2018
(Information is in million gallons)
Location

Active Wells

Jul-17

Aug-17

Sep-17

0.000

0.000

0.000

0.00

55.415

50.598

43.257

149.27

0.000

0.000

0.000

0.00

Garfield

54.151

54.264

51.566

159.98

La Vista

35.761

31.252

29.130

96.14

Ground Water

145.33

136.11

123.95

405.39

Surface Water *

393.83

387.07

335.74

1116.64

GSWC Delivery

139.55

139.42

135.95

414.92

CWD Surface

254.28

247.65

199.79

701.72

CWD Monthly Total

399.61

383.76

323.74

1107.11

Barrett School
Willow Park
Winding Way

Oct-17

Nov-17

Dec-17

Jan-18

Feb-18

Mar-18

Apr-18

May-18

Jun-18

Totals

*Total production water from the Bajamont Water Treatment Plant (BWTP)

Well Sites, Reservoirs & Distribution System: The WTP provided 62% of the water supply for CWD in
September. La Vista Well was operating as needed for additional supply. In addition, Garfield Well and
Willow Park Well are continuing seasonal operation.
GSWC Delivery: CWD delivered 139.95 MG to GSWC in September. There were no interruptions in water
deliveries to GSWC in September.

Month
October
November
December
January
February
March
April
May
June
July
August
September

CWD Remediated Groundwater Usage in Acre/Feet (AF)
Beginning
GET LA & LB
CWD Usage
Total Available
Allocation
Discharge
Plus 15% Loss

Remaining
Allocation

5,000.00
4,474.53
4,195.95
3,944.56

147.80
173.71
173.12
194.68

5,147.80
4,648.24
4,369.07
4,139.24

673.27
452.29
424.51
396.35

4,474.53
4,195.95
3,944.56
3,742.89

3,742.89
3,557.11
3,348.81
3,098.07
2,582.69
1,999.06
1,225.79
474.92

107.93
183.11
161.72
140.66
137.85
144.79
143.25
144.30

3,850.82
3,740.22
3,510.53
3,238.73
2,720.54
2,143.85
1,369.04
619.22

293.71
391.41
412.46
656.04
721.48
918.06
894.12
721.32

3,557.11
3,348.81
3,098.07
2,582.69
1,999.06
1,225.79
474.92
(102.10)
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Water Quality Activity
Backflow Assemblies Tested
Failed Tests
Water Quality
Taste and Odor
Color
Turbidity/Air
High Pressure
Low Pressure

Month
60
0

FYTD
167
6

0
2
1
0
0

3
3
2
0
1

There were three (3) isolated water quality complaints in the month of September: two for color and one for
turbidity. The areas where the complaints occurred were investigated and thoroughly flushed.
Billing and Collections Activity
Billing:
Billing
Month

Billing
Period

Previous FY
Aug-2017
Sep-2017

June-July
July-Aug

$
$

33,581
15,919

$
$

480,643
506,053

$
$

567,379
623,582

Aug-Sept
Sept-Oct
Oct-Nov
Nov-Dec
Dec-Jan
Jan-Feb
Feb-Mar
Mar-Apr
Apr-May
May-June

$

37,901

$

479,885

$

624,096

$

87,401

$ 1,466,581

Oct-2017
Nov-2017
Dec-2017
Jan-2018
Feb-2018
Mar-2018
Apr-2018
May-2018
Jun-2018
Jul-2018
Totals

Service
Charge

Flat Rate

Total Usage

$ 1,815,057

FY 16-17
Totals
$ 9,331,558
$
531,935

$ 9,863,493

FY 17-18
Totals
$ 549,667
$ 1,145,555
$ 1,141,882
$ 2,837,104

Note: Billing chart represents cycle billings only and does not include collection or adjustment activities. Regular billings for July
and August are split between two fiscal years reporting water sales for the period of June and July.

Consumption (* 1 Unit = 100 CCF (Centum Cubic Feet) = 748 Gallons)
Billing
Month

Usage
Period

Usage By

June-July

Unit *
426,600

Sep-2017

July-Aug

468,859

Oct-2017

Aug-Sept

469,245

Aug-2017

Nov-2017

Sept-Oct

Dec-2017

Oct-Nov

Jan-2018

Nov-Dec

Feb-2018

Dec-Jan

Mar-2018

Jan-Feb

Apr-2018

Feb-Mar

May-2018

Mar-Apr

Jun-2018

Apr-May

Jul-2018

May-June

Totals

1,364,704
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Collections Processed & Outstanding Activity
Past Due 48 Hours
Notices
Notices
Shut Offs
A/R $
Date
Jul-2017
1041
96
26
$ 216,374
Aug-2017
1505
148
7
$ 129,568
Sep-2017
915
148
26
$ 159,094
Oct-2017
Nov-2017
Dec-2017
Jan-2018
Feb-2018
Mar-2018
Apr-2018
May-2018
Jun-2018

Liens $
$ 6,294
$ 5,410
$ 5,111

Liens #
13
11
10

Note: Verification of properties off to date has been updated to reflect only properties that have been shut off or liened. Vacant lots
have been moved into a separate category for tracking purposes.

Distribution Department Activities
Gary, Susan, McClaren, Arden Way Mainline Project: Staff and West Yost are in the preliminary engineering
stage of this project.
Sacramento County Projects: Sacramento County improvements require any permitted public utility to
relocate its encroachment at the utility’s expense within the time specified per Section 1463 of the Streets and
Highways Code.
Sacramento County now completes the entire design process of all projects and places them in a que with
planning stages: A - preliminary; B – 60% design; and C – ready for construction. When funding comes
available, the County projects are ready to go out to bid with little or no notice to the community or utilities.
The Fair Oaks Blvd Widening Project Phase 3 is a good example of this process that moved the project start
date ahead of its original scheduled time.
After speaking with one of Sacramento County’s head engineers, the County may receive accelerated federal
grant funding money that may move certain projects ahead of their projected and/or scheduled start dates.
Next fiscal year and moving forward, the District will need to establish an annual budget for District required
work for “Sacramento County Projects” in its Distribution PSM budget and consider a reserve fund for County
accelerated District requirements.
The following are scheduled Sacramento County projects.
 Garfield Ave Bike Lane, Sidewalk, Street Light and Storm Drain Project: I have received the “C” plans
for this project. By working directly with the County’s engineer I was able to lessen the overall impact
to the District by meeting the County’s engineer on site and providing water main depths at three
storm drain crossings. The County has revised the storm drain drop inlet elevations to cross over the
existing water mains. Construction has been deferred until spring of 2018. The required “Letter of
Liability” has been submitted to the County. **April 2018 Start Time**
 Engle Rd. and Walnut Ave Sidewalk and Signal Light Project: “C” plans for this project have been
received. After working with the County’s engineer and further review of the plans the impacts to the
District will be minimal. There is always a possibility that the District will need to raise/lower two water
valve boxes and a couple of water service connections within the limits of construction due to sidewalk
improvements and driveway reconstruction. The required “Letter of Liability” to the County has been
submitted. This project is scheduled to be awarded in January 2017 with construction to begin April
17, 2017. District work is anticipated to be minimal and will be completed by CWD staff under existing
budget. A pre-construction meeting is scheduled on May 3, 2017 for this project.
**This project is underway and at this point the District’s waterlines are beyond the limits of
construction**.
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Vernon and Kenneth Ave Storm Drain Improvement Project: The District has received the “C” plans
for this project which is scheduled to start June 26, 2017.
**Under Construction, Nearing Completion**
Landis Ave Storm Drain Improvement Project: This project is in the “A” planning stage and facility
relocations are unknown at this time. **On Hold**
Palm Dr. Drainage Improvement Project: This project is in the “B” planning stage and could move to
construction at any time. **On Hold**
Fair Oaks Blvd. Beautification and Widening Project: Marconi Ave to North Ave. “B” plans for this
project have been received and are under review at this time. This project is scheduled to start in April
2018. **Pending**

Training and Personnel: Two employees took their D-1 exam in September. Employees are receiving ongoing training as part of the distribution department training program.
Vehicle and Equipment Maintenance: All department vehicles and equipment are being serviced and
maintained to prolong their useful life.

PSM and O&M Activity
Capital Replacements (PSM)
Meter Change Outs
Meter Cut Ins
Meter Drop Ins
Service Lines
Main Line Valves
Fire Hydrants
Repairs/Maintenance (O&M)
R900i Meter Register Change Outs
Service Lines
Main Lines
Fire Hydrant
Box and Lid Replace/Repair
Customer Assist
Assist w/Private Repairs
Water Waste
Misc. Repairs

Month

YTD

146
0
0
4
2
0

420
0
1
8
2
0

81
7
6
0
3
52
15
3
10

301
22
10
2
15
196
56
15
55
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AGENDA ITEM 4

Regular Board Meeting – September 18, 2017, 7:00 p.m.
Carmichael Water District Board Room
7837 Fair Oaks Boulevard
Carmichael, CA 95608
MINUTES
The Board of Directors of the Carmichael Water District met in Regular Session this 18th day of September at
7:00 p.m. at the District Office located at 7837 Fair Oaks Boulevard, Carmichael.
ATTENDANCE:
Directors: Mark Emmerson, Ron Greenwood, Roy Leidy, Paul Selsky, John Wallace
Staff:

Steve Nugent, Lynette Moreno, Chris Nelson, Lori Kalisiak, Shelby Kalisiak

Guest:

Zero (0) guests

Public:

Three (3) members of the public

CALL TO ORDER: President Emmerson called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m.
President Emmerson moved Closed Session to after Agenda Item 19.
DISTRICT REPORTS:
1.

2.

General Manager’s Written Report
Discussed with Board
Ethan Ruzic commented
District Activity Written Report Presented by the Assistant General Manager
Discussed with Board
David Hanscom commented

PUBLIC COMMENT:
3.

Public Comment
Peggy Berry commented on Carmichael Water District winning a prestigious national award and inquired about
the project elements.

CONSENT CALENDAR:
4.
5.
6.
7.

Minutes for the Regular Board Meeting – August 21, 2017
Paid Expenditures Report – August 2017
Investment Transaction Report – August 2017
FY 2017-2018 Reserve Requirements – August 2017
M/S Wallace / Greenwood to approve the Consent Calendar Items 4-7.
Discussed with Board
Roy Leidy
Ron Greenwood
Mark Emmerson
John Wallace
Paul Selsky
Board Totals:
Passed Unanimously:

Aye
Aye
Aye
Aye
Aye







Nay
Nay
Nay
Nay
Nay

Ayes:
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Nays:

Yes



Absent
Absent
Absent
Absent
Absent
0

Absent:

Abstain
Abstain
Abstain
Abstain
Abstain
0

Abstain:

0

REGULAR BOARD MEETING MINUTES FOR SEPTEMBER 18, 2017
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ACTION CALENDAR:
8.

Mutual Aid Agreement
Management staff recommends that the Board of Directors approve the Mutual Aid Agreement.
M/S Wallace / Greenwood to approve as recommended.
Discussed with Board
Roy Leidy
Ron Greenwood
Mark Emmerson
John Wallace
Paul Selsky
Board Totals:
Passed Unanimously:

9.

Aye
Aye
Aye
Aye
Aye







Nay
Nay
Nay
Nay
Nay

Ayes:

5

Nays:

Yes



Absent
Absent
Absent
Absent
Absent
0

Absent:

Abstain
Abstain
Abstain
Abstain
Abstain
0

Abstain:

Cal Water Fix Part 2
Management staff recommends that the Board of Directors:
1. Authorize the General Manager to join the Joint Defense Agreement for the American River Parties; and
2. Authorize the General Manager to pay the buy-in cost of $25,000.
Presented by the General Manager and discussed with Board
Agenda Item 9 – Tabled

STAFF REPORTS/INFORMATION:
10.

Director’s Expense Reimbursement Summary for August

11.

Carmichael Water District Opposition Letter – Assembly Bill 1668 (Freidman)
Discussed with Board

12.

Carmichael Water District Opposition Letter – Senate Bill 606 (Skinner/Hertzberg)
Discussed with Board

GENERAL CORRESPONDENCE/INFORMATION:
13.

Coalition Opposition Letter – Assembly Bill 1668 (Freidman)
Discussed with Board

14.

Carmichael Water District Opposition Letter – Senate Bill 606 (Skinner/Hertzberg)
Discussed with Board

15.

Water Forum 2017 Annual Runoff and Allocation Report
Discussed with Board

16.

News Articles

17.

Director’s Written and/or Oral Reports
Director Leidy: No Report
Director Greenwood:
a. Regional Water Authority
Director Wallace: No Report
Director Selsky:
a. Association of California Water Agencies Region 3 & 4 Event
Director Emmerson:
a. Senate Bill 623

CALENDARS AND COMMITTEES:
Meetings Calendars:
a. 2017 Board Meeting Calendar
b. Meeting/Conference Calendar – October
c. Meeting/Conference Calendar – November
19. Board Representatives Committees Assignments
18.

0
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ADJOURNED OPEN SESSION TO CLOSED SESSION AT 8:39 P.M.
OPENED CLOSED SESSION AT 8:41 P.M.
CLOSED SESSION:
A. Public Employee performance evaluation involving the General Manager under Government Code section
54954.4(e) and 54957.
B. Conference with Labor Negotiators Director Emmerson and Director Selsky with direction concerning
changes to General Manager’s compensation and benefits under Government Code section 54954.5(f) and
54957.6.
C. Conference with Real Property Negotiations regarding Parcel Number 239-0300-051-0000 with agency
negotiator General Manager Steve Nugent involving negotiation parties Carmichael Water District and
Sacramento Metropolitan Fire District (SMFD) with direction to negotiate price and terms of payment
under Government Code section 54954.5(b) and 54957.
ADJOURNED CLOSED SESSION TO OPEN SESSION AT 9:31 P.M.
RESUMED OPEN SESSION AT 9:32 P.M.
REPORT OUT OF CLOSED SESSION:
C. Authorize General Manager to make an offer to SMFD to purchase the Dewey Drive property (Parcel
Number 239-0300-051-0000) for $2,500 plus closing and recording costs.
A. No Action.
B. Committee will negotiate with the General Manager.
ADJOURNMENT: The regular meeting was adjourned at: 9:33 p.m.
The next meeting of the Board of Directors will be a Regular Board Meeting held on:
Monday, October 16, 2017 at 7:00 p.m.

Mark Emmerson, President

Steve Nugent, Secretary

AGENDA ITEM 5

CARMICHAEL WATER DISTRICT
PAID EXPENDITURES REPORT
SEPTEMBER 2017
Payee
ACWA
ACWA/JPIA
American Water Resources Association
APS Environmental, Inc.
Arrow Construction
Avalon Custodial Care
B.Z. Service Station Maintenance
Backflow Distributors, Inc.
Brian Benton
BSK Associates
Bulbman
California Surveying and Draft
CalPERS
CalPERS
CalPERS
CalPERS
Carmichael Times Newspaper
Carquest Auto Parts
Clark Pest Control
Comcast
Corix Water Products, Inc.
County of Sacramento
DataProse LLC
Ditch Witch Equipment Co., Inc.
DSL Creative
Emedco, Inc.
Employee Relations, Inc.
Evoqua Water Technologies, LLC
Ewing Irrigation Products, Inc.
FedEx
Grainger
Groundwater Resources Association
Group One Consulting, Inc.
Haase Landscapes, Inc.
Harris Industrial Gases
Home Depot Credit Services
Hue & Cry Security Systems, Inc.
Hunt & Sons, Inc.
Joe Bryant
Kiwanis Club of Carmichael
Lodi Truck and Equipment
Marc Mathews
Micro Motion, Inc.
Mountain Counties Water Resources
Olin Corp - Chlor Alkali
One Print Source & Graphics
Patron Trucking, Inc.
Paymentus Group
PG&E
PG&E Non-Energy Collection Unit
PowerPlan

Description
Director's Travel & Meetings
Dental, Vision, Life, and Worker's Compensation
Director's Travel & Meetings
Maintenance- Wash Rack
Concrete
Janitorial
Annual Fuel Tank Inspection
Backflow Supplies
Customer Refund
Water Quality Testing
Maintenance- General Building
GIS: Software Licensing and Maintenance
Audit and Accounting Fees
Employer Pension Contribution (Three pay periods)
Deferred Compensation Expense
Medical Benefits (One pay period)
Books and Subscriptions
Repairs and Maintenance- Vehicles
Pest Control
Telecommunications
Materials Inventory
Encroachment Inspections
Billing Services and Postage
Repairs and Maintenance- Equipment
Web Maintenance
Maintenance- General Building
Exams and Screenings
Membranes, CMF Filtrate Tubing
Public Relations- Supply
Postage and Delivery Services
Tools and Safety Equipment
Dues and Memberships
Computer Monitoring and Risk Assessment Services
Landscaping
Equipment Rental
Supplies, Repairs and Maintenance- Equipment
Security
Fuel & Fuel Tank Maintenance
Training and Certification
Dues and Memberships
Repairs and Maintenance- Vehicles
Training and Certification
Treated Water- Controls
Director's Travel & Meetings
Chemicals- Sodium Hypochlorite
Public Relations- Supply
Road Materials
Bank Charges: AR Payment Processing Fees
Utilities
COTP Service Costs
Repairs and Maintenance- Vehicles
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Payments
270.00
4,671.11
845.00
725.00
9,455.00
750.00
510.00
98.85
1,030.00
1,100.00
141.32
300.00
700.00
36,976.31
7,259.40
62,477.64
42.00
13.17
238.00
897.72
705.77
262.00
3,767.73
864.38
108.00
65.32
167.60
162,490.99
676.71
94.64
95.72
795.00
2,673.00
1,259.00
24.71
457.39
292.50
1,415.83
42.00
308.00
117.84
129.50
1,141.82
45.00
2,635.82
467.14
635.52
4,496.50
20.90
10.00
778.47

CARMICHAEL WATER DISTRICT
PAID EXPENDITURES REPORT
SEPTEMBER 2017
Payee
Rawles Engineering, Inc.
Rexel, Inc.
Ron Yasny
Sacramento County Recorder
Sacramento County Utilities
Shelby Kalisiak
Sierra Chemical Company
Sierra Office Supplies
SMUD
Sophos Solutions, LLC
Specialty Answering Service
Sprint
Sutter Medical Foundation
Telstar Instruments, Inc.
The Guardian Life Insurance Company
The Sacramento Bee
Tully & Young, Inc.
USA BlueBook
Verizon Wireless
Waste Management of Sacramento
West America Bank
West Yost Associates
WorkSmart Automation Inc.

Description

Check Register Total
Payroll

Payments

Service Line Replacement
Repairs and Maintenance- SCADA
Customer Refund
Lien Redemption Fees
Utilities
Training and Certification
Chemicals- Muriatic Acid
Office Supplies
Power
Contract Services - Software
Telecommunications
Telecommunications
Exams and Screenings
PSM- Caustic Tank Replacement, Dewey Well Controls
Employee Benefits - LTD
Advertising- Employment Ads, Legal and Bid Notices
Legal Services- Board
PSM- Caustic Tank Replacement, Lab Supplies
Telecommunications
Utilities
Bank Charges
PSM- Hydraulic Model Update, On-Call Engineering Services
Contract Services - SCADA
$

Employee Wages, Director Pay, Payroll Taxes

Total Paid Expenditures

10,645.54
1,903.94
1,211.00
38.00
116.00
1,832.00
654.16
383.06
132,232.97
2,080.00
230.27
14.99
426.00
1,742.00
508.09
1,011.40
1,075.00
8,800.76
662.72
356.49
189.54
19,377.36
652.50
501,689.11
159,312.34

$ 661,001.45
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CARMICHAEL WATER DISTRICT
Investment Transaction Report
For the period September 1 to September 30, 2017

Investment Description

DESIGNATED FUNDS
Membrane Replacement Fund

Income/
Beginning Balance FV Adjustment
9/1/2017

Deposits/
Transfers in

Withdrawals/
Transfers out

Fair value (FV)/
Ending Balance
9/30/2017

Investment Type

Issuer

Maturity
Dates

Interest
Rate/Yield

Cash

West America Bank

N/A

0.35%

Investment Pool

LAIF

N/A

0.68%

739,012.96

-

-

-

739,012.96

Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF)

1,824,352.15

-

-

-

1,824,352.15

RESTRICTED FUNDS
2010 COP Installment payment fund

32.49

-

-

-

32.49

Money Market

Union Bank

N/A

0.10%

17,588.24

-

945.04

-

18,533.28

Money Market

Union Bank

N/A

0.10%

2,205,156.80

9.14

-

(945.04)

Certificates of Deposit

Various

1-4 yrs

0.85-2.0%

189,987.54

10.71

-

-

189,998.25

Cash

West America Bank

N/A

0.07%

-

919,053.95

Investment Pool

CalPERS

Various

Various

2010 COP Reserve Fund - cash
2010 COP Reserve Fund - investments
Facility Fees

CERBT: OPEB trust fund*
919,053.95
*Quarterly valuation (July-September) is not yet available. Account value subject to change.
TOTAL
5,895,184.13
19.85
945.04

(945.04)

2,204,220.90

5,895,203.98

AGENDA ITEM 6

AGENDA ITEM 7
Carmichael Water District
FY 2017-2018 Budget Summary
September 30, 2017
September
Actual

YTD
Actual

Fiscal Yr
Budget

$
Difference

%
Budget

Water Sales
Water sales
Water service fees

Total Water Sales

$1,138,174
8,291

$1,693,398
21,667

$10,634,700
15,500

($8,941,302)
6,167

15.92%
139.79%

1,146,465

1,715,065

10,650,200

(8,935,135)

16.10%

1,547
0
53
7,500
0
0
3,600

4,371
0
472
7,500
0
0
9,840

5,200
2,500
6,700
0
20,000
14,000
32,160

(829)
(2,500)
(6,228)
7,500
(20,000)
(14,000)
(22,320)

84.06%
0.00%
7.04%
100.00%
0.00%
0.00%
30.60%

12,700

22,183

80,560

(58,377)

27.54%

70,865
0

212,596
0

838,837
1,400,000

(626,241)
(1,400,000)

25.34%
0.00%

70,865

212,596

2,238,837

(2,026,241)

9.50%

1,230,031

1,949,844

12,969,597

(11,019,753)

15.03%

72,854
5,890
46,477
2,294
4,056
700
10,947
10,572
6,467
308
3,126
3,753
1,252
1,777

218,571
17,835
191,249
11,497
11,163
700
33,004
20,498
22,722
59,036
9,702
9,213
21,655
4,225

1,048,300
86,277
665,397
210,000
60,151
34,500
200,837
127,900
147,239
88,162
154,720
173,278
80,850
71,890

(829,729)
(68,442)
(474,148)
(198,503)
(48,988)
(33,800)
(167,833)
(107,402)
(124,517)
(29,126)
(145,018)
(164,065)
(59,195)
(67,665)

20.85%
20.67%
28.74%
5.47%
18.56%
2.03%
16.43%
16.03%
15.43%
66.96%
6.27%
5.32%
26.78%
5.88%

170,473

631,070

3,149,501

(2,518,431)

20.04%

44,895
3,428
22,795
1,887
772
2,325
10,091
66,175

133,717
10,411
102,517
10,376
4,986
5,717
11,323
255,625

466,655
36,904
252,443
88,000
21,050
99,500
300,000
469,000

(332,938)
(26,493)
(149,926)
(77,624)
(16,064)
(93,783)
(288,677)
(213,375)

28.65%
28.21%
40.61%
11.79%
23.69%
5.75%
3.77%
54.50%

152,368

534,672

1,733,552

(1,198,880)

30.84%

40,331
3,102
17,644
130,680
1,100
1,611
6,996
617
4,238
751

120,975
9,604
70,429
237,458
2,485
4,071
39,125
1,216
19,313
5,961

555,780
45,122
232,299
1,416,550
27,200
24,400
53,900
20,200
148,200
85,200

(434,805)
(35,518)
(161,870)
(1,179,092)
(24,715)
(20,329)
(14,775)
(18,984)
(128,887)
(79,239)

21.77%
21.28%
30.32%
16.76%
9.14%
16.68%
72.59%
6.02%
13.03%
7.00%

207,070

510,637

2,608,851

(2,098,214)

19.57%

529,911

1,676,379

7,491,904

(5,815,525)

22.38%

Miscellaneous Revenue
Miscellaneous revenue
Aerojet testing reimbursement
Interest income
Grant revenue
COTP revenue
Facility fees
Backflow testing program fees

Total Miscellaneous Revenue
Aerojet/GSWC Revenue
Water treatment and delivery charges
Firm capacity right installment income

Total Aerojet/GSWC Revenue
TOTAL REVENUE
Administrative Services Expenses
Personnel
Payroll taxes
Benefits
Board
General
Accounting
Insurance
Billing
Information technology
Dues and memberships
Facility maintenance
Fee/Permits/Services
Outreach
Human resources

Total Administrative Services Expenses
Distribution Expenses
Personnel
Payroll taxes
Benefits
General
Fees/Permits/Services
Vehicle maintenance
Road restoration
Infrastructure repairs

Total Distribution Expenses
Production Expenses
Personnel
Payroll taxes
Benefits
Power
Water quality
Facilities maintenance
WTP maintenance
Well site/res maintenance
General
Fees/Permits/Services

Total Production Expenses
TOTAL DISTRICT O&M EXPENSES
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Carmichael Water District
FY 2017-2018 Budget Summary
September 30, 2017
September
Actual

YTD
Actual

Fiscal Yr
Budget

$
Difference

%
Budget

Capital Assets
Pumping plant
Information technology
Transportation/mobile equipment
Meters
Mainlines
Mainline valves
Service lines
Fire hydrants
Field Equipment
Wells/reservoirs

0
0
0
0
0
6,897
15,605
0
0
0

0
1,430
0
589
169,544
76,545
103,934
14,053
0
0

50,000
30,100
25,000
115,834
0
54,653
292,800
68,328
60,000
20,000

(50,000)
(28,670)
(25,000)
(115,245)
169,544
21,892
(188,866)
(54,275)
(60,000)
(20,000)

0.00%
4.75%
0.00%
0.51%
100.00%
140.06%
35.50%
20.57%
0.00%
0.00%

22,502

366,095

716,715

(350,620)

51.08%

0
9,806
0

0
15,267
0

1,529,845
200,000
100,000

(1,529,845)
(184,733)
(100,000)

0.00%
7.63%
0.00%

9,806

15,267

1,829,845

(1,814,578)

0.83%

0

0

2,184,325

(2,184,325)

0.00%

0

0

2,184,325

(2,184,325)

0.00%

32,308

381,362

4,730,885

(4,349,523)

8.06%

1,230,031

1,949,844

12,969,597

Total District expenses, funding

562,219

2,057,741

12,222,789

Net Operating Gain (Loss)

667,812

(107,897)

746,808

Total Capital Assets
Capital Improvement Projects (CIP)
Mainline replacements
WTP Caustic Tank Replacement
County Impact Projects

Total Capital Improvement Projects
Debt Service
COP

Total Debt Service
TOTAL ASSETS, CIP, DEBT SERVICE
Budget Summary
Total District revenue

Interfund Transfers
Membrane replacement
OPEB funding

0
0

200,000
440,000

200,000
440,000

0
0

100.00%
100.00%

Total Interfund Transfers

0

640,000

640,000

0

100.00%

September
Actual

YTD
Actual

Membrane Replacement Funding
Membrane expenses
Membrane inventory to be expensed
Total Membrane Purchases

156,637
0
156,637

159,303
0
159,303

Membrane funding, beginning balance
Transfers to General Fund for membrane purchases
Budgetary transfer from General fund

739,013
0
0

541,679
(2,666)
200,000

MEMBRANE REPLACEMENT BALANCE

$

739,013

$

739,013

This is a Budget Summary document only. This document does not incorporate all activities of the Financial Statements.
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CARMICHAEL WATER DISTRICT
FY 2016-2017 CASH FLOW PROJECTION
SEPTEMBER 2017
REVENUE PROJECTIONS

July 1, 2017

July

Aug

Sept

957,123
8,005
69,903
1,035,031

1,063,470
8,005
69,903
1,141,378

1,063,470
8,005
69,903
1,141,378

July

Aug

Sept

809,770
1,549
37,719
849,038

1,178,942
4,748
70,865
1,254,556

1,050,540
13,188
70,865
1,134,593

219,548
6,294
98,340
324,182

1,276,854
5,410
305,936
1,588,199

(777,991)
(37,547)
(191,073)
(1,006,611)

Debt Service Payments:
2010 COPs
Total Debt Service Payments (Cash)
GF Transfers
To LAIF (Reserve funding)
(To)/From Facilities Fees
(To) Membrane replacement reserves
From Membrane replacement reserves
(To)/From OPEB Trust
Total Transfers

Water Sales Receipts
Miscellaneous and Other Revenue
GSWC Capacity Right/Treat and Delivery
Total Projected Revenue

Oct

Nov

Dec

957,123
8,005
69,903
1,035,031

957,123
8,005
69,903
1,035,031

General Fund Cash Balance

Nov

Dec

1,063,470
8,508
73,265
1,145,244

957,123
8,508
73,265
1,038,897

245,259
5,111
235,400
485,770

245,259
5,111
235,400
485,770

(434,939)
(34,865)
(232,978)
(702,781)

(474,105)
(27,584)
(159,312)
(661,001)

0
0

0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
(200,000)
2,666
(440,000)
(637,334)

614,092
6,327
100,120
720,539

Expenditures:
Disbursements, net of reimbursements
PSM and Mainline Projects
Payroll
Total Expenditures (Cash)

GF Balance (Reconciled)

Budget
10,634,700
96,060
2,238,837
12,969,597

Mar

Apr

May

744,429
8,005
69,903
822,337

744,429
8,005
69,903
822,337

744,429
8,005
69,903
822,337

744,429
8,005
69,903
822,337

Jan

Feb

957,123
8,508
73,265
1,038,897

744,429
8,508
73,265
826,203

744,429
8,508
73,265
826,203

744,429
8,508
73,265
826,203

744,429
8,508
73,265
826,203

744,429
8,508
73,265
826,203

850,776
8,508
1,473,265
2,332,549

10,589,889
96,060
2,238,837
12,924,786

10,634,700
96,060
2,238,837
12,969,597

245,259
5,111
54,025
304,395

245,259
5,111
54,025
304,395

245,259
5,111
54,025
304,395

245,259
5,111
54,025
304,395

245,259
5,111
54,025
304,395

245,259
5,111
54,025
304,395

245,259
5,111
54,025
304,395

245,259
5,111
54,025
304,395

245,259
5,111
54,025
304,395

245,259
5,111
54,025
304,395

(396,203)
(39,000)
(183,964)
(619,167)

(396,203)
(39,000)
(183,964)
(619,167)

(396,203)
(39,000)
(183,964)
(619,167)

(396,203)
(39,000)
(183,964)
(619,167)

(396,203)
(458,113)
(183,964)
(1,038,280)

(396,203)
(458,113)
(183,964)
(1,038,280)

(396,203)
(458,113)
(183,964)
(1,038,280)

(396,203)
(458,113)
(183,964)
(1,038,280)

(396,203)
(458,113)
(183,964)
(1,038,280)

0
0

(1,721,714)
(1,721,714)

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

(453,725)
(453,725)

0
0

0
0

(2,175,439)
(2,175,439)

(2,184,325)
(2,184,325)

0
0
0
0
0
0

0
2,800
0
156,637
0
159,437

0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0

(1,400,000)
0
0
0
0
(1,400,000)

(1,400,000)
2,800
(200,000)
159,303
(440,000)
(1,877,897)

0
0
(200,000)
0
(440,000)
(640,000)

3,988,117 4,407,846 4,827,576

5,034,611

4,822,533

4,610,455

3,944,652

3,732,575

3,626,844

3,626,844

Projection
October

March

April

May

850,776
8,005
1,469,903
2,328,684

June

Total

4,793,857

Actual Revenue:
Water Sales Receipts, retail
Miscellaneous and Other Revenue
GSWC Capacity Right/Treat and Delivery
Total Revenue (Cash)
Outstanding Receivables:
EOM Outstanding A/R, net
EOM Outstanding Liens
Other Receivables
Total Outstanding Receivables

Total

Feb

ACTUAL REVENUE AND EXPENSES (CASH)

June

10,634,700
96,060
2,238,837
12,969,597

Jan
744,429
8,005
69,903
822,337

1,063,470
8,005
69,903
1,141,378

4,793,857

4,636,285 4,550,726 5,024,318

(5,252,866) (5,252,866)
(2,546,560) (2,546,560)
(2,239,038) (2,239,038)
(10,038,464) (10,038,464)

3,626,844
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AGENDA ITEM 9

CARMICHAEL WATER DISTRICT
FY 2017-2018 RESERVE REQUIREMENTS
SEPTEMBER 2017
*Per District Policy #7170 (Reserve Policy) adopted May 16, 2016, a portion of the District's cash should
be held in reserve for specified purposes. The below analysis of the District's cash balances helps
determine compliance with the policy and can be utilized as a factor in determining the long-term
financial stability of the District:

CASH RESERVE REQUIREMENTS
Target Amount
as of 9-30-17

Unrestricted Reserves:
Operating Reserve (33% of Budgeted O&M Costs Including Debt Service)

$

3,193,156

Board Designated Reserves:
Membrane Replacement Reserve (Membrane Bank Account Balance)
Capital Replacement Reserve (Facilities Fees Bank Account Balance)

739,013
189,998

Legally Restricted Reserves:
Rate Stabilization Reserve Fund (Calculated Portion of LAIF)
Debt Service Reserve Fund (COP Reserve and Installment Payment Accounts)
OPEB Reserve Trust Account (Bank Account Balance)

TOTAL TARGETED CASH RESERVE REQUIREMENTS (9-30-17)

509,512
2,222,787
919,054 (A)

$ 7,773,520

CASH BALANCE
Amount
as of 9-30-17
General Fund (Unrestricted)
LAIF (Unrestricted)
LAIF Rate Stabilization (Board Designated)
Membrane Replacement (Board Designated)
Facilities Fees (Board Designated)
Debt Service (Legally Restricted)
OPEB Trust (Legally Restricted)

$

5,024,318
1,314,840
509,512
739,013
189,998
2,222,787
919,054 (A)

TOTAL CASH BALANCE (9-30-17)

$ 10,919,522

CASH SURPLUS (SHORTFALL)

$ 3,146,002 (B)

(A) Quarterly valuation (July-September) is not yet available. Account value subject to change.
(B) A debt service payment of $1,729,850 (principal & interest) will occur during the month of October
and this activity will be reflected on next month's document.
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Carmichael Water District
Statement of net position
September 30, 2017

9-30-17

% TOTAL

ASSETS
Cash and short term investments
General fund
Cash on hand
Membrane replacement fund
Operating and rate stabilization reserve funds

Total cash and short term investments

$5,024,318
2,000
739,013
1,824,352

6.60%
0.00%
0.97%
2.40%

7,589,683

9.97%

2,222,787
189,998

2.92%
0.25%

2,412,785
10,002,468

3.17%
13.14%

245,259
5,111
181,375
2,212
51,813
51,451
724,823

0.32%
0.01%
0.24%
0.00%
0.07%
0.07%
0.95%

1,262,044

1.66%

Long-term investments (restricted)
2010 COP - Installment payment and reserve funds
Facility fees

Total long-term investments (restricted)
Total cash and investments
Current assets
Accounts receivable, net of unearned revenue
Liens receivable
GSWC water treatment receivable
Other receivables
Grant receivable
Prepaid expenses
Inventory

Total current assets
Noncurrent assets
Installment receivable

Total noncurrent assets

7,000,000

9.19%

7,000,000

9.19%

154,427
708,455
993,943

0.20%
0.93%
1.31%

1,856,825

2.44%

114,682,609
(58,741,028)
79,449

150.62%
-77.15%
0.10%

56,021,030

73.57%

76,142,367

100.00%

Other assets
Investment - COTP
Deferred amount on refunding, net of amortization
Deferred outflow of resources for pension obligation (GASB 68)

Total other assets
Capital assets
Property plant and equipment
Accumulated depreciation
Construction in progress

Total capital assets
TOTAL ASSETS

Carmichael Water District
Statement of net position
September 30, 2017

9-30-17

% TOTAL

LIABILITIES AND RETAINED EARNINGS
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Benefits payable
Interest payable
Current portion of long term liabilities
Other current liabilities
Current portion of deferred lease revenue

Total current liabilities

27,487
8,371
242,425
1,245,000
3,500
1,414

0.04%
0.01%
0.32%
1.64%
0.00%
0.00%

1,528,197

2.01%

19,925,000
1,105,863
124,562
137,459
835,030
2,034,074

26.17%
1.45%
0.16%
0.18%
1.10%
2.67%

24,161,988

31.73%

Non-current liabilities
2010 Certificates of participation (COP), net of current portion
2010 COP Bond premium, net of amortization
Unearned lease revenue
Compensated absences liability
Other postemployment benefits (OPEB) obligation
Pension obligation (GASB 68)

Total non-current liabilities
Other liabilities
Deferred inflows of resources for pension obligation(GASB 68)

Total other liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES

188,672

0.25%

188,672

0.25%

25,878,857

33.99%

35,011,212
189,998
8,397,832
2,222,787
739,013
3,193,156
509,512

45.98%
0.25%
11.03%
2.92%
0.97%
4.19%
0.67%

50,263,510

66.01%

76,142,367

100.00%

Net position
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted facility fees
Unrestricted
Restricted for debt service
Designated for membrane replacement
Designated for operating reserves
Designated for rate stabilization reserves

Total net position
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION
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Carmichael Water District
Statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net position
For the quarter ended September 30, 2017

September
Actual

YTD
Actual

Operating revenues
1,146,465
3,600
70,865

1,715,065
9,840
212,596

1,220,930

1,937,501

170,473
152,368
207,070
156,637
(3,620)
196,108

631,070
534,672
510,637
159,303
11,358
588,342

Total operating expenses

879,036

2,435,382

Net income from operations

341,894

(497,881)

53
622
7,500
925
9,100

472
622
7,500
3,749
12,343

Water sales
Miscellaneous revenue
Aerojet/GSWC Revenue

Total operating revenues
Operating expenses:
Administration
Transmission and distribution
Pumping and treatment
Membrane expense
Compensated absences expense
Depreciation

Non-operating (expenses) revenues:
Investment income earned
Reimbursements
Grant revenue
Other revenue
Total non operating revenue
Loss on disposal of assets
Total non operating expenses

Total non-operating (expenses) revenues

(93)
(93)

(31,278) *
(31,278)

9,007

(18,935)

Change in net position

350,901

(516,816)

Note:
Total operating revenue
Total non operating revenue
Total revenue

1,220,930
9,100
1,230,030

1,937,501
12,343
1,949,844

*Loss on disposal of assets relates to abandoned infrastructure on the Boyer Dr. Main Line Replacement Project.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Board of Directors
Carmichael Water District
Carmichael, California
Report on Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Carmichael Water District, which comprise
the statements of net position as of June 30, 2017 and 2016, and the related statements of revenues,
expenses, and changes in net position and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the
financial statements.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We
conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the State Controller’s Minimum Audit Requirements for California Special Districts. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinions.
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To the Board of Directors
Carmichael Water District

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Carmichael Water District, as of June 30, 2017 and 2016, and the changes in
financial position and cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.
Required Supplementary Information
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s
discussion and analysis on pages 3 to 15 and other required supplementary information on pages 45 and
46 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the
basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers
it to be an essential part of the financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an
appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to
the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America, which consisted on inquiries of management about the methods of preparing
the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our
inquiries, the financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the financial
statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited
procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

October 11, 2017
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the District’s basic financial
statements, which are comprised of the financial statements and notes to the financial statements.
The District’s Basic Financial Statements are designed to provide readers with a broad overview of
the finances of the Carmichael Water District fiscal year (FY) ending June 30, 2017.
Financial Statements
This discussion and analysis provides an introduction and a brief description of the District’s
financial statements, including the relationship of the statements to each other and the significant
differences in the information they provide. This District’s financial statements include five
components:






Statement of Net Position
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
Statement of Cash Flows
Notes to the Financial Statements
Other Information

The statement of net position includes all of the District’s assets, deferred outflows of resources,
liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources with the net difference reported as net position. Net
position may be displayed in three categories:




Net Investment in Capital Assets
Restricted
Unrestricted

The statement of net position provides the basis of computing rate of return, evaluating the capital
structure of the District, and assessing its liquidity and financial flexibility.
The statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net position presents information which
shows how the District’s net position changed during the year. The financial statements, except
for the cash flow statement, are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting, which means that
revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when incurred regardless of the
timing of cash receipts or payments. The statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net
position measures the success of the District’s operations over the past year and determines
whether the District has recovered its costs through user fees and other charges.
The statement of cash flows provides information regarding the District’s cash receipts and cash
disbursements during the year. This statement reports cash activity in four categories:





Operating
Noncapital financing
Capital and related financing
Investing
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OVERVIEW OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Carmichael Water District operates as a public utility and maintains its accounting records in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles for proprietary funds as prescribed by the
Government Accounting Standards Board (GASB). The required financial statements include the
Statement of Net Position, Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position, and
Statement of Cash Flows.
Required Financial Statements
The Financial Statements of the District report information about the District using accounting
methods similar to those used by companies in the private sector. These statements offer short
and long‐term financial information about its activities.
The Statement of Net Position includes all of the District’s assets, deferred outflows, liabilities, and
deferred inflows, which provide information about the nature and amounts of investments in assets
and obligations to District creditors. They also provide the basis for computing rates of return,
evaluating the capital structure of the District, and assessing the liquidity and financial flexibility of
the District.
All of the current year’s revenues and expenses are accounted for in the Statement of Revenues,
Expenses and Changes in Net Position. This statement measures the District’s operations over the
past year and can be used to determine the extent to which the District has successfully recovered
its costs through its rates, fees, facility capacity charges, and other charges. The District’s credit
worthiness can also be determined from these statements.
The final required financial statement is the Statement of Cash Flows. The primary purpose of this
statement is to provide information about the District’s cash receipts and payments during the
reporting period, as well as net changes in cash resulting from operations, non‐capital, capital and
related financing, and investing activities, while excluding such non‐cash accounting measures as
depreciation or amortization of assets. This statement explains where cash came from, where cash
was used, and the change in the cash balance during the reporting period.
Notes to Financial Statements
The Notes to the Basic Financial Statements provide additional information that is essential to a full
understanding of the data provided in the basic financial statements. The Notes to the Basic
Financial Statements are an integral part of, and can be found immediately following, the financial
statements.
Other Information
In addition to the financial statements and accompanying notes, the Basic Financial Statements also
present certain required supplementary information, which follows the notes to the financial
statements. This other information includes a retirement and OPEB funding schedule.
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DISTRICT UPDATES

Outside Boundary Sales
Carmichael Water District (CWD) worked with Golden State Water Company (GSWC) and Aerojet
Rocketdyne (AR) on a cooperative pipeline project ‐ American River Pipeline Project (Project) that
was completed in the current year. The goal of the project was to deliver up to 5,000 Acre‐feet per
year (AFY) of treated water from the District’s Bajamont Water Treatment Plant (BWTP) to GSWC
for use as a replacement water supply. The District could also use the pipeline in the case of a
severe emergency and deliver water from GSWC to CWD. The pipeline went into service on
September 20, 2016 and the District began to deliver treated water at full capacity to GSWC on
January 1, 2017. The project was funded by AR in addition to a portion of the funding secured by a
grant through the Regional Water Authority.
Two agreements were signed on August 15, 2016. In the agreement with AR, CWD sold,
transferred, and conveyed to GSWC the firm capacity right in the BWTP to divert, treat, and deliver
up to 5,000 AFY of treated water to GSWC as a replacement water supply. Additionally, the District
secured approximately 2,000 AFY of remediated groundwater supply from AR’s groundwater
extraction and treatment (GET) facilities GET LA and GET LB, which will assist with drought proofing
the District during future surface water supply curtailments. The sale of capacity resulted in the
District recognizing $9,400,000 in operating revenue. The payment dates for the capacity sale are
detailed in the agreements with the final payment to be received by the District on July 1, 2022.
However, there is no penalty for early pay‐off by AR. As of June 30, 2017, the District has a capacity
sale receivable of $7,000,000.
In addition to the sale of capacity, CWD also recognized revenue from the treatment and delivery of
water to GSWC. The agreement with GSWC outlined an allocated portion of the District’s fixed and
variable costs relating to the production of treated water, capital costs associated with the BWTP
and intake structures, and membrane replacement costs charged to GSWC during the year. While
the agreement calls for treatment and delivery of up to 5,000 AFY of treated water, the District
provided six months of delivery (January 1, 2017 to June 30, 2017) totaling 2,463 AF. As of June 30,
2017, CWD recognized operating revenue of $413,720 for the treatment and delivery of water to
GSWC.
Rate Increase
The rate structure for the District is detailed in the ‘2015 Master Plan, Business Plan and Water
Rate Study’. In April 2016, The Reed Group updated the ‘Business Plan and Water Rate Study’
portion, which served as the basis for the District implementing a 5% rate increase beginning
January 1, 2017 and also eliminating the use of a tiered rate structure. Although water
consumption increased in 2017 compared to 2016, the District’s customers are still using much less
water than they did prior to the drought. The increase in rates is a necessary measure to combat
the continued overall decline in water consumption and helps ensure the long‐term financial
success of the District.
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Financial Analysis of the District


The District’s net position increased $9,513,699, or 22.95%, to end at $50,975,219 at June 30,
2017. New outside boundary sales, the rate increase, staff’s cost control, and strategic planning
efforts served to put the District’s financial health in a stable, strong position.



Total revenue for the District increased $10,184,749, or 97.56%. An operating revenue increase
in the amount of $10,238,700, or 107.85%, offset with a nonoperating revenue decrease of
$53,951, or 5.70%, resulted in the change in total revenue. The operating revenue increase can
be attributed to outside boundary sales and an increase in retail water sales. The decrease in
nonoperating revenue is due to lower miscellaneous revenue such as recycling, investment in
electrical power, investment income earned, gain on disposal of assets, and expense
reimbursements.



Total expenses increased $1,853,224, or 20.02%. Operating expenses, not including
depreciation, increased $1,296,873, or 22.56%. The majority of the increase in operating
expenses can be attributed to environmental restoration costs for the clean‐up and disposal of the
abandoned pipeline and other old water assets along the American River. Non‐operating expenses
increased $672,831, or 66.10%, due in majority to a pass‐through grant payment made to AR.



Total cash and investments increased by $1,700,107, or 21.63%. Operating cash posted the
largest gain with an increase of $1,460,692, which can be attributed to the cash collections of
the capacity sale receivable. Restricted facility fees cash also had a substantial increase due to
an increased number of construction projects requiring connections to the District’s distribution
infrastructure.



The District’s plan for reinvestment in infrastructure and replacement of aging assets continued
with overall investment in Capital Assets of $1,311,990.



Long‐term debt, including current portion, decreased by $1,273,175, or 5.40%, due to the
annual principal payment this year of $1,185,000 on the 2010 Certificates of Participation and
bond premium amortization of $88,175.

Net Position
A summary of the District's Net Position as of June 30, 2017 is presented in Table A‐1, reflecting
the underlying assets and liabilities impacting this year’s increase in net position. The financial
condition of the District improved significantly over last year with an increase of $9,513,699, from
$41,461,520 in 2016 to $50,975,219 in 2017. Current and other assets varied greatly over last year
as the construction for the American River Pipeline Project was completed and the resulting
agreements between GSWC and AR took effect. In particular, the noncurrent capacity sale
receivable of $7,000,000 contributed to the overall increase of current and other assets of
$6,555,888, or 50.80%. This increase was offset by decreases in grants receivable, as well as
decreases in expense reimbursement receivables relating to the completed pipeline project. As a
result of GASB Pronouncement 68 that was first implemented in FY 2015, deferred outflows and
inflows of resources relating to pensions must be reported every year. Due to the current year
pension calculation, deferred outflows increased $654,864 which also helped to increase total net
position.
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While this activity in total assets and deferred outflows caused net position to increase, total
liabilities also decreased by $2,734,405, or 9.31%, which had an impact on the total increase in net
position. More than half of this decrease, or $1,938,963, occurred in current liabilities as a result of
lower construction liabilities relating to the completed American River Pipeline Project. The
decrease in total liabilities can be further attributed to a decrease in long‐term debt, excluding
current portion, of $1,333,175 due to the payment of principal and amortization of the bond
premium. As a result of GASB 68, pension deferred inflows increased $42,539 which lowered total
net position.
TABLE A‐1
Net Position
2017
Assets:
Current and other assets
Capital assets, net of depreciation
Total Assets

$

Deferred Outflows of Resources:
Deferred amount on refunding
Pensions
Total Deferred outflows
Liabilities:
Current liabilities
Non current liabilities
Long‐term debt
Total Liabilities
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Pensions
Total Deferred Inflow
Net Position:
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted
Unrestricted
Total Net Position

$

Dollar
Change

2016

19,460,823
56,556,434
76,017,257

$

12,904,935
56,879,706
69,784,641

$

Percentage
Change

6,555,888
(323,272)
6,232,616

50.80%
(0.57)
8.93

774,073
993,943
1,768,016

839,720
339,079
1,178,799

(65,647)
654,864
589,217

(7.82)
193.13
49.98

2,008,354
3,560,121
21,052,907
26,621,382

3,947,317
3,022,388
22,386,082
29,355,787

(1,938,963)
537,733
(1,333,175)
(2,734,405)

(49.12)
17.79
(5.96)
(9.31)

188,672
188,672

146,133
146,133

42,539
42,539

35,032,600
2,402,358
13,540,261
50,975,219

34,148,344
2,360,084
4,953,092
41,461,520

884,256
42,274
8,587,169
9,513,699

$

$

29.11
29.11
2.59
1.79
173.37
22.95%

Changes in Net Position
Table A‐2 below reflects the underlying revenue and expense sources of the increase in net
position, notably, a large revenue increase. Part of the improvement in revenue is due to the rate
increase that became effective January 1, 2017. Rebounding water consumption by the District’s
customers coupled with the 5% increase in rates served to provide an increase in water sales. The
remaining revenue increase can be attributed to the recording of $9,400,000 in capacity sale
revenue and $413,720 in GSWC water treatment and delivery revenue. A slight increase in
connection and other fees of $54,928 helped offset the total decrease of nonoperating revenues of
$53,951. The decrease in nonoperating revenue is due to lower miscellaneous revenue such as
recycling, investment in electrical power, investment income earned, gain on disposal of assets, and
expense reimbursements.
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Total expenses reflects an increase over last year with a large increase in both operating and
nonoperating expenses. While operating departmental expenses increased over last year, all
departments stayed under the Board adopted budget for the current year (See Table A‐4).
Operating expenses further increased due to the demolition and environmental restoration of the
old abandoned American River Pipeline and an increase in other costs such as compensated
absences expense and pension expense adjustment. These increases in operating expenses were
slightly offset by a reduced depreciation expense of $116,480 for aging capital assets. The majority
of the increase in nonoperating expenses is due to a pass‐through grant payment to AR of
$723,188. The decline in interest expense of $51,000 from the payments of the 2010 COP bonds
helped to decrease total nonoperating expenses.

TABLE A‐2
Condensed Statements of
Revenues, Expenses and
Changes in Net Position

Dollar
Change
10,238,700
(53,951)
10,184,749

Percentage
Change
107.85%
(5.70)
97.56

Operating revenues
Nonoperating revenues
Total Revenues

2017
$ 19,732,042
892,407
20,624,449

2016
$ 9,493,342
946,358
10,439,700

Depreciation
Operating expenses
Nonoperating expenses
Total Expenses

2,375,778
7,044,220
1,690,752
11,110,750

2,492,258
5,747,347
1,017,921
9,257,526

(116,480)
1,296,873
672,831
1,853,224

(4.67)
22.56
66.10
20.02

9,513,699
41,461,520
$ 50,975,219

1,182,174
40,279,346
$ 41,461,520

8,331,525
1,182,174
9,513,699

704.76
2.93
22.95%

Change in Net Position
Net Position at Beginning of
Net Position at End of Year

$

$

Operating revenues includes wholesale water sales, net of wholesale water purchases

Revenues
Table A‐3 breaks down the operating revenues of the District. The District’s operating revenue
increased 107.85% overall, by $10,238,700, for a total of $19,732,042 as compared to 2016
operating revenue of $9,493,342. Rebounding water consumption and the 5% rate increase
implemented January 1, 2017 attributed to an increase in water sales of 5.84%, or $543,851. The
charts below reflect the dramatic effects of the drought on consumption starting in 2015, and they
show the necessity of the continued scheduled rate increases to shore up the District’s finances.
While increases in retail water sales helped increase operating revenue for the year, the new
capacity sale and water treatment and delivery agreements led to the majority of the increase in
operating revenue.
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TABLE A‐3
Operating revenues

Water sales
Connections and other fees
Capacity sales
Water treatment & delivery
Subtotal
Wholesale water sales, net
Total operating revenue

3,200,000

Dollar
Percentage
Change
Change
$ 543,851
5.84%
3,754
7.34
9,400,000
100
413,720
100

2017
$ 9,863,394
54,928
9,400,000
413,720

2016
$9,319,543
51,174
‐
‐

19,732,042

9,370,717

10,361,325

110.57

‐
$ 19,732,042

122,625
$9,493,342

(122,625)
$10,238,700

(100)
107.85%

3 Year Consumption Analysis (CCF)

3,100,000
3,000,000
2,900,000
2,800,000
2,700,000
2,600,000
2,500,000
2,400,000
2,300,000
FY 2014‐2015

FY 2015‐2016

FY 2016‐2017

3 Year Billing Comparison
$10,000,000
$9,800,000
$9,600,000
$9,400,000
$9,200,000
$9,000,000
$8,800,000
$8,600,000
$8,400,000
$8,200,000
FY 2014‐2015

FY 2015‐2016
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FY 2016‐2017

Expenses
Total operating expenses for the year are shown below in Table A‐4. Although departmental
expenses increased, all departments were able to stay under budget by the continuing efforts of
staff to control and monitor costs while still providing valuable services to customers. In the current
year, the District incurred $626,475 as a result of pipeline demolition and environmental
restoration. This cost will not reoccur in future years as the project is complete. Total other costs
and expenses consisting of compensated absences expense, pension expense adjustment, other
post‐employment benefits, and membrane expense increased $275,652. These other costs, with
the exception of membrane expense, are not budgeted and are the result of required accrual
adjustments.
TABLE A‐4
Operating expenses

General and administrative
Financial services
Transmission and distribution
Pumping and treatment
Pipeline demo and environmental restoration
Other costs and expenses
Total operating expenses*

$

$

Dollar
Change

2017

2016

2,047,067 $
577,342
1,388,069
2,024,279
626,475
380,988
7,044,220 $

1,832,275 $ 214,792
(101,259)
678,601
208,795
1,179,274
72,418
1,951,861
626,475
‐
275,652
105,336
5,747,347 $ 1,296,873

Percentage
Change
11.72%
(14.92)
17.71
3.71
100.00
261.69
22.56%

*Excludes depreciation expense

Long – Term Debt
Table A‐5 provides the details of the District’s long‐term debt and related unamortized premium.
Total long‐term debt decreased this year by $1,273,175. The decrease of $1,185,000 was the
annual principal installment payment on the 2010 Certificates of Participation (COP). The
remainder of the decrease of $88,175 is the amortization of the Premium received on the sale of
the 2010 COP’s. The District did not enter into any new long‐term debt this year.
TABLE A‐5
Long ‐ Term Debt
2017

2016

Dollar
Change

2010 Certificates of Participation*
Total

$ 21,170,000
21,170,000

$ 22,355,000
22,355,000

$ (1,185,000)
(1,185,000)

‐5.30%
(5.30)

Unamortized Premium
Total Long‐Term Debt*

1,127,907
$ 22,297,907

1,216,082
$ 23,571,082

(88,175)
$ (1,273,175)

(7.25)
‐5.40%

*Includes current portion
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Percentage
Change

Debt service coverage ratio
The debt service coverage ratio is a measurement required by the 2010 COP bond indenture
covenants. The ratio demonstrates the District’s ability to meet its debt obligations. Table A‐6
provides the year to year comparison of the debt service coverage ratio. The 2010 COP bond
covenants require a minimum 1.20 coverage ratio. This fiscal year, the District again complied with
the covenants arriving at a comfortable 6.22 ratio.
TABLE A‐6
Debt service coverage ratio

2017
REVENUES
Water sales
Other revenue

2016

$ 9,863,394 $ 9,319,543
10,761,055
222,532

Wholesale water sales
Total revenues

‐
20,624,449

122,625
9,664,700

2,047,067
1,388,069
2,024,279
577,342

1,832,275
1,179,274
1,951,861
678,601

Pipeline demo and environmental restoration

626,475

‐

Other costs and expenses

380,988

105,336

7,044,220

5,747,347

NET REVENUES

$ 13,580,229

$3,917,353

DEBT SERVICE
Certificates of Participation
Debt service coverage ratio

$ 2,184,325 $2,196,200
6.22x
1.78x

O&M EXPENSES
General and administrative services
Transmission and distribution
Pumping and treatment
Financial services

Total operating expenses*

*Excludes depreciation expense

Capital Assets
The District continued its strategic plan to allocate resources to replace aging assets and invest in
infrastructure. Table A‐7, on the next page, is a listing of the District’s capital assets. This year, the
District invested $1,311,990 in capital assets. $209,623 was invested in distribution infrastructure
and meters, $14,517 was for the replacement of aging assets in other divisions, and $1,087,850 was
invested in construction in progress. As of the end of the year, construction in progress consisted of
a mainline replacement project and costs incurred to update the District’s current hydraulic model.
Due to the completion of the American River Pipeline Project, contributions from developers were
large this year with $761,138 in contributed distribution infrastructure assets, bringing current year
capital asset additions to $2,073,128. See Note C for a summary of the Capital Asset activity.
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TABLE A‐7
Capital Assets
2017
Capital Assets not being depreciated:
Land, franchises and water rights
Construction‐in‐progress
Total capital assets not being
depreciated

$

$

906,007

Capital Assets being depreciated:
Pumping and treatment
Distribution infrastructure
Transportation/licensed mobile equipment
Building and improvements
Machinery and equipment
Information technology
Furniture and fixtures
Total capital assets being depreciated
Less: accumulated depreciation
Net capital assets being depreciated
Net Capital Assets

546,488
359,519

56,556,434

546,488
222,818

$

769,306

36,051,773
64,542,110
1,126,536
10,026,892
213,793
1,784,493
102,620
113,848,217
(58,197,790)
55,650,427
$

Dollar
Change

2016

35,760,322
63,690,344
1,111,629
9,562,356
125,072
1,762,648
102,620
112,114,991
(56,004,591)
56,110,400
$

56,879,706

Percentage
Change

136,701

0.00%
61.35

136,701

17.77

291,451
851,766
14,907
464,536
88,721
21,845
1,733,226
(2,193,199)
(459,973)

0.82
1.34
1.34
4.86
70.94
1.24
0.00
1.55
3.92
(0.82)

(323,272)

‐0.57%

‐

‐

$

Cash and Cash Equivalents
The District’s cash position at June 30, 2017 is $9,560,629, representing all cash held by the District
and/or by trustee to serve the financial needs of the District. Table A‐8 is a detailed listing of the
components of the cash position. See Note B for additional information.
Cash
Operating cash is the working capital used by the District to conduct its day‐to‐day operations.
Expenditures flowing from this account are Board approved through the annual budget process. All
revenue sources, except for the collection of facility fees, as discussed below, are deposited to this
account. Operating cash increased this year due to the increase in revenue from collecting on the
capacity sale receivable. There were no new debt issuances this year. Cash on hand is the imprest
cash held for petty cash disbursements and the cash register change drawer.
Board – Designated cash
The key to long‐term financial stability is the ability to anticipate and prepare for significant
financial obligations. To achieve this, the District believes that a portion of its cash should be held
in reserve. Board‐designated accounts are for specific purposes and are established by the Board of
Directors per Reserve Policy. Portions of these funds have been funded during the annual budget
process. The adequacy of the target reserves and/or annual contributions will be reviewed annually
during the budgeting and rate setting process and may be revised as necessary. A portion of the
membrane fund was used to help pay for a planned systematic change out of membranes for this
fiscal year. The use of the reserves for the membrane replacement is Board authorized for such
occasions and is the reason for accumulating and designating an annual membrane funding amount
each year.
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Restricted cash
The District’s restricted cash are those accounts held by trustee and or held by the District that are
constrained through external requirements as to their usage. The debt service account is held by
the 2010 COP bond trustee and represents the debt service reserve required by debt covenants
restricting its usage to debt service payments. This year, the debt service funds have decreased due
to lower investment returns on a portion of the funds in certificates of deposits with varying
maturity dates and interest rates. The facility fees cash holds the collections of developer fees
charged by the District for connections to the District’s distribution infrastructure. These fees are
restricted to capital expenses by law.

Table A‐8
Cash and Cash Equivalents

Dollar
Change

Percentage
Change

2017

2016

$ 4,794,431
2,000
4,796,431

$ 3,333,739
2,000
3,335,739

Board ‐ designated cash
Membrane replacement fund
Operating reserve fund
Rate stabilization fund
Subtotal, Board designated cash

541,679
1,311,819
508,342
2,361,840

355,845
1,304,094
504,290
2,164,229

185,834
7,725
4,052
197,611

52.22
0.59
0.80
9.13

Total cash and cash equivalents

7,158,271

5,499,968

1,658,303

30.15

Restricted cash
Debt service funds, 2010 COP
Facility fees
Subtotal, Resticted cash

2,212,393
189,965
2,402,358

2,259,257
101,297
2,360,554

(46,864)
88,668
41,804

(2.07)
87.53
1.77

$ 9,560,629

$ 7,860,522

1,700,107

21.63%

Cash
Operating cash
Cash on hand
Subtotal, cash

Total cash and investments
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$

$

1,460,692
‐
1,460,692

43.82%
0.00
43.79

OTHER NOTES

Economic Factors
The District’s Board of Directors and management staff consider many factors when setting the
fiscal year budget. Management staff continually monitored all expenses to ensure that overall
expenses stayed within budget. Closely monitoring these expenses resulted in the total approved
O&M budget for the District coming in under budget by $529,422. Although water consumption
increased in FY 2016‐2017 compared to FY 2015‐2016, consumption is still much lower than in years
prior to the drought. As a result, the drought and conservation continued to be a major economic
factor during FY 2016‐2017.
Conservation
On May 5, 2015 the State Water Resources Control Board (SWRCB) adopted an emergency
regulation requiring an immediate 25 percent reduction in overall potable urban water use
statewide in response to statewide drought conditions. On April 7, 2017 Governor Brown lifted the
emergency regulation. The District has since been operating under normal water conservation
conditions.
Water conservation continues to be a focus of the SWRCB with recently proposed legislation
focused on long term water use reductions. The District has continued to monitor and provide
input on the proposed legislation that will have future financial impacts.
Long‐Term Infrastructure Liability and Planning
The District has been proactive in infrastructure replacement efforts by replacing aging pipelines
and failing water service lines while also completing an accelerated meter retrofit program. Recent
water use reductions are in part a benefit of metering, which has resulted in a greater awareness of
water use by District customers, effective customer response to changing water use practices, and
regional and District‐led implementation of water conservation demand management measures.
Although reduced water use is an important part of a modern and responsibly managed utility, it
also can present challenges in managing the cost of service and maintaining sufficient revenue.
The ‘2015 Master Plan, Business Plan and Water Rate Study’ provided the analysis, findings, and
recommendations for the ongoing operation and maintenance of the District and its assets. The
‘2016 Business Plan and Water Rate Study’, which was updated by The Reed Group, also
identified recommended investments and scheduled implementation for a ten year planning
window.
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The District assets and facilities range in age and condition and include buried pipelines for
transmission and distribution of treated water, above ground water supply treatment and pumping
plants, groundwater wells, buildings, and storage. Planned maintenance, rehabilitation and
replacement of these assets are essential to the long‐term sustainability of District operation and
are the largest District liability. Management staff must monitor and adjust infrastructure
replacement annually based on District needs.
Contacting the District’s Financial Management
This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, customers, investors and creditors with a
general overview of the District’s finances and to demonstrate the District’s accountability for the
financial resources it manages. If you have questions about this report or need additional financial
information, contact the District at 7837 Fair Oaks Boulevard, Carmichael, California, 95608, call
(916) 483‐2452, or visit our website at www.carmichaelwd.org.
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CARMICHAEL WATER DISTRICT
STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION
June 30, 2017 and 2016
2017

2016

ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable
Current services
Outside boundary
Grants
Other
Accrued interest receivable
Inventory
Prepaid expenses

$

7,158,271

$

5,499,968

Total Current Assets

1,666,504
219,093
51,812
2,669
14,244
637,537
153,908
9,904,038

1,631,934
775,000
2,022,635
11,715
318,826
123,424
10,383,502

Total Restricted Assets

2,402,358
2,402,358

2,360,554
2,360,554

Capital Assets:
Nondepreciable
Depreciable, net of accumulated depreciation
Total Capital Assets, Net

906,007
55,650,427
56,556,434

769,304
56,110,402
56,879,706

Total Other Assets
Total Noncurrent Assets

7,000,000
154,427
7,154,427
66,113,219

160,879
160,879
59,401,139

TOTAL ASSETS

76,017,257

69,784,641

774,073
993,943

839,720
339,079

1,768,016

1,178,799

Noncurrent Assets:
Restricted assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

Other Assets:
Noncurrent capacity sale receivable
Investment in electrical power

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred amount on refunding
Pensions
TOTAL DEFERRED OUTFLOWS

(Continued)
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CARMICHAEL WATER DISTRICT
STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION (Continued)
June 30, 2017 and 2016
2017

2016

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Unearned revenue
Accrued interest payable
Retention payable
Current portion of noncurrent liabilities

$

Total Current Liabilities

366,767
117,356
103,673
161,617
12,527
1,246,414
2,008,354

Noncurrent Liabilities:
Certificates of participation, net of current portion
Compensated absences
Unearned lease revenue
Net other postemployment benefits (OPEB) obligation
Net pension obligation
Total Noncurrent Liabilities

21,052,907
126,101
124,916
1,275,030
2,034,074
24,613,028

22,386,082
125,070
126,330
1,498,235
1,272,753
25,408,470

TOTAL LIABILITIES

26,621,382

29,355,787

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pensions

188,672

146,133

TOTAL DEFERRED INFLOWS

188,672

146,133

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted for debt service
Restricted for capital facilities
Unrestricted

35,032,600
2,212,393
189,965
13,540,261

34,148,344
2,259,257
100,827
4,953,092

TOTAL NET POSITION $

50,975,219

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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$

$

2,201,440
81,538
95,624
171,492
210,809
1,186,414
3,947,317

41,461,520

CARMICHAEL WATER DISTRICT
STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
For the Years Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016
2017
OPERATING REVENUES
Retail water sales
Connection and other fees
Total retail water sales

$

Capacity sales
Water treatment and delivery charges
Total outside boundary sales

2016

9,863,394
54,928
9,918,322

$

9,400,000
413,720
9,813,720

Wholesale water sales
Less: Wholesale water purchase
Wholesale water sales, net

9,319,543
51,174
9,370,717
-

-

367,875
(245,250)
122,625

TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES

19,732,042

9,493,342

OPERATING EXPENSES
General and administrative
Transmission and distribution
Pumping and treatment
Financial services
Depreciation and amortization
Pipeline demo and environmental restoration
Compensated absences expense
Pension expense adjustment
Other post-employment benefits (OPEB)
Membrane expense
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES

2,047,067
1,388,069
2,024,279
577,342
2,375,778
626,475
1,031
148,996
216,795
14,166
9,419,998

1,832,275
1,179,274
1,951,861
678,601
2,492,258
(11,893)
(501,289)
227,130
391,388
8,239,605

NET INCOME FROM OPERATIONS

10,312,044

1,253,737

15,284
11,116
12,047
5,379
(643)
(723,188)
(966,921)
(1,646,926)

21,271
16,221
62,172
20,772
7,174
(1,017,921)
(890,311)

NON-OPERATING (EXPENSES) REVENUES
Other revenue
Interest from investment in electrical power
Investment income earned
Reimbursements
Gain (loss) on disposal of capital assets
Pass-through grant payment
Interest expense
TOTAL NON-OPERATING (EXPENSES) REVENUES
CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS
Grant revenue
Facility fees and other capital revenues
TOTAL CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS

1,683
846,898
848,581

775,000
43,748
818,748

CHANGE IN NET POSITION

9,513,699

1,182,174

41,461,520

40,279,346

Net position, beginning of year
NET POSITION AT END OF YEAR $
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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50,975,219

$

41,461,520

CARMICHAEL WAT ER DIST RICT
ST AT EMENT S OF CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016

2017
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERAT ING ACT IVIT IES
Cash receipts from customers
$ 12,486,428
Cash payments to suppliers for goods and services
(5,473,822)
Cash payments to employees for services
(1,969,942)
NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERAT ING ACT IVIT IES
5,042,664
CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPIT AL FINANCING ACT IVIT IES
Receipts from other net nonoperating revenues
NET CASH PROVIDED BY NONCAPIT AL
FINANCING ACT IVIT IES
CASH FLOWS FROM CAPIT AL AND RELAT ED
FINANCING ACT IVIT IES
Acquisitions and construction of capital assets
Proceeds from sale of capital assets
Principal paid on long-term debt
Interest paid on long-term debt
Facility fees collected
Capital grants received
Capital grants paid
NET CASH USED BY CAPIT AL AND
RELAT ED FINANCING ACT IVIT IES

2016

$

9,193,642
(3,873,803)
(2,163,838)
3,156,001

19,249

40,629

19,249

40,629

(1,311,990)
19,979
(1,185,000)
(999,324)
85,760
724,871
(723,188)

(916,367)
13,802
(1,150,000)
(1,046,200)
25,280
10,000
-

(3,388,892)

(3,063,485)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVEST ING ACT IVIT IES
Investment income
Receipts from investment in electrical power
NET CASH PROVIDED BY INVEST ING ACT IVIT IES

9,518
17,568
27,086

51,749
18,144
69,893

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT S

1,700,107

203,038

7,860,522

7,657,484

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT S AT END OF YEAR

(Continued)
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$

9,560,629

$

7,860,522

CARMICHAEL WAT ER DIST RICT
ST AT EMENT S OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
For the Years Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016

2017
Cash and cash equivalents - financial statement classification
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents

2016

$

7,158,271
2,402,358

$

5,499,968
2,360,554

T OT AL CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT S $

9,560,629

$

7,860,522

$

1,253,737

RECONCILIAT ION OF NET INCOME FROM OPERAT IONS T O
NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERAT ING ACT IVIT IES:
Operating income
$ 10,312,044
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to
net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation
2,375,778
(Increase) Decrease in:
Accounts receivable
1,766,303
Inventory
(318,711)
Prepaid expense
(30,484)
Noncurrent capacity sale receivable
(7,000,000)
Deferred outflows
(654,864)
Increase (Decrease) in:
Accounts payable
(1,834,673)
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
35,818
Unearned revenue
8,049
Retention payable
(198,282)
Compensated absences
1,031
Net OPEB obligation
(223,205)
Net pension obligation
761,321
Deferred inflows
42,539
NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERAT ING ACT IVIT IES $

2,492,258
(2,048,844)
(73,192)
(23,020)
(65,502)
1,618,482
11,680
142
210,809
(11,893)
227,131
73,144
(508,931)

5,042,664

$

3,156,001

SUPPLEMENT AL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMAT ION
Amortization of deferred amortization on refunding
$
65,647
Receipt of contributed assets
761,138

$

65,646

T he accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CARMICHAEL WATER DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2017 and 2016
NOTE A – REPORTING ENTITY AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The basic financial statements of the Carmichael Water District (District) have been prepared in
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles as applied to government units. The
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard setting body for establishing
governmental accounting and financial reporting principles. The more significant of the District’s
accounting policies are described below.
Reporting Entity: The District was established in 1916 as an irrigation district located in the central
portion of Sacramento County northeast of the City of Sacramento and north of the lower American River.
The area served by the District encompasses approximately eight square miles and serves a population of
approximately 37,897. The District is predominately residential in character, with interspersed
commercial areas. The District is governed by a Board of Directors consisting of five directors elected by
residents of the District. The accompanying basic financial statements present the District and its
component unit. The component unit discussed below is included in the District’s reporting entity because
of the significance of its operational and financial relationship with the District.
The District has created the Carmichael Water District Financing Corporation (the Corporation) to provide
assistance to the District in the issuance of debt. Although legally separate from the District, the
Corporation is reported as if it were part of the primary government because it shares a common Board of
Directors with the District and its sole purpose is to provide financing to the District under the debt
issuance documents of the District. Debt issued by the Corporation is reflected as debt of the District in
these financial statements. The Corporation has no other transactions and does not issue separate financial
statements.
Basis of Presentation – Fund Accounting: The District’s resources are allocated to and accounted for in
these basic financial statements as an enterprise fund type of the proprietary fund group. The enterprise
fund is used to account for operations that are financed and operated in a manner similar to private
business enterprises, where the intent of the governing body is that the costs (expenses, including
depreciation) of providing goods or services to the general public on a continuing basis be financed or
recovered primarily through user charges, or where the governing body has decided that periodic
determination of revenues earned, expenses incurred, and/or net income is appropriate for capital
maintenance, public policy, management control, accountability, or other policies. Net position for the
enterprise fund represent the amount available for future operations.
Basis of Accounting: The accounting and financial reporting treatment applied to a fund is determined by
its measurement focus. The enterprise fund type is accounted for on a flow of economic resources
measurement focus. With this measurement focus, all assets and all liabilities associated with the
operation of this fund are included on the balance sheet. Net position is segregated into amounts invested
in capital assets, net of related debt, amounts restricted and amounts unrestricted. Enterprise fund type
operating statements present increases (i.e., revenues) and decreases (i.e., expenses) in net total position.
The District uses the accrual basis of accounting. Under this method, revenues are recorded when earned
and expenses are recorded at the time liabilities are incurred. Grant revenue is recognized when program
expenditures are incurred in accordance with program guidelines. When such funds are received they are
recorded as unearned revenues until earned. Earned but unbilled water services are accrued as revenue.
Water lines are constructed by private developers and then dedicated to the District, which is then
responsible for their future maintenance. These lines are recorded as capital contributions when they pass
inspection by the District and the estimated costs are capitalized as transmission and distribution.
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CARMICHAEL WATER DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
June 30, 2017 and 2016
NOTE A – REPORTING ENTITY AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Operating revenues and expenses consist of those revenues and expenses that result from the ongoing
principal operations of the District. Operating revenues consist primarily of charges for services. Nonoperating revenues and expense consist of those revenues and expenses that are related to financing and
investing types of activities and result from nonexchange transactions or ancillary activities.
When both unrestricted and restricted resources are available for use, it is the District’s policy to use
unrestricted resources first, then restricted resources as they are needed.
Pensions: For purposes of measuring the net pension liability and deferred outflows/inflows of resources
related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the Commission’s
California Public Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS) plans (Plans) and additions to/deductions
from the Plans’ fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by
CalPERS. For this purpose, benefit payments are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the
benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value.
Use of Estimates: The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Cash and Cash Equivalents: For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the District considers all highly
liquid debt instruments purchased with a maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. Cash and
cash equivalents held include bank deposits and restricted and unrestricted investments in money market
mutual funds and LAIF.
Restricted Assets: Certain proceeds of the District’s long-term debt are classified as restricted investments
on the balance sheet because their use is limited by applicable debt covenants. The “reserve” account is
used to report resources set aside to make up for potential future deficiencies in the Certificates of
Participation debt service. The District also had unspent facility fees classified as restricted cash and cash
equivalents.
Inventory: Inventory consists primarily of materials used in the construction and maintenance of the water
distribution facilities and is valued at average cost.
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CARMICHAEL WATER DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
June 30, 2017 and 2016
NOTE A – REPORTING ENTITY AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Capital Assets: Capital assets are recorded at historical cost. Donated capital assets are recorded at the
acquisition value, which is the price that would be paid to acquire an asset with equivalent service potential
in an orderly market transaction at the acquisition date. Self-constructed assets are recorded based on the
amount of direct labor and materials charged to the asset construction. Depreciation is calculated using the
straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives:

Description

Estimated Life

Pumping and treatment
Distribution infrastructure
Buildings and improvements
Construction projects
Transportation equipment
Information technology
Machinery and equipment
Furniture and fixtures

10-50 years
10-75 years
10-40 years
10-75 years
7-20 years
3-7 years
5-7 years
5-10 years

Maintenance and repairs are charged to operations when incurred. It is the District’s policy to capitalize
all capital assets with a cost of $1,500 to $10,000 or more, depending on the asset type. Costs of assets
sold or retired (and the related amounts of accumulated depreciation) are eliminated from the balance sheet
in the year of sale or retirement, and the resulting gain or loss is recognized in operations.
Depreciation expense aggregated $2,375,778 and $2,492,258 for the years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016,
respectively, and is included with depreciation and amortization expense.
Bond Premiums and Bond Issuance Costs: Bond premiums are deferred and amortized over the lives of
the bonds. Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable bond premiums. Bond issuance costs are
recognized as an expense in the period incurred.
Deferred Amount from Refunding Debt: The difference between the reacquisition price of refunded debt
and the net carrying amount of the previously outstanding debt is deferred and reported as either a deferred
outflow or deferred inflow on the balance sheet. These amounts are amortized over the shorter of the term
of the old debt or the new debt.
Compensated Absences: The District’s policy allows employees to accumulate earned but unused
vacation which will be paid to employees upon separation from the District’s service. The cost of vacation
is recognized in the period earned.
Reclassifications: Certain amounts in 2016 have been reclassified to conform to the 2017 financial
statement presentation. The reclassification had no effect on total net assets or change in net assets.
New Pronouncements: In June 2015, the GASB issued Statement No. 75, “Accounting and Financial
Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions (OPEB)”, replaces the requirements of
GASB Statement No. 45 and requires governments that are responsible only for OPEB liabilities related to
their own employees and that provide OPEB through a defined benefit OPEB plan administered through a
trust that meets specified criteria to report a net OPEB liability, which is the difference between the total
OPEB liability and assets accumulated in the trust and restricted to making benefit payments, on the face
of the financial statements. Governments that participate in a cost-sharing OPEB plan that is
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CARMICHAEL WATER DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
June 30, 2017 and 2016
NOTE A – REPORTING ENTITY AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
administered through a trust that meets the specified criteria will report a liability equal to their
proportionate share of the collective OPEB liability for all entities participating in the cost-sharing plan.
Governments that do not provide OPEB through a trust that meets specified criteria will report the total
OPEB liability related to their employees. This Statement also requires governments to present more
extensive note disclosures and required supplementary information about their OPEB liabilities. This
Statement is effective beginning the year ended June 30, 2018.
In March 2016, the GASB issued Statement No. 82, Pension Issues - an Amendment of GASB Statements
No. 67, No. 68, and No. 73. This Statement clarifies certain accounting and reporting issues related to
pension plans, including the presentation of payroll related measures in required supplementary
information, clarifies the use of the term deviation for the selection of assumptions, and clarifies the
classification of employer-paid member contributions and the period in which they should be recognized.
This Statement is effective in the first reporting period in which the measurement date of the employer’s
pension liability is on or after June 15, 2017.
In November 2016, the GASB issued Statement No. 83, Certain Asset Retirement Obligations. This
Statement addresses accounting and financial reporting for certain asset retirement obligations (ARO’s),
which is a legally enforceable liability associated with the retirement of a tangible capital asset. A
government that has legal obligations to perform future asset retirement activities related to its tangible
capital assets should recognize a liability based on the guidance in this Statement. The timing and pattern
of recognition of the liability and corresponding deferred outflow of resources recorded is defined in this
Statement. This Statement is effective for periods beginning after June 15, 2018.
In January 2017, the GASB issued Statement No. 84, Fiduciary Activities. This Statement establishes
criteria for identifying and disclosing fiduciary activities of state and local governments. The focus of the
criteria is on whether a government is controlling the assets of the fiduciary activity and the beneficiaries
with whom a fiduciary relationship exists. An activity meeting the criteria should be reported in a
fiduciary fund in the basic financial statements of the government. Four fiduciary funds should be
reported under this statement: Pension and other employee benefit trust funds, investment trust funds,
private-purpose trust funds, and custodial funds. This Statement is effective for periods beginning after
December 15, 2018.
In March 2017, the GASB issued Statement No. 85, Omnibus 2017. This Statement addresses practice
issues that have been identified during implementation and application of certain GASB statements,
including issues related to blending component units, goodwill, fair value measurements and application,
pensions and other postemployment benefits. This Statement is effective for periods beginning after June
15, 2017.
In May 2017, the GASB issued Statement No. 86, Certain Debt Extinguishment Issues. This Statement is
to improve consistency in accounting and financial reporting for in-substance defeasance of debt by
providing guidance for transactions in which cash and other monetary assets acquired with only existing
resources – resources other than proceeds of refunding debt – are placed in an irrevocable trust for the sole
purpose of extinguishing debt. This Statement also improves accounting and financial reporting for
prepaid insurance on debt that is extinguished and notes to financial statements for debt that is defeased in
substance. This Statement is effective for periods beginning after June 15, 2017.
The District is currently analyzing the impact of the required implementation of these new statements.
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Cash and cash equivalents as of June 30 are classified in the accompanying financial statements as follows:
2017

Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Total cash and investments

2016

$ 7,158,271

5,499,968

2,402,358

2,360,554

$ 9,560,629

$

7,860,522

Cash and cash equivalents as of June 30 consisted of the following:
2017

Cash on hand
Deposits with financial institutions

2016

Total cash

2,000
5,526,075
5,528,075

2,000
3,790,881
3,792,881

Certificates of deposit
Money market mutual funds
Investments in Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF)
Total investments

2,208,707
3,686
1,820,161
4,032,554

2,244,844
14,413
1,808,384
4,067,641

Total cash and investments

$ 9,560,629

$

7,860,522

The components of unrestricted cash and equivalents at June 30 are as follows:
2017

Operating cash
Designations (See Note G for designations)
Total unrestricted cash and investments

2016

$ 2,915,094
4,243,177

$

3,333,003
2,166,965

$ 7,158,271

$

5,499,968

Investment policy: California statutes authorize districts to invest idle or surplus funds in a variety of
credit instruments as provided for in the California Government Code, Section 53600, Chapter 4 Financial Affairs. The table below identifies the investment types that are authorized for the District by
the California Government Code (or the District’s investment policy, where more restrictive) that address
interest rate risk, credit risk, and concentration of credit risk. This table does not address investments of
debt proceeds held by the bond trustee that are governed by the provisions of debt agreements of the
District, rather than the general provisions of the California Government Code or the District’s investment
policy.
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During the year ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, the District’s permissible investments included the
following instruments:

Authorized
Investment Type
Local Agency Bonds
U.S. Treasury Obligations
State Obligations
California Local Agency Obligations
U.S. Agency Securities
Bankers Acceptances
Commercial Paper
Negotiable Certificates of Deposits
Repurchase Agreements
Reverse Repurchase Agreements
Medium Term Corporate Notes
Mutual Funds
Money Market Mutual Funds
LAIF
Collateralized Bank Deposits
Mortgage Pass-Through Securities
California Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF)
County Pooled Investments
Time Deposits

Maximum
Maturity

Maximum
Percentage
of Portfolio*

Maximum
Investment
in One Issuer

5 years
5 years
5 years
5 years
5 years
180 days
270 days
5 years
1 year
92 days
5 years
N/A
N/A
N/A
5 years
5 years
N/A
N/A
5 years

None
None
None
None
None
40%
25%
30%
None
20%
30%
20%
20%
$4 million
None
20%
None
None
None

None
None
None
None
None
30%
10%
None
None
None
None
None
10%
None
None
None
None
None
None

*Excluding amounts held by the bond trustee that are not subject to California Government Code
restrictions.
The District’s policy restricts the District from investing more than $4,000,000 in LAIF. In addition, staff
is directed to maintain an average annual balance not to exceed $3,500,000. The District complied with
the provisions of the California Government Code (or the District’s investment policy, where more
restrictive) pertaining to the types of investments held, the institutions in which deposits were made and
the security requirements. The District will continue to monitor compliance with applicable statutes
pertaining to public deposits and investments.
Investments Authorized by Debt Agreements: Investment of debt proceeds held by the bond trustee are
governed by provisions of the debt agreements, rather than the general provisions of the California
Government Code or the District’s investment policy. The 2010 Revenue Certificates of Participation debt
agreement contains certain provisions that address interest rate risk and credit risk, but not concentration of
credit risk.
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Authorized
Investment Type

Maximum
Maturity

Maximum
Percentage
of Portfolio

Maximum
Investment
in One Issuer

None
None
None
1 year
None
None
None
None
N/A
N/A

None
None
None
None
None
None
None
None
None
None

None
None
None
None
None
None
None
None
None
None

Local Agency Bonds
U.S. Treasury Obligations
U.S. Agency Securities
Bankers Acceptances
Commercial Paper
Certificates of Deposits
Investment Agreements
Repurchase Agreements
Money Market Mutual Funds
LAIF

Interest rate risk: Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will adversely affect the
fair value of an investment. Generally, the longer the maturity of an investment, the greater the sensitivity
of its fair value to changes in market interest rates. One of the ways the District manages its exposure to
interest rate risk is by purchasing a combination of shorter term and longer term investments and by timing
cash flows from maturities so that a portion of the portfolio is maturing or coming close to maturity evenly
over time as necessary to provide the cash flow and liquidity needed for operations.
Information about the sensitivity of the fair values of the District’s investments (including investments
held by bond trustee) to market interest rate fluctuations is provided by the following table that shows the
distribution of the District’s investments by maturity:

Remaining Maturity
(in Months)
12 Months
13-24
or Less
Months

Total
Held by bond trustee:
Certificates of Deposit
Money market mutual funds
LAIF

$ 2,208,707
3,686
1,820,161
Total $ 4,032,554

$

24-60
Months

$ 1,717,347

$

491,360

$ 1,717,347

$

491,360

3,686
1,820,161

$ 1,823,847

Credit Risk: Generally, credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation to
the holder of the investment. This is measured by the assignment of a rating by a nationally recognized
statistical rating organization. Presented below is the minimum rating required by (where applicable) the
California Government Code, the District’s investment policy, or debt agreements, and the actual rating as
of year-end for each investment type.
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Total
Held by bond trustee:
Certificates of deposit
$ 2,208,707
Money market mutual funds
3,686
LAIF
1,820,161

Minimum
Legal
Rating

Exempt from
Disclosure

Ratings as of
Year End
AAA

Not Rated

$ 2,208,707
AAA
N/A

$ 4,032,554

$ 3,686
$ 1,820,161
$ 2,208,707

$ 3,686

$ 1,820,161

Concentration of Credit Risk: The investment policy of the District limits the amount that can be invested
in any one issuer to the lesser of the amount stipulated by the California Government Code or 50% of total
investments, with the exception of U.S. Treasury obligations, U.S. Agency Securities and LAIF. There are
no investments in any one issuer (other than mutual funds and external investment pools) that represent 5%
or more of total District investments.
Custodial credit risk: Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a
depository financial institution, a government will not be able to recover its deposits or will not be able to
recover collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party. The custodial credit risk for
investments is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty (e.g., broker-dealer) to a
transaction, a government will not be able to recover the value of its investment or collateral securities that
are in the possession of another party. The California Government Code and the District’s investment
policy do not contain legal or policy requirements that would limit the exposure to custodial credit risk for
deposits, other than the following provision for deposits: The California Government Code requires that a
financial institution secure deposits made by state or local governmental units by pledging securities in an
undivided collateral pool held by a depository regulated under state law (unless so waived by the
governmental unit). The market value of the pledged securities in the collateral pool must equal at least
110% of the total amount deposited by the public agencies. California law also allows financial
institutions to secure public agency deposits by pledging first trust deed mortgage notes having a value of
150% of the secured public deposits.
At June 30, 2017, the carrying amount of the District’s deposits were $5,526,075 and the balances in
financial institutions were $5,482,329 and of this amount $5,232,329 was not insured by federal depository
insurance. At June 30, 2016, the carrying amount of the District’s deposits were $3,790,881 and the
balances in financial institutions were $3,717,320 and of this amount $3,467,320 was not insured by
federal depository insurance. As of June 30, 2017, District investments in the following investment types
were held by the same broker-dealer (counterparty) that was used by the District to buy the securities:

Reported Investment Type
Certificates of deposit
Money market mutual funds
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NOTE B – CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued)
Investment in LAIF: LAIF is stated at amortized cost, which approximates fair value. The LAIF is a
special fund of the California State Treasury through which local governments may pool investments. The
total fair value amount invested by all public agencies in LAIF is $77,539,216,146 managed by the State
Treasurer. Of that amount, 2.89% is invested in structured notes and asset-backed securities. No amounts
were invested in derivative financial products. The Local Investment Advisory Board (Board) has
oversight responsibility for LAIF. The Board consists of five members as designated by State Statute.
The fair value of the District’s investment in this pool is reported in the accompanying financial statements
at amounts based upon the District’s pro-rata share of the fair value provided by LAIF for the entire LAIF
portfolio (in relation to the amortized cost of that portfolio). The balance available for withdrawal is based
on the accounting records maintained by LAIF, which are recorded on an amortized cost basis.
Fair Value Measurement: The District categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value
hierarchy established by generally accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation
inputs used to measure the fair value of the asset. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other observable inputs, Level 3 inputs are significant
unobservable inputs.
The District has certificates of deposit of $2,208,707 at June 30, 2017. The fair values of certificates of
deposit are estimated using a discounted cash flow calculation that applies interest rates currently being
offered on the certificates to a schedule of aggregated contractual maturities on such time deposits, which
are level 2 inputs.
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Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 is as follows:
Balance
July 1, 2016
Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land, franchises and water rights
Construction in progress
Capital assets being depreciated:
Pumping plant
Transmission and distribution
Buildings and improvements
Transportation equipment
Information technology
Machinery and equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Less accumulated depreciation:
Pumping plant
Transmission and distribution
Buildings and improvements
Transportation equipment
Information technology
Machinery and equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Net capital assets being depreciated
Net capital assets

$

546,488
222,816
769,304

Additions

$ 56,879,706

Transfers

Balance
June 30, 2017
$

$ 1,087,850
1,087,850

35,760,322
63,690,346
9,562,356
1,111,629
1,762,648
125,072
102,620
112,114,993
(17,390,776)
(31,617,576)
(4,078,067)
(989,134)
(1,717,633)
(108,785)
(102,620)
(56,004,591)
56,110,402

Deletions

264,236
286,627
412,570

$ (951,147)
(951,147)

$ (125,427)
(77,774)

27,215
690,564
51,966
92,681

951,147

36,051,773
64,542,110
10,026,892
1,126,536
1,784,493
213,793
102,620
113,848,217

951,147

(18,090,623)
(32,885,540)
(4,324,360)
(934,015)
(1,738,166)
(122,466)
(102,620)
(58,197,790)
55,650,427

21,845
88,721
985,278
(699,847)
(1,372,769)
(246,293)
(22,655)
(20,533)
(13,681)
(2,375,778)
(1,390,500)
$ (302,650)
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(203,201)

104,805
77,774

182,579
(20,622)
$ (20,622) $

546,488
359,519
906,007

-

$ 56,556,434
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Balance
July 1, 2015
Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land, franchises and water rights
Construction in progress
Capital assets being depreciated:
Pumping plant
Transmission and distribution
Buildings and improvements
Transportation equipment
Information technology
Machinery and equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Less accumulated depreciation:
Pumping plant
Transmission and distribution
Buildings and improvements
Transportation equipment
Information technology
Machinery and equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Net capital assets being depreciated
Net capital assets

$

546,488
71,734
618,222

Additions

$ 58,443,756

Transfers

Balance
June 30, 2016
$

$

294,961
294,961

35,610,488
63,282,181
9,659,559
1,076,763
1,799,375
124,863
102,620
111,655,849
(16,526,488)
(30,376,677)
(3,973,888)
(1,043,068)
(1,699,402)
(108,172)
(102,620)
(53,830,315)
57,825,534

Deletions

$ (143,879)
(143,879)

41,358
434,507
42,298
108,461
9,146
4,104

$ (168,199)
(31,025)
(73,595)
(47,895)
(3,895)

639,874

(324,609)

(756,189)
(1,406,734)
(239,038)
(19,662)
(66,126)
(4,509)

165,835
26,760
73,596
47,895
3,896

(2,492,258)
(1,852,384)

317,982
(6,627)

$ (1,557,423)

108,476
141,857
(108,476)
2,022

143,879
(108,099)

$

(6,627) $

108,099

143,879
-

546,488
222,816
769,304

35,760,322
63,690,346
9,562,356
1,111,629
1,762,648
125,072
102,620
112,114,993
(17,390,776)
(31,617,576)
(4,078,067)
(989,134)
(1,717,633)
(108,785)
(102,620)
(56,004,591)
56,110,402
$ 56,879,706

NOTE D – INVESTMENT IN ELECTRICAL POWER
The District participates in the California-Oregon Transmission Project (Project), a Joint Powers Authority
(JPA), which is a project of the Department of Energy, Western Area Power Administration. The Project
is governed by a management committee, which is chaired by a representative of the Transmission Agency
of Northern California with each participant in the Project having representation on the Management
Committee. The District applied as a Community Services District and Central Valley Project Contractor,
and received allocation of 1MW (megawatt) of power (capacity and associated energy) in exchange for an
investment as a participant in the construction of the transmission line.
The District has a 0.069% equity interest in the net assets of the Project as defined in the Long-Term
Participation Agreement. The District also has an obligation to finance 0.069% of the net losses of the
Project; it also has the right to receive 0.069% of the operating results of the Project income. The District
is billed monthly for its share of the operations and maintenance costs of the Project, which totaled
approximately $416 for the years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016. The District’s net investment and its
share of the operating results of the Project are reported as Investment in Electrical Power.
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On January 1, 2006, the District entered into an agreement to lease its share of transmission capacity to the
Sacramento Municipal Utility District. For the years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, the amount of
revenue generated from the transmission lease was $17,568 and $18,144, respectively. The agreement is
effective through December 31, 2024.
The Project’s unaudited financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, are available from
the California-Oregon Transmission Project at Post Office Box 15140, Sacramento, California 958515140. The following is the summarized unaudited financial information for the Project as of and for the
years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016:

2017

2016

Balance sheet
Assets

$ 262,290,472

$ 262,544,679

Liabilities
Net assets

$ 24,043,044
238,247,428

$ 20,455,414
242,099,265

Liabilities and net assets

$ 262,290,472

$ 262,554,679

Income statement
Operating revenues
Operating expenses
Operating loss
Nonoperating revenues

$ 14,186,803
(19,961,087)
(5,774,284)
19,696

$ 13,077,796
(18,733,422)
(5,655,626)
5,831

(5,754,588)

(5,649,795)

1,902,751

2,310,267

Decrease in net assets before adjustments
Adjustments for capital improvements
Net decrease in net assets

$

District’s share of net assets

$
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(3,851,837)
154,427

$
$

(3,339,528)
160,879
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The activity of the District’s long-term liabilities during the year ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 was as
follows:
Balance
July 1, 2016
2010 Certificates of Participation
Less: Unamortized discount

Compensated absences
Unearned lease revenue
Net OPEB obligation
Net pension obligation

2010 Certificates of Participation
Less: Unamortized discount

Compensated absences
Unearned lease revenue
Net OPEB obligation
Net pension obligation

Additions

$ 22,355,000
1,216,082
23,571,082
125,070
127,744
1,498,235
1,272,753

$

154,074
322,289
761,321

(Reductions)

Balance
June 30, 2017

Due Within
One Year

$ (1,185,000)
(88,175)
(1,273,175)

$ 21,170,000
1,127,907
22,297,907

$ 1,245,000

(153,043)
(1,414)
(545,494)

126,101
126,330
1,275,030
2,034,074

1,245,000
1,414

$ 26,594,884

$ 1,237,684

$ (1,973,126)

$ 25,859,442

$ 1,246,414

Balance
July 1, 2015

Additions

(Reductions)

Balance
June 30, 2016

Due Within
One Year

$ (1,150,000)
(88,175)
(1,238,175)

$ 22,355,000
1,216,082
23,571,082

$ 1,185,000

(180,396)
(1,414)
(86,685)

125,070
127,744
1,498,235
1,272,753

$ (1,506,670)

$ 26,594,884

$ 23,505,000
1,304,257
24,809,257
136,963
129,158
1,271,104
1,199,609

$

$ 27,546,091

$

168,503
313,816
73,144
555,463

1,185,000

1,414

$ 1,186,414

The District’s long-term liabilities consist of the following:
2010 Water Revenue Refunding Certificates of Participation: In March 2010, the Corporation issued the
2010 Water Revenue Refunding Certificates of Participation to refund the previously outstanding 1999
Water Revenue Certificates of Participation, fund a reserve fund and pay the cost of issuance as well as a
net original issue premium of $1,763,503. The net original issue premium is being amortized over the life
of the remaining debt. Amortization of the premium totaled $88,175 for the years ended June 30, 2017 and
2016, and is included as a reduction of interest expense.
Although the refunding resulted in deferred amount on refunding of $1,247,270, the Corporation in effect
reduced the aggregate debt service payments by approximately $3,253,000 over the next nineteen years
and obtained an economic gain (difference between the present values of the old debt and the new debt
service payments) of $2,334,692. The deferred amount on refunding is being amortized over the
remaining life of the refunded debt. Amortization expense totaled $65,647 for the years ended June 30,
2017 and 2016, and is included in interest expense. The deferred amount on refunding was $774,073 and
$839,720 at June 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
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The 2010 Water Revenue Refunding Certificates of Participation are obligations of the Corporation
payable solely from payments received from the District pursuant to an Installment Sale Agreement
(Senior Installment Sale Agreement) between the Corporation and the District. The obligation of the
District to make installment payments is payable solely from net revenues of the District’s water system
and certain funds and accounts created under the Installment Sale Agreement. The Installment Sale
Agreement requires the District to agree to fix, prescribe, and collect rates and charges for its water service
which will be at least sufficient to yield each fiscal year net revenues equal to 120% of the annual debt
service in such fiscal year. At June 30, 2017 and 2016, the District’s net revenues were 6.22% and 1.78%
of debt service payments.
The 2010 Water Revenue Refunding Certificates of Participation have interest rates ranging from 2.5% to
5.0% with maturities through the fiscal year ending June 30, 2027. The 2010 Water Revenue Refunding
Certificates of Participation outstanding totaled $21,170,000 and $22,355,000 at June 30, 2017 and 2016,
respectively. Accrued interest payable totaled $161,617 and $171,492 at June 30, 2017 and 2016.
The following is a schedule of maturities for the certificates of participation:

Principal
For the Year Ended June 30:
2018
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023-2027
2028-2030

Interest

$ 1,245,000
1,305,000
1,355,000
1,410,000
1,470,000
8,365,000
6,020,000

$

938,575
881,350
828,150
772,850
707,900
2,511,725
461,250

$ 21,170,000

$ 7,101,800

Pledged Revenue: The District pledged future water system revenues, net of specified expenses, to repay
the 2010 Certificates of Participation in the original amount of $28,550,000. Proceeds of the Certificates
of Participation were used to refund the previously outstanding 1999 Water Revenue Certificates of
Participation. The Certificates of Participation are payable solely from water customer net revenues and
are payable through November 1, 2029. Total principal and interest remaining to be paid on the
Certificates of Participation was $28,271,800 and $30,456,125 at June 30, 2017 and 2016. Total principal
and interest paid was $2,184,325 and the total water system net revenues were $13,580,229 for the year
ended June 30, 2017. Total principal and interest paid was $2,190,450 and the total water system net
revenues were $3,917,353 for the year ended June 30, 2016. At June 30, 2017 and 2016, the District’s net
revenues were 622% and 178% of debt service payments.
Deferred Lease Revenue: On November 1, 2007, the District entered into a long-term lease agreement
with a private company for certain District facilities to construct a groundwater extraction treatment
system, water conveyance facilities, and groundwater extraction wells that benefit the District’s operations.
The District received $140,000 when the lease was executed, which will be earned at a rate of $1,414 per
year through October 31, 2106.
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Section 148 (f) of the Internal Revenue Code requires issuers of tax-exempt state and local bonds to remit
to the federal government amounts equal to (a) the excess of the actual amounts earned on all “Nonpurpose Investments” allocable to “Gross Proceeds” of an issue of municipal obligations less the amount
that would have been earned if the investments bore a rate equal to the amount that would have been
earned if the investments bore a rate equal to the yield on the issue, plus (b) all income attributable to the
excess. Issuers must make rebate payments at least once every five years and upon final retirement or
redemption of the bonds. There was no arbitrage liability at June 30, 2017. The next arbitrage calculation
will be performed in 2020.
NOTE G – NET POSITION
Restrictions: Restricted net position consists of constraints placed on net asset use through external
requirements imposed by creditors (such as through debt covenants), grantors, contributors, or laws and
regulations of other governments or constraints by law through constitutional provisions or enabling
legislation. Restricted net position consisted of the following at June 30:

Debt service reserve on 2010 Certificates of Participation
Facility Fees - expansion of facilities
Total restricted net position

2017

2016

$ 2,212,393
189,965

$ 2,259,257
100,827

$ 2,402,358

$ 2,360,084

The restrictions are for the following:
Restricted for debt service payments represents debt service reserves required by the related debt
covenants.
Restricted for capital facilities represents unspent facility fees, which are restricted to capital expenses
by Section 66013 of the Water Code of the State of California.
Designations: Designations of unrestricted net position may be imposed by the Board of Directors to
reflect future spending plans or concerns about the availability of future resources. Designations may be
modified, amended or removed by Board action. Designations included the following as of June 30:

2017
Rate stabilization
Operating reserve
Membrane replacement

$

Total designated net position

508,342
3,193,156
541,679

$ 4,243,177

2016
$

505,053
1,306,067
355,845

$ 2,166,965

The designations are for the following:
Designated for rate stabilization represents the amount to be used to make up a revenue deficiency in a
future year in order to assist in meeting the debt coverage requirements.
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NOTE G – NET POSITION (Continued)
Designated for operating reserve, which represents 33% of budgeted operating and maintenance costs,
plus debt service, is to ensure an adequate balance for working capital requirements, as well as
unanticipated expenditures for operations, maintenance or asset acquisition. The 2016 amount is based
on 25% of budgeted operating and maintenance costs, excluding debt service.
Designated for the replacement of membrane submodules represents amounts budgeted but not yet
spent for membrane replacements.
While the District’s 2016 Business Plan and Water Rate Study has identified the need to establish a capital
replacement reserve to fund future facility replacement projects and a replacement water supply reserve to
fund the future acquisition of additional water supply, no amounts have been specifically designated by the
Board as of June 30, 2017 or 2016.
NOTE H – PENSION PLANS
Plan Descriptions: All qualified employees are eligible to participate in the District’s cost-sharing multiple
employer defined benefit pension plans administered by the California Public Employees’ Retirement
System (CalPERS). The District participates in the Miscellaneous Plan within the CalPERS cost-sharing
plan.
Benefit provisions under the Plans are established by State statute and Board resolution. CalPERS issues
publicly available reports that include a full description of the pension plans regarding benefit provisions,
assumptions and membership information that can be found on the CalPERS website at
www.calpers.ca.gov.
Benefits Provided: CalPERS provides service retirement and disability benefits, annual cost of living
adjustments and death benefits to plan members, who must be public employees and beneficiaries.
Benefits are based on years of credited service, equal to one year of full time employment. Members with
five years of total service are eligible to retire at age 50 (52 for PEPRA Miscellaneous Plan) with
statutorily reduced benefits. All members are eligible for non-duty disability benefits after 10 years of
service. The death benefit is the following: the 1957 Survivor Benefit or the Optional Settlement 2W
Death Benefit. The cost of living adjustments are applied as specified by the Public Employees’
Retirement Law.
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The Plans’ provisions and benefits in effect at June 30, 2017 and 2016 are summarized as follows:

Hire date

Classic
Miscellaneous
Plan
(Prior to
January 1, 2013)

PEPRA
Miscellaneous
Plan
(On or after
January 1, 2013)

Benefit formula (at full retirement)
Benefit vesting schedule
Benefit payments
Retirement age
Monthly benefits, as a % of eligible compensation
Required employee contribution rates - 2016/17
Required employer contribution rates - 2016/17
Required employee contribution rates - 2015/16
Required employer contribution rates - 2015/16

2.0% @ 55
5 years service
monthly for life
50 - 63
1.426% to 2.418%
7.000%
9.887%
7.000%
9.454%

2.0% @ 62
5 years service
monthly for life
52 - 67
1.0% to 2.5%
6.500%
7.045%
6.500%
6.724%

In addition to the contribution rates above, the District was also required to make payments of $44,140 and
$29,026 toward its unfunded actuarial liability during the years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016,
respectively.
The Classic Miscellaneous Plan is closed to new members that are not already CalPERS eligible
participants.
Contributions: Section 20814(c) of the California Public Employees’ Retirement Law requires that the
employer contribution rates for all public employers be determined on an annual basis by the actuary and
shall be effective on the July 1 following notice of a change in the rate. Funding contributions for the Plans
are determined annually on an actuarial basis as of June 30 by CalPERS. The actuarially determined rate is
the estimated amount necessary to finance the costs of benefits earned by employees during the year, with
an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability. The District is required to contribute the
difference between the actuarially determined rate and the contribution rate of employees.
The contributions recognized as part of pension expense for the Plans were $222,301 and $198,100 for the
years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
Pension Liabilities, Pension Expenses and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions:
As of June 30, 2017 and 2016, the District reported a net pension liability for its proportionate share of the
net pension liability of the Plan of $2,034,074 and $1,272,753, respectively.
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The District’s net pension liability is measured as the proportionate share of the net pension liability. The
net pension liability as of June 30, 2017 and 2016 is measured as of June 30, 2016 and 2015, and the total
pension liability for each Plan used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial
valuation as of June 30, 2014 and 2013 rolled forward to June 30, 2015 and 2014 using standard update
procedures. The District’s proportion of the net pension liability was based on a projection of the
District’s long-term share of contributions to the pension plans relative to the projected contributions of all
participating employers, actuarially determined. The District’s proportionate share of the net pension
liability for the Plan as of June 30, 2017 and 2016 was as follows:

Proportion - June 30, 2016
Proportion - June 30, 2017
Change - Increase (Decrease)

0.046392%
0.058553%
0.012161%

For the year ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, the District had pension expense of $365,343 and ($340,597)
at June 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively. The District reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred
inflows of resources related to all Plans combined from the following sources:
2017

2016

Deferred
Deferred
Deferred
Deferred
Outflows
Inflows
Outflows
Inflows
of Resources of Resources of Resources of Resources
Pension contributions subsequent to measurement date
Differences between actual and expected experience
Changes in assumptions
Change in employer's proportion
Differences between the employer's contribution and
the employer's proportionate share of contributions
Net differences between projected and actual earnings
on plan investments

$ 222,301
6,615

$

212,974

(2,295)
(62,574)
(315)

5,471

(123,488)

$ 169,074
10,288
$ (97,337)
147,406
12,311

546,582

Total

$ 993,943

(48,796)
$ (188,672)

$ 339,079

$ (146,133)

The $222,301 and $169,074 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to contributions subsequent
to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year ended
June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Other amounts reported as net deferred inflows of resources related
to pensions will be recognized as pension expense as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended
June 30
2018
2019
2020
2021
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126,516
117,002
199,872
139,580

$

582,970
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NOTE H – PENSION PLANS (Continued)
Actuarial Assumptions: The total pension liabilities in the actuarial valuations for each of the Plans were
determined using the following actuarial assumptions:
June 30, 2017
Valuation Date
Measurement Date
Actuarial Cost Method
Actuarial Assumptions:
Discount Rate
Inflation
Payroll Growth
Projected Salary Increase
Investment Rate of Return
Mortality

June 30, 2016

June 30, 2015
June 30, 2016
Entry-Age Normal Cost Method

June 30, 2014
June 30, 2015
Entry-Age Normal Cost Method

7.65%
2.75%
3.0%
3.3% - 14.2% (1)
7.50% (2)
Derived using CalPERS Membership
Data for all Funds

7.65%
2.75%
3.0%
3.3% - 14.2% (1)
7.65% (2)
Derived using CalPERS Membership
Data for all Funds

(1) Depending on entry age and service
(2) Net of pension plan investment expenses, including inflation

The underlying mortality assumptions and all other actuarial assumptions used in June 30, 2017 were
based on the 2010 CalPERS experience study for the period from 1997 to 2007. The underlying mortality
assumptions and all other actuarial assumptions used in June 30, 2016 were based on the results of a
January 2014 actuarial experience study for the period 1997 to 2011. Further details of the Experience
Study can be found on the CalPERS website.
Discount Rate: The discount rates used to measure the total pension liability were 7.65% as of June 30,
2017 and 2016. To determine whether the municipal bond rate should be used in the calculation of a
discount rate for the plan, CalPERS stress tested plans that would most likely result in a discount rate that
would be different from the actuarially assumed discount rate. Based on the testing, none of the tested
plans run out of assets. Therefore, the current discount rate is appropriate and the use of the municipal
bond rate calculation is not necessary. The long term expected discount rate will be applied to all plans in
the Public Employees Retirement Fund (PERF). The stress test results are presented in a detailed report
that can be obtained from the CalPERS website.
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-block
method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of
pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class.
In determining the long-term expected rate of return, CalPERS took into account both short-term and longterm market return expectations as well as the expected pension fund cash flows. Using historical returns
of all the funds’ asset classes, expected compound returns were calculated over the short-term (first 10
years) and the long-term (11-60 years) using a building-block approach. Using the expected nominal
returns for both short-term and long-term, the present value of benefits was calculated for each fund. The
expected rate of return was set by calculating the single equivalent expected return that arrived at the same
present value of benefits for cash flows as the one calculated using both short-term and long-term returns.
The expected rate of return was then set equivalent to the single equivalent rate calculated above and
rounded down to the nearest one quarter of one percent.
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The table below reflects the long-term expected real rate of return by asset class for the Plan as of the
measurement dates of June 30. The rate of return was calculated using the capital market assumptions
applied to determine the discount rate and asset allocation. These rates of return are net of administrative
expenses.

Asset Class
Global Equity
Global Fixed Income
Inflation Sensitive
Private Equity
Real Estate
Infrastructure and
Forestland
Liquidity
Total

2016
2015
New Strategic Real Return Real Return New Strategic Real Return Real Return
Allocation Years 1 - 10(a) Years 11+(b) Allocation Years 1 - 10(a) Years 11+(b)
51.0%
20.0%
6.0%
10.0%
10.0%

5.25%
0.99%
0.45%
6.83%
4.50%

5.71%
2.43%
3.36%
6.95%
5.13%

51.0%
19.0%
6.0%
10.0%
10.0%

5.25%
0.99%
0.45%
6.83%
4.50%

5.71%
2.43%
3.36%
6.95%
5.13%

2.0%
1.0%

4.50%
(0.55)%

5.09%
(1.05)%

2.0%
2.0%

4.50%
(0.55)%

5.09%
(1.05)%

100.0%

100.0%

(a) An expected inflation of 2.5% used for this period.
(b) An expected inflation of 3.0% used for this period.

Sensitivity of the Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate: The
following presents the District’s proportionate share of the net pension liability for the Plans, calculated
using the discount rate for the Plans, as well as what the District’s proportionate share of the net pension
liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage point lower or 1percentage point higher than the current rate:
2017

2016

1% Decrease
Net Pension Liability

6.65%
$ 3,635,912

6.65%
$ 2,134,489

Current Discount Rate
Net Pension Liability

7.65%
$ 2,034,074

7.65%
$ 1,272,753

8.65%
710,234

8.65%
561,283

1% Increase
Net Pension Liability

$

$

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position: Detailed information about each pension plan’s fiduciary net
position is available in the separately issued CalPERS financial reports.
Payable to the Pension Plan: At June 30, 2017 and 2016 the District reported payables for the outstanding
amount of contributions to the pension plan of $7,112 and $6,549, respectively.
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NOTE I – OTHER POST-RETIREMENT BENEFITS
Plan Description: The District administers a single-employer defined benefit other postemployment
healthcare (OPEB) plan providing health plan coverage to eligible retired employees and their eligible
dependents. The District offers retirees the option to obtain coverage under the same medical plans as its
active employees if such coverage is offered by the plan. Employees become eligible to retire and receive
healthcare benefits after age 50 with at least 5 years. In addition to 5 years of District eligible service, a
retiree must have an additional 5 years of service with any contracting PERS agency for a total of 10 years
of eligible service. The OPEB Plan does not issue a publicly available financial report.
Funding Policy: The contribution requirements of plan members and the District are established and may
be amended by the Board of Directors. The required contribution is based on projected pay-as-you-go
financing requirements. A trust was established in September 2016. The contribution amounts in the table
below include prefunding contributions and premium payments on current retirees. For 2017 and 2016,
the District contributed $545,494 and $86,685 to the plan. The 2017 contribution of $545,494 includes a
$440,000 prefunding contribution to the trust and $105,494 of retiree premium payments. The 2016
contributions represent only retiree premium payments.
Annual OPEB Cost and Net OPEB Obligation: The District’s annual OPEB cost (expense) is calculated
based on the annual required contribution of the employer (ARC), an amount actuarially determined in
accordance with the parameters of GASB Statement No. 45. The ARC represents a level of funding that,
if paid on an ongoing basis, is projected to cover normal costs each year and to amortize any unfunded
actuarial liabilities (or funding excess) over a period not to exceed thirty years. The District’s Board of
Directors has established a policy of funding the ARC on a pay as you go basis. The following table
shows the components of the District’s annual OPEB cost for 2017 and 2016, the amount actually
contributed to the plan, and changes in the District’s net OPEB obligation to the OPEB plan:

2017
Annual required contribution:
Normal Cost
Amortization of UAAL
Interest
Annual OPEB cost (expense)
Contributions made
Change in net OPEB obligation

$

141,201
125,196
55,892
322,289
(545,494)
(223,205)

2016
$

141,201
125,196
47,419
313,816
(86,685)
227,131

Net OPEB obligation, beginning of year

1,498,235

1,271,104

Net OPEB obligation, end of year

$ 1,275,030

$ 1,498,235
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The District’s annual OPEB cost, the percentage of annual OPEB cost contributed to the plan, and the net
OPEB obligation for 2017 and the two preceding years were as follows:

Annual
OPEB

Year Ended
June 30, 2015
June 30, 2016
June 30, 2017

$

Percentage of
Annual OPEB
Cost Contributed

Net
OPEB
Obligation

24.1%
27.6%
169.3%

$ 1,271,104
1,498,235
1,275,030

305,174
313,816
322,289

Funded Status and Funding Progress: As of July 1, 2014, the most recent actuarial valuation date, the
actuarial accrued liability for benefits was $2,562,710, all of which was unfunded. The covered payroll
(annual payroll of active employees covered by the plan) for the year ended June 30, 2017 was $1,854,585
and the ratio of the UAAL to the covered payroll was 138.18%.
Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and
assumptions about the probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Examples include
assumptions about future employment, mortality, and the healthcare cost trend. Amounts determined
regarding the funded status of the plan and the annual required contributions of the employer are subject to
continual revision as actual results are compared with past exceptions and new estimates are made about
the future. The schedule of funding progress, presented as Required Supplementary Information, presents
multi-year trend information about whether the actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or decreasing
over time relative to the actuarial accrued liabilities for benefits.
Actuarial Methods and Assumptions: Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on
the substantive plan (the plan as understood by the employer and the plan members) and include the types
of benefits provided at the time of each valuation and the historical pattern of sharing of benefit costs
between the employer and plan members to that point. The actuarial methods and assumptions used
include techniques that are designed to reduce the effects of short-term volatility in actuarial accrued
liabilities and the actuarial value of assets consistent with the long-term perspective of the calculations.
In the July 1, 2014 actuarial valuation, the Entry Age Normal Cost Method was used. The actuarial
assumptions included a 4.75% investment rate of return (net of administrative expenses), which is based
on the District’s own investments. The annual healthcare-cost trend rate is 4.0% per year. The
assumptions also include a 2.75% annual increase in covered payroll and a 2.75% inflationary factor. The
UAAL is being amortized as a level percentage of projected payroll on an open basis. The remaining
amortization period at June 30, 2017, was approximately 25 years.
NOTE J – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
The District implemented a phased meter implementation program that entailed installing meters for all
District customers. This project was completed in 2013, except for six (6) remaining accounts. The
District completed the two (2) mainline projects required to meter the final six (6) accounts. As of June
30, 2017, all District customers were metered and on metered billing.
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The District received grant funding for specific purposes that is subject to review and audit by the funding
agency. Such potential audits could result in a request for reimbursement for expenses disallowed under
the terms and conditions of the funding source. Management is of the opinion that no material liabilities
will result from such potential audits.
The District completed the American River Pipeline Conveyance Project that was entered into in May
2015. As a result of the project, the District began supplying Golden State Water Company (GSWC) with
treated water on January 1, 2017. The original sum of the contract was $4,815,000 of which $4,715,000
would be funded by Aerojet Rocketdyne (Aerojet) and $100,000 by the District. The funding commitment
by Aerojet Rocketdyne was secured by an executed reimbursement agreement effective May 18, 2015.
This agreement remained in effect until completion of the project in February 2017 and all costs associated
with the project were reconciled between Aerojet Rocketdyne and the District.
As of June 30, 2017, the sum total of the construction contract was $4,920,277. Aerojet Rocketdyne
agreed to fund $4,796,810 and the District funded $123,467. Aerojet has reimbursed the District
$4,796,810 of the construction contract through June 30, 2017. The District also incurred environmental
restoration costs for the clean-up and disposal of abandoned water assets along the American River and
natural habitat restoration, fulfilling a prior commitment the District had made to the community. As of
June 30, 2017, these costs totaled $626,475 and were not reimbursable by Aerojet Rocketdyne.
NOTE K – INSURANCE
The District participates in the Association of California Water Agencies Joint Powers Insurance Authority
(ACWA/JPIA) a public entity risk pool of California water agencies, for general and auto liability, public
official’s liability, property damage, fidelity insurance and workers compensation liability. ACWA/JPIA
provides insurance through the pool up to a certain level, beyond which group purchased commercial
excess insurance is obtained.
The District pays an annual premium to ACWA/JPIA that includes its pro-rata share of excess insurance
premiums, charges for the pooled risk, claims adjusting and legal costs, and administrative and other costs
to operate the ACWA/JPIA. The District’s deductibles and maximum coverage are as follows:
Coverage
General and Auto Liability
(includes public officials liability)
Property Damage
Fidelity
Workers Compensation liability

Commercial
Insurance

Deductible

5,000,000

$ 55,000,000

None

100,000
100,000
2,000,000

150,000,000

ACWA/JPIA
$

Statutory

$500 to 50,000
1,000
None

The District continues to carry commercial insurance for all other risks of loss to cover all claims for risk
of loss to which the District is exposed. Settled claims resulting from these risks have not exceeded
commercial insurance coverage in any of the past three fiscal years.
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NOTE L – ECONOMIC DEPENDENCY
Under normal operating conditions, the District extracts approximately 80% of its water from the
American River and 20% from groundwater wells. On May 5, 2015 the State Water Resources Control
Board (SWRCB) adopted an emergency regulation requiring an immediate 25 percent reduction in overall
potable urban water use statewide in response to drought conditions. On April 7, 2017 Governor Brown
lifted the emergency regulation. The District has since been operating under normal water conservation
conditions and is beginning to rebound from the drought with water consumption increasing to 2,859,141
Centum Cubic Feet (CCF) in 2017 from 2,585,062 (CCF) in 2016.
Water conservation continues to be a focus of the SWRCB with recently proposed legislation focused on
long term water use reductions. The District has continued to monitor and provide input on the proposed
legislation that will have future financial impacts.
NOTE M — OUTSIDE BOUNDARY SALES AND AGREEMENTS
The District completed the American River Pipeline Conveyance Project in partnership with Aerojet
Rocketdyne and Golden State Water Company to annually provide 5,000 acre feet of replacement water
supply to GSWC. The District negotiated and signed two Agreements in August 2016 as part of this
project.
The District entered into a Capacity Sale Agreement with Aerojet Rocketdyne to purchase rights to
capacity in the District's Bajamont Water Treatment Plant (BWTP) on behalf of Golden State Water
Company. Aerojet will pay the District a $9,400,000 capacity fee over a six year period. As of June 30,
2017, Aerojet has paid $2,400,000 to the District and will pay the remaining $7,000,000 in annual
payments of $1,400,000 due on July 1 through 2022.
In connection with the sale of capacity, the District converted a portion of its outstanding 2010
Certificates of Participation from governmental bonds to tax-exempt private activity bonds. As a result of
this action, $8,315,000 of the Certificates were treated as reissued for federal tax purposes on August 24,
2016. There was no effect on the tax-exempt status of the bonds and the remaining principal and interest
due remained unchanged due to the bond conversion.
The District entered into a second agreement in August 2016 between the District and GSWC for the
diversion, treatment, and delivery of water through the American River Pipeline. GSWC pays a
proportionate share of three components: 1) the fixed and variable operations and maintenance costs
associated with the production of water; 2) the capital asset costs of the BWTP and intake structures; 3)
the costs incurred by the District for the replacement of membranes at the BWTP. The District has billed
GSWC $413,720 under the terms of this agreement.
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REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017
SCHEDULE OF THE PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE
NET PENSION LIABILITY (UNAUDITED)
Last 10 Years
June 30, 2017
Proportion of the net pension liability
Proportionate share of the net pension liability
Covered - employee payroll - measurement period
Proportionate share of the net pension liability as a
percentage of covered payroll
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the
total pension liability

$
$

0.058553%
2,034,074
1,822,452

June 30, 2016
$
$

0.046392%
1,272,753
1,756,975

June 30, 2015
$
$

0.048538%
1,199,609
1,760,777

111.61%

72.44%

68.13%

82.90%

78.40%

79.82%

Notes to Schedule:
Change in Benefit Terms: The figures above do not include any liability impact that may have resulted from plan changes which
occurred after June 30, 2014 as they have minimal cost impact.
Changes in assumptions: The discount rate was changed from 7.50% in 2015 to 7.65% in 2016 and 2017.
Omitted years: GASB Statement No. 68 was implemented during the year ended June 30, 2015. No information was available
prior to this date.
SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS TO THE PENSION PLAN (UNAUDITED)
Last 10 Years

Contractually required contribution (actuarially determined)
Contributions in relation to the actuarially determined contributions
Contribution deficiency (excess)
Covered - employee payroll - fiscal year
Contributions as a percentage of covered - employee payroll

June 30, 2017

June 30, 2016

June 30, 2015

$

$

$

$
$

Notes to Schedule:
Valuation date:

222,301
(222,301)
1,854,585
11.98%

June 30, 2014

Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates:
Valuation cost method
Amortization method
Remaining amortization period
Asset valuation method
Inflation
Salary increases
Investment rate of return
Retirement age

$
$

198,100
(198,100)
1,822,452
10.86%

June 30, 2013

$
$

160,692
(160,692)
1,756,975
9.15%

June 30, 2012

Entry age normal
Level percentage of payroll, closed
15 years
5-year smoothed market
2.75%
3.0%, average, including inflation of 2.75%
7.50%, net of pension plan investment expense,
including inflation
50 years

Omitted years: GASB Statement No. 68 was implemented during the year ended June 30, 2015, thus information prior to this date
was not presented.
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SCHEDULE OF FUNDING PROGRESS OF THE
OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS PLAN (UNAUDITED)

Actuarial
Value of
Assets
(a)

Actuarial
Valuation Date
July 1, 2011
July 1, 2014

$

-

Actuarial
Accrued
Liability
(AAL) - Entry
Age
(b)

Unfunded
AAL (UAAL)
(b-a)

Funded
Ratio
(b/a)

Covered
Payroll
(c)

UAAL as a
Percentage of
Covered
Payroll
((b-a)/c)

$ 2,338,710
2,562,710

$ 2,338,710
2,562,710

0.00%
0.00%

$ 1,521,836
1,579,510

153.68%
162.25%
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MEMO
TO:

Board of Directors

FROM:

Management Staff

DATE:

October 6, 2017

RE:

Employee Growth Recognition and Retention

AGENDA ITEM 13

SUMMARY
In light of the changes that have taken place at the District over the last year with staffing, management
staff has been assessing our succession and retention planning efforts. It is imperative that the District
attract and retain educated, experienced, and motivated employees. In order for the District to retain these
employees, we must invest in them with mentoring, training, educational reimbursement, competitive
wages and benefits, and growth opportunities. It is encouraging to see that we have employees that are
making investments in their futures and we want to cultivate that excitement with this wave of newer
hires to retain our investment for the future.
STRUCTURE
One area for growth is in our Public Information class. Creation of a Communications Specialist position
allows for expanded responsibilities encompassing the communications (media) platforms, outreach, and
board and administrative support responsibilities of the District. Having a change in the position
structure to add a Communications Specialist position allows for transition and progression as well as for
future growth within the classification. Public Information staff can effectively advance and succeed
through additional training, education and experience with the District.
This new position allows for advancement opportunity for the Public Information Assistant position. The
newly created position within the salary range below also allows the District more flexibility for job
placement within the class during future hiring processes depending on assessed need. There will be no
impact to the District staffing level at this time as a result of the new position. The proposed salary bands
for the position incorporate District policy standard salary survey results and requirements applicable to
the individual position and requires Board approval of the proposed salary band.
NON-EXEMPT POSITION
Annual Range
Title
Minimum
Maximum
Communications Specialist
43,680
53,102

Recommendation:
Management staff recommends that the Board of Directors approves:
a. the FY 2017-2018 addition of the Communications Specialist position; and
b. adoption of the FY 2017-2018 published salary band for the list above.
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AGENDA ITEM 14

AGENDA ITEM 15

DATE:

September 27, 2017

TO:

Independent Special Districts

SUBJECT:

Nominations for Membership on SDAC

You are cordially invited to nominate a Member of your Board to join the Special District Advisory
Committee (SDAC). The purpose of the Committee is to provide Sacramento LAFCo with input on
issues related to Special Districts, as well as to receive information on issues before the Commission.
The SDAC membership of seventeen is composed of the two LAFCo Special District Commissioners,
and the Alternate Special District Commissioner, and representatives from recreation and park, fire,
water, flood control, cemetery and other types of special districts. SDAC members serve 2 year terms
without compensation. There will be seven (7) vacant seats for Office “A” (1/18 - 12/19) on the
Committee. New members will be selected by the SDAC Sub-committee on Membership from the pool
of nominees provided by the Special Districts, subject to confirmation by the Commission.
SDAC meetings are held quarterly on the fifth Tuesday, or as needed. The SDAC meets at 7 PM @
County Administration Center (700 H Street) Sacramento, in Hearing Room #2.
A nomination form is attached. If you wish to nominate a member of your Board, please complete the
form and return it to me no later than Monday, November 20, 2017.
Please feel free to contact me by email or phone if you have questions about this process.
Sincerely,
SACRAMENTO LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION

Donald J. Lockhart, AICP
Executive Officer
(916) 874-6458
Donald.Lockhart@SacLAFCo.org

Enclosure:

Nomination Form

Donald J. Lockhart AICP, Executive Officer; Diane Thorpe, Commission Clerk
www.saclafco.org

SPECIAL DISTRICT ADVISORY COMMITTEE
Nomination Form
Recommendation to the SDAC Selection Committee
In accordance with the bylaws of the Special District Advisory Committee, the
Governing Board of the ________________________________________ District
nominates ____________________________________________(Board Member)
Mobile#_______________________ for the following position on the SDAC:
Office “A” -two year term (ends 12/31/19)

Signature: ____________________________
Board Chairperson
Date: _________________________________
ATTEST:
______________________________
District Manager or District Secretary
______________________________
Please print e-mail address
Please attach resume of Nominee with CONTACT INFORMATION.
Please send completed nominations to:

Donald J. Lockhart, AICP, Executive Officer.
Sacramento LAFCo
1112 “I” Street; Suite 100
Sacramento CA 95814
Donald.Lockhart@SacLAFCo.org
Donald J. Lockhart AICP, Executive Officer; Diane Thorpe, Commission Clerk
www.saclafco.org
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MEMORANDUM
TO:

ACWA Members: General Managers and Board Presidents

CC:

ACWA Board of Directors

FROM:

Timothy Quinn, ACWA Executive Director

DATE:

October 11, 2017

SUBJECT:

General Session Membership Meeting at ACWA 2017 Fall Conference

There will be a General Session Membership Meeting at the 2017 Fall Conference in Anaheim, California,
on Wednesday, November 29. The meeting will be held in the Platinum Ballroom 1-6, Marriott Anaheim,
at 1:20 p.m. The purpose of the meeting is to formally nominate and elect ACWA’s President and Vice
President for the 2018-2019 term and to conduct a vote by the membership on proposed amendments
to ACWA’s Bylaws as recommended by the Board of Directors at its meeting on September 29, 2017.

Election of President/Vice President
The ACWA Nominating Committee has announced a 2018-2019 slate that recommends current Vice
President Brent Hastey for ACWA President and current Federal Affairs Committee Chair Steven LaMar
for ACWA Vice President. As provided by ACWA’s Bylaws (Article 9, Section 9) nominations from the
floor will be accepted prior to the vote. Such nominations and seconds must be supported by a resolution of the governing body of the member agency making and seconding such nomination. (See
attached for General Session/Election Procedures.)

Proposed Amendments to ACWA’s Bylaws
As part of the ongoing efforts to ensure ACWA’s Bylaws are current and reflect consistency with other
governance documents and daily operations, the Board of Directors is recommending several
amendments to the bylaws for consideration by the membership. A Legal Affairs Committee (LAC)
Workgroup reviewed the proposed amendments and provided an analysis pursuant to ACWA’s Bylaws
(Article 9, Section 8).
Following is a list of the proposed amendments to the bylaws along with the rational for the change and
the LAC Workgroup’s analysis.
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Article 7 – Standing Committees
1. Section 4. Committee Composition. Each limited standing committee shall have a membership
composition that is comprised of members in the quantity and with qualifications as defined by the
provisions of these bylaws. The committee chair position shall not be included in the maximum
count for determining the committee composition total of any given limited committee. The
committee chair shall, however, be a voting member of their respective committee subject to the
rules and procedures of each committee.
Rationale: Staff is recommending this amendment to the bylaws to allow the President
flexibility in appointing members to limited standing committees and to provide an odd
number committee composition total.
LAC Workgroup Analysis: The proposed revision is clear and meets its intended purpose.
2. Committee Composition Terms in Sections 5 through 17.
Rationale. Staff noted that the use of the term “individual” versus “representative”
(and one instance of “member”) was inconsistent throughout the committee
composition description for each of the standing committees in Article 7. Staff asked the
LAC Workgroup to review Section 1, Qualifications, as well as each of the committee
descriptions to make a determination as to which term best applies for all of the
committees for purposes of consistency throughout Article 7.
LAC Workgroup Analysis: Reading of the various ACWA committee sections suggests
that “Member” would be the most appropriate word for consistency throughout the
bylaws. However, the use of a single term, may require some minor revisions to
surrounding text for clarity (for an example see Section 15 (State Legislative Committee)
where “member” is separately used to denote a “member agency” and so would need
to state “member-agency” consistently to accommodate the more general use of
“member” throughout the bylaws).
Staff Response: Staff revised the terms in the committee section descriptions (Sections
5 through 17) to “member” for consistency and the surrounding language where
needed in response to the LAC Workgroup’s analysis. (See attached bylaws for
proposed amendments to these sections.)
3. Section 5. Agriculture Committee. There shall be an Agriculture Committee whose duty it shall be to
recommend Association policy, positions and programs to the Board of Directors, State Legislative
Committee, Federal Affairs Committee or other committees, as appropriate, regarding agricultural
issues affecting the interests of ACWA and its members. The committee shall consist of at least one
member from each region.
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Rationale: The 2016-2017 Business and Strategic Plan initiative to increase involvement
and engagement from ACWA’s agricultural members has successfully generated
momentum amongst ACWA’s agricultural members and a renewed attention to and
involvement in key policy issues that uniquely affect agricultural water suppliers. Amidst
this success, a concern has arisen that the momentum could be lost once the Board of
Directors finishes its current term and the initiative sunsets. This concern has sparked
the suggestion that ACWA should consider creating an Agriculture Committee as the
thirteenth standing committee of the Association to continue the objectives of the Ag
Initiative long-term.
LAC Workgroup Analysis: The proposed revision is clean and meets its intended
purpose.
4. Section 12. Legal Affairs Committee. There shall be a Legal Affairs Committee whose duty it shall be
to support the mission of the Association, and more particularly to deal with requests for assistance
involving legal matters of significance to members of the Association agencies, including but not
limited to state and federal court litigation, water rights matters, selected regulatory and resources
agency matters, proposed bylaw revisions, review of legislation as requested by the State Legislative
Committee, etc. The committee shall consider matters and issues submitted to it in order to
determine which ones are of major significance to the members of the Association agencies and,
assuming a finding of major significance, recommend to the Board of Directors the position(s) which
the committee believes the Association should take with respect thereto. The committee shall be
composed of between 35 34 and 45 44 attorneys, each of whom shall be a member of the California
Bar and shall be, or act as, counsel for a member of the Association agency, representing diverse
interests within the Association, including but not limited to, different geographical areas
throughout the state, large and small agencies, agricultural and urban agencies, agencies created
under the various enabling statutes, etc. Further, there shall be at least one representative from
each region on the committee. The committee shall consist of a least one member from each region.
Rationale: Change the committee composition range so there is a resulting odd number total
when the chair is added.
LAC Workgroup Analysis: Considered together with the general change in Section 4, Committee
Composition, above, this change accomplishes its purposes and maintains the current overall
LAC membership numbers.

Article 9 – Meeting of Members
5. Section 8. Amendments, Revisions, and Resolutions. Before any amendments or revisions to the
bylaws, or resolutions, may be considered at any meeting of the Association, any such amendment,
revision, or resolution shall be submitted to the executive director/secretary at least 30 90 days
prior to the first day of such meeting. The executive director/secretary shall promptly distribute any
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proposed amendments or revisions to the Legal Affairs Committee for the Legal Affairs Committee
to develop an unbiased analysis of the amendments or revisions. Following development of an
analysis for the proposed amendments or revisions, the executive director/secretary shall distribute
copies of any resolutions, amendments or revisions, including any applicable analyses, to all
members of the Association at least five not less than 10 days or more than 90 days prior to
presentation at such meeting. The written notice of the membership meeting shall be given to each
voting member of the Association consistent with the provisions defined in Section 3. The 30 90-day
rule may be suspended at any meeting of the Association by consent of three-fourths of the
members present. Voting on resolutions, amendments, or revisions shall proceed as provided by
Sections 3 5 and 4 6 of this Article.
Rationale: Staff recommended that the deadline for submitting requests for amendments,
revisions, and resolutions be changed from 30 to 120 days prior to any membership meeting to
provide the Legal Affairs Committee sufficient time to review and develop the required analysis
and for staff to provide adequate notice to the members as set forth in Article 9, Sections 3 and
4 of the bylaws. Note: Staff typically notifies ACWA members at least 45 days prior to a given
membership meeting to allow the member agency boards adequate time to designate their
authorized voting representative.
LAC Workgroup Analysis: This proposed revision is clear and meets its intended purpose.
However, workgroup members did express some concern that the 120-day submission
requirement may unduly limit the Association’s ability to quickly respond to state or federal
legislative or administrative acts appropriately. A supermajority of the Association may vote to
suspend the requirement, however, it may be advisable to require only 90-days for submission
while retaining the general Association distribution timing of no later than 10-days and no
earlier than 90-days prior to presentation at an Association meeting.
Staff Response: Staff revised the proposed amendment to state 90 days instead of 120 days in
response to the LAC Workgroup’s analysis.
The Board of Directors recommends adoption of the proposed amendments to ACWA’s Bylaws through
a vote of the membership.
Webinar on Proposed Amendments to Bylaws
ACWA staff is hosting a webinar on Tuesday, November 7, at 10:00 a.m. in advance of the membership
meeting to answer any questions members may have pertaining to the proposed amendments to the
bylaws. Please register for the webinar at the link listed below:
Please register for Bylaws Webinar on Nov 07, 2017 10:00 AM PST at:
https://attendee.gotowebinar.com/register/18153322847132675
After registering, you will receive a confirmation email containing information about joining the
webinar.
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Membership Voting Process
ACWA will issue each member agency present one proxy card for voting purposes based on the
designated voting representative identified by the member agency on the proxy designation form. The
designated voting representative is required to register and sign as the proxy holder to receive the proxy
card. Proxy cards will only be available for pick-up on Wednesday, November 29, between 9:00 a.m.
and 12:00 p.m. at the ACWA General Session Desk in the main foyer outside of the Marquis Ballroom
Center, Marriott Anaheim. The luncheon and General Session Membership Meeting will be held in the
Platinum Ballroom 1-6.
To expedite the sign-in process at the ACWA General Session Desk, please indicate your voting delegate
on the enclosed proxy designation form and return it by email (donnap@acwa.com) or fax
(916-325-4857) at your earliest convenience prior to conference. If there is a last minute change of
delegate, please let us know before the meeting date by contacting ACWA’s Clerk of the Board,
Donna Pangborn, at 916-441-4545 or donnap@acwa.com.
If you have any questions regarding this process, please contact Clerk of the Board Donna Pangborn at
the ACWA office at 916-441-4545 or donnap@acwa.com.
dgp
Enclosures:
1. General Session/Election Procedures
2. Proposed ACWA Bylaws Amendments – Redline Version
3. Proxy Designation Form

GENERAL SESSION/ELECTION PROCEDURES FOR ACWA 2017 FALL CONFERENCE
The following information is provided to inform the ACWA member agency delegates attending the 2017 Fall Conference of
the procedures to be used pertaining to the nomination and election of ACWA officers and the vote by the membership on
proposed amendments to the bylaws during the General Session Membership Meeting.

PROXY CARDS – (REQUIRED FOR VOTING)
ACWA will issue each member agency present one proxy card for voting purposes based on the designated voting
representative identified by the member agency. In order to vote during the General Session Membership Meeting, the
designated voting representative is required to register and sign as the proxy holder by 12:00 p.m. on Wednesday,
November 29. Upon registration and sign-in, the voting delegate will receive the required proxy cards. Proxy cards will be
available for pick-up on Wednesday, November 29, between 9:00 a.m. and 12:00 p.m. at the ACWA General Session Desk
in the main foyer outside of the Marquis Ballroom Center, Marriott Anaheim. The luncheon and General Session
Membership Meeting will be held in the Platinum Ballroom 1-6.

GENERAL SESSION MEMBERSHIP MEETING, WEDNESDAY, NOV. 29 (DOORS OPEN AT 1:05 P.M.)
1.

The General Session Membership Meeting will be called to order at 1:20 p.m. and a quorum will be determined. The
presence of 50 authorized voting representatives is required to establish a quorum for transacting business.

2.

Legal Affairs Committee Chair Jeni Buckman will provide an overview of the agenda and election procedures.

3.

Nominating Committee Chair John Coleman will present the committee’s report and announce the candidate for ACWA
President.

4.

President Kathy Tiegs will call for floor nominations for ACWA President.

5.

If there are no floor nominations for President, the election will proceed. President Tiegs will close the nominations and
delegates will vote by holding up their “Yes” or “No” proxy voting cards.

6.

If there are floor nominations for President, the nomination will follow the procedures established by Article 9 of
ACWA’s Bylaws, stating floor nominations and seconds must be supported by a resolution of the governing body of the
member agency making and seconding such nomination. Note: If there are floor nominations, the election of officers
will proceed during Wednesday’s General Session as outlined below and the proposed bylaws amendments will
move to the Thursday General Session Membership Meeting as outlined in item 12 below.
a.

Ballots will be distributed to the voting delegates.

b.

Delegates will complete their ballots and place them in the ballot box, which will be centrally located in the
Platinum Ballroom 1-6 meeting room.

c.

Tellers’ Committee will count the ballots. President Tiegs has appointed the following staff members to serve as the
Tellers’ Committee: Clerk of the Board Donna Pangborn; Director, Business Development & Events Paula Currie; and
Executive Assistant Lili Vogelsang.

d.

Legal Affairs Committee Chair Jeni Buckman will serve as the proctor to oversee the ballot counting process.

e.

Candidates are welcome to designate an observer to be present during the ballot counting process.

f.

Results of the ballot count will be announced. Election of ACWA’s officers will be determined by a majority of the
members present and voting. If any one candidate does not receive a majority of the vote, successive ballot counts
will be conducted until a candidate is elected, consistent with Robert’s Rules of Order.
 next page

7.

Nominating Committee Chair John Coleman will announce the candidate for ACWA Vice President.

8.

President Kathy Tiegs will call for floor nominations for ACWA Vice President.

9.

If there are no floor nominations for Vice President, the election will proceed. President Tiegs will close the
nominations and delegates will vote by holding up their “Yes” or “No” proxy voting cards.

10. If there are floor nominations for Vice President, the nominations will follow the procedures described in item 6 above,
and the election will proceed according to the steps outlined in 6.a. through 6.f.

IF THERE ARE NO FLOOR NOMINATIONS FOR THE ELECTION OF OFFICERS, THE WEDNESDAY
GENERAL SESSION MEMBERSHIP MEETING WILL PROCEED WITH A VOTE ON THE PROPOSED
AMENDMENTS TO THE BYLAWS.
11. Legal Affairs Committee Chair Jeni Buckman will provide an overview of the proposed amendments to the bylaws.
a.

Consideration of amendments to the bylaws.

b.

Request for motion / second from the floor to approve the proposed amendments to the bylaws.

c.

Discussion of proposed amendments.

d.

Opportunity for members to offer changes to proposed amendments to the bylaws. Any proposed changes to the
bylaw amendments as currently proposed require a majority vote of the voting members present.

e.

Call for the question. A two-thirds vote of the members present and voting is required to amend the ACWA Bylaws.

IF THERE ARE FLOOR NOMINATIONS FOR THE ELECTION OF OFFICERS, THE OVERVIEW AND VOTE
ON THE PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO THE BYLAWS WILL BE TAKEN UP AT THE GENERAL SESSION
MEMBERSHIP MEETING ON THURSDAY AS FOLLOWS.
12. The vote by the membership on the proposed amendments to the bylaws will occur at the Thursday, General Session
Membership Meeting, at the Platinum Ballroom 1-6, Anaheim Marriott, at 1:20 p.m.
a.

The General Session Membership Meeting will be called to order at 1:20 p.m. and a quorum will be determined.
The presence of 50 formally designated voting representatives is required to establish a quorum for transacting
business.

b.

Legal Affairs Committee Chair Jeni Buckman will provide an overview of the proposed bylaws amendments.

c.

The meeting will proceed according to the steps outlined 11.a. through 11.e. above.

Rev: 9/26/17
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BYLAWS OF THE
ASSOCIATION OF CALIFORNIA WATER AGENCIES
(As amended by the Members on December 2, 2015)

ARTICLE 1 – GENERAL
Section 1. Name. The name of this California nonprofit corporation shall be the Association of California
Water Agencies (hereinafter referred to as the Association).
Section 2. Principal Office. The principal office for the transaction of business of the Association is
located at 910 K Street, Suite 100, Sacramento, California; provided, however, that the Board of
Directors may change the location of the principal office by resolution and without amendment of these
bylaws.
Section 3. Purposes. The purposes of the Association shall be to work together with its members and
others for the best interests of California and its citizens and landowners who use, need and depend
upon water; to encourage the orderly development of the waters of the state; to seek means of
obtaining and making available to all of California a dependable water supply of the best possible quality
at the lowest possible cost, giving due consideration to environmental factors involved therein; to
provide inspiration and leadership in meeting and solving the water supply problems of this state; to
propose and advocate such policies and measures—local, state and federal—that serve the best
interests of the Association, opposing those of contrary nature; to assist in promoting the health, safety
and welfare of the employees of its members; and to do all other things that are in the best interests of
its members.
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ARTICLE 2 – MEMBERSHIP AND DUES
Section 1. Membership.
A. Members. Only a public district, public agency, or public organization created and operated for
the purpose of controlling, treating, developing, acquiring, using or supplying water for any
purpose for inhabitants or lands within the state of California, or for the protection, drainage or
reclamation of lands within the state of California, may become a member of the Association.
Such an entity will become a member upon written application, approval by the Board of
Directors, and the payment of the required dues. Acceptance to membership shall authorize full
participation in Association activities. Except as otherwise provided in subsection (B) below, in
no case may an organization other than a state, a political subdivision (as defined in § 1.103-1(b)
of the Income Tax Regulations) of a state or an entity the income of which is excluded from
gross income under § 115 of the Internal Revenue Code be a member of the Association.
B. Honorary Life Members. Any person who has rendered conspicuous service in furthering the
purposes of the Association may, by vote of the Board of Directors, be granted an honorary life
membership in the Association without payment of dues or assessments. All past presidents of
the Association shall automatically be honorary life members without vote of the Board of
Directors. Honorary life members shall not be entitled to a vote or to hold office automatically
because of their status as honorary life members.
C. Termination of Members. Membership shall cease upon the failure of any member to pay the
dues provided for in Section 2 of this Article. The membership of any member may be
terminated at any time by such member sending written notification of its intention to withdraw
to the Association’s principal office. The Board of Directors may terminate the membership of
any member upon 30 days’ written notice by first-class mail when it is determined at any regular
Board meeting or at any special Board meeting called for that purpose that continuance of such
membership would not be in the best interests of the Association. Withdrawal or termination of
membership ends any participation in Association activities and shall terminate a member’s
interest in the Association’s assets.
Section 2. Dues. The annual dues of each member of the Association shall be established by the Board
of Directors; provided, however, that any member may apply for a change in its dues because of
conditions that differentiate such applicant from other members.
Section 3. Liability of Members. No member shall be liable for any obligation incurred by the
Association with the following exception: (1) the payment of the annual dues while it remains a
member; and (2) the payment of emergency assessments, which shall not exceed 10 percent of current
annual dues for each member in any calendar year while it remains a member. No emergency
assessment may be levied against any member during its first two years of membership in the
Association.
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ARTICLE 3 – OFFICERS
Section 1. President and Vice President.
A. General. The president and vice president of the Association shall be the elected officers of the
Association. At the time of their election the president and vice president shall each be an
elected or appointed member of the governing body or commission (as appropriate) of a
member agency of the Association. The president and vice president shall be elected by the
members of the Association at its fall conference in each odd-numbered year, shall take office
on January 1 of the calendar year following election, and shall hold office until such time as their
successors take office or are appointed. An elected president shall not be permitted to succeed
himself/herself to that office. Except as provided in this Article, should vacancies occur in either
office of the president or vice president, the Board of Directors shall appoint persons to fill such
offices for the unexpired terms thereof.
B. President. The president shall preside at all meetings of the Board of Directors, the Executive
Committee, and the general membership; shall appoint members of all committees, including
the chair and vice chair of each, upon recommendation from members and regions (as
communicated by the region chairs), with each such committee chair and vice chair ratified by
the Board of Directors; and shall perform all other duties necessary to carry out the functions of
the office. The president shall be a non-voting ex officio member of each committee, but shall
not be an ex officio member of the Nominating Committee or the region boards.
The president may be expelled from office with or without cause, upon the satisfaction of the
following two events: (1) a two-thirds vote of the Board of Directors; and (2) a subsequent
simple majority vote of the members of the Association during a meeting of the membership.
C. Vice President. The vice president shall, in the absence of the president, assume all of the duties
of that office and, if a vacancy occurs, succeed thereto for the unexpired term. The vice
president shall sit as a member of the Executive Committee of the ACWA Joint Powers Insurance
Authority and shall perform such other duties as assigned by the president.
Section 2. Executive Director/Secretary and Controller/Treasurer.
A. General. The executive director/secretary and controller/treasurer of the Association shall also
be officers of the Association. The executive director/secretary shall be appointed by and hold
office at the pleasure of the Board of Directors of the Association.
B. Executive Director/Secretary. The executive director/secretary shall: (1) advise and assist the
Board of Directors, all committees, the boards of each region, and the workgroups of each
region; (2) be responsible for administering the total operations of the Association; (3) employ,
direct, and release all employed staff in accordance with the policies adopted by the Board of
Directors and consistent with the budget adopted by the Board of Directors; (4) provide relevant
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information to the Board of Directors needed by the Board to take actions; (5) give members
notice and record minutes of all meetings of the membership, Board of Directors, and Executive
Committee; and (6) have such other powers and perform such other duties as may be provided
and assigned by the Board of Directors directly or through the president of the Board or the
Executive Committee. The executive director/secretary, with the assistance of the
controller/treasurer, shall render a report to the Board of Directors at the first meeting
following the close of each calendar year showing the membership of the Association, the
receipts and expenditures during the year, and the work accomplished during the previous year.
C. Controller/Treasurer. The controller/treasurer shall report to and act under the direction of the
executive director/secretary. The controller/treasurer shall be a signatory on all accounts held
by the Association and shall act as a fiduciary for all assets of the Association.

ARTICLE 4 – BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Section 1. Membership. The Board of Directors shall consist of:
A. The Association president and vice president.
B. The chair and vice chair of each region.
C. The chair of each standing committee.
D. The most immediate active past president.
E. The vice president of the ACWA/Joint Powers Insurance Authority.
Section 2. Term of Office. The term of office of all members of the Board of Directors shall commence
on January 1 of the calendar year following election of the president and vice president, except for those
persons who serve on the Board of Directors by nature of their position as chairs of standing
committees, whose terms shall instead commence upon their ratification by the Board of Directors.
Except as provided in Article 4, Section 11, the term of office for all members of the Board of Directors
shall terminate on December 31 of the following odd-numbered year two years later, or until their
successors take office.
Section 3. Attendance Requirement. Any member of the Board of Directors who misses two
consecutive regular Board meetings without being excused by the Board will no longer be a member of
the Board of Directors.
Section 4. Regular Meetings. Regular meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held bimonthly at such
times and places as the Board may determine.
Section 5. Special Meetings. Special meetings may be called by the president upon the president’s own
volition or shall be called by the president when requested in writing by five directors. Prior to
conducting such a special meeting, the president shall consult with the Executive Committee to ensure
As amended by the ACWA Members on December 2, 2015
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that adequate information is available to the Board of Directors for any necessary decisions; and where
such meeting is called upon the president’s own volition, the president shall also consult with the
Executive Committee as to the necessity of the special meeting. Notice for special meetings shall be
provided in the following manner: (1) upon 10 days’ written notice sent by mail to each director and
addressed to each at the address as shown upon the records of the Association; or (2) upon 48 hours’
notice with notice provided by electronic means. When the meeting is called upon the president’s own
volition, the president shall choose the form of notice; when the meeting is called by a request of five
directors, the five directors shall choose the form of notice and the president shall promptly call the
meeting. No business except those items described in the notice shall be transacted at any special
meeting, except by consent of three-fourths of the members of the Board of Directors present.
Section 6. Meeting Requirements and Quorums. Any meeting, regular or special, may be held in person
or by telephone conference, web video conference, or other electronic video screen communication or
electronic transmission. At any meeting of the Board of Directors, the attendance of 50 percent of the
voting members of the Board of Directors, or their permitted alternates as specified in these bylaws,
shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of any business. The Board may hold a closed session for
discussion of personnel matters or enforcement of violations of the code of conduct.
Section 7. Alternates. Each region shall designate an alternate for each chair and vice chair, who shall
meet the qualification requirements for chair and vice chair, to act at meetings of the Board of Directors
when the chair or vice chair is unable to attend. The vice chair of each standing committee will be the
alternate to act at meetings of the Board of Directors when the chair is unable to attend. An alternate
may not act or vote on behalf of more than one member of the Board of Directors. A member of the
Board of Directors may not act as an alternate for any other member.
Section 8. Vacancies for Standing Committee Chairs and Vice Chairs. Should a vacancy occur in the
office of any standing committee chair or vice chair before the end of the term, the president shall
appoint a new committee chair or vice chair to fulfill the unexpired term of such committee chair or vice
chair subject to ratification by the Board of Directors. A vacancy in the office of any such standing
committee chair or vice chair as described in the previous sentence shall be deemed to exist when the
chair or vice chair: (1) resigns the office; (2) no longer is an officer, employee, or member of the
governing body of a member agency of the Association, or other representative duly designated by a
member agency of the Association to represent that member; or (3) is otherwise removed by a member
agency of the Association.
Section 9. Duties, Authorities, and Delegation. Subject to the provisions and limitations of California
Nonprofit Corporation Law, other applicable laws, and the provisions of these bylaws, the Association’s
activities and affairs are to be exercised by or under the direction of the Association’s Board of Directors.
The Board of Directors is responsible for the overall supervision, control, and direction of the
Association. The Board of Directors shall: (1) employ and release the executive director/secretary; (2) set
performance expectations for the executive director/secretary; (3) receive, review, and consider
approval of executive director/secretary recommended compensation, other terms and conditions of
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employment, and annual evaluations as prepared by the Executive Committee; (4) annually adopt a
budget; and (5) set the level of dues for the Association. Except as to the duties listed in the previous
sentence, and subject to Article 3, Section 2, the Board of Directors may delegate the supervision,
control, and direction of the Association’s affairs to any person or group, including a committee,
provided the Association Board retains ultimate responsibility for the actions of such person or group.
Where such powers are delegated, the delegation shall be documented in writing.
Section 10. Immediate Past President. The immediate past president automatically assumes this
position after serving as the Association’s elected president and is a voting member of the Board of
Directors and Executive Committee. The term of office for the immediate past president shall
commence on January 1 of the calendar year following election of the president and vice president and
shall terminate on December 31 of the following odd-numbered year two years later. In the event the
most immediate active past president is unavailable to serve, the most recent and available active past
president in succession shall serve in this capacity.
Section 11. Code of Conduct of Board Members.
A. Code of Conduct: Purpose and Adoption. The Board of Directors shall establish, and update as
appropriate, a code of conduct for its Directors that recognizes the Association’s commitment of
integrity, respect, and fair representation to its members and the public they serve and
establishes minimum ethical standards for the performance of the duties of office. The code
shall be consistent with the procedural processes contained in this section. The code shall be
distributed to all new Directors and shall be distributed annually to all members of the
Association.
B. Violations and Enforcement Process. A violation of the code of conduct may result in removal,
public censure, or private reprimand of a Director, or such other action as contained in the code
of conduct. However, removal and public censure shall be reserved only for serious violations. A
Director may not be removed or publically censured absent an affirmative vote of two-thirds of
the voting members of the Board of Directors. A Director may be privately reprimanded for a
violation of the code of conduct upon the majority vote of the quorum. Complaints of violation
of the code of conduct may be filed with the president, or the vice-president if the allegations
are made against the president. The president may refer a complaint of violation to the
executive director/secretary for investigation. The executive director/secretary may retain a
special investigator or special counsel to conduct or assist the investigation. A Director accused
of a violation shall be provided a copy of the complaint. A Director that takes any hostile or
retaliatory action, directly or indirectly, against a complainant is subject to removal from the
Board in conformance with the process identified above. Prior to scheduling a Board action on a
complaint, the president shall consult with the Executive Committee and the chair of the Legal
Affairs Committee. A Director accused of a violation of the code of conduct shall be provided at
least 15 days’ written notice of any meeting of the Board at which a determination of
enforcement will be considered. A determination of enforcement may be made only at a regular
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meeting of the Board and shall be made in closed session. The determinations of the Board
under this section shall not be admissible in any criminal or civil proceeding brought against the
Director for conduct that violates any other law.

ARTICLE 5 – REGIONS
Section 1. Boundaries of Each Region.
A. There shall be a maximum of 10 regions within the state. The Board of Directors shall determine
the regional boundaries. Insofar as is practicable, the regions shall have a numerical balance in
members of the Association; make geographic sense; and promote regional problem solving.
B. A member of the Association may file a written petition to the Board of Directors requesting a
change in regions. Such petition shall set forth the reasons for such requested change. The
Board shall, within a reasonable time, act upon such petition and set forth the reasons for its
action. Such action by the Board shall be based on factors in (A) above, as well as others deemed
by the Board of Directors to be relevant to the decision.
Section 2. Officers.
A. The officers of each region shall be a chair and vice chair and three to five region board
members who shall be elected by the region by September 30, or the preceding Friday if
September 30 falls on a weekend, of odd-numbered years. A region may maintain a board of
fewer than five but not less than three members as provided in the region’s rules and
regulations. The officers of the region board shall take office on January 1 of the calendar year
following election and shall hold office for two years, or until their successors take office.
Regions shall hold elections by electronic ballot. ACWA staff shall verify the legitimacy of the
ballots.
B. The officers of each region shall: (1) exercise the powers and perform duties of the region during
the interim between region meetings; and (2) make recommendations to the president
regarding appointments to committees. The chair and vice chair shall be the region’s
representatives to the ACWA Board of Directors.
C. Each officer of a region shall be an officer, employee, or member of the governing body of a
member agency of the Association, or other representative duly designated by a member
agency of the Association to represent that member at the time of the appointment. Where an
individual ceases to meet these criteria during the term of the office, the individual may not
serve during the remaining term of that office unless that individual can again meet the criteria
for the office and is appointed to complete the term. The region board may adopt more
stringent criteria for board member qualifications as part of the region’s rules and regulations.
D. Should a vacancy occur in any of the region board positions before the end of the term, the
remaining members of the region board shall appoint a new member. A vacancy in the office of
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any region board position shall be deemed to exist when a region board member: (1) resigns the
office; (2) no longer is an officer, employee, or member of the governing body of a member
agency of the Association, or other representative duly designated by a member of the
Association to represent that member; or (3) is otherwise removed by a member agency of the
Association.
Section 3. Nominating Committees. There shall be a nominating committee for each region consisting
of three or more designees, each representing a member of the Association located within the region,
appointed by the chair of the region and approved by the region board. Nominating committees shall be
formed by February 28 of each odd-numbered year. The nominating committee shall announce its
nominations for chair, vice chair, and region board members by August 1 of an election year. All regions
must complete the election process by September 30 of the election year, or the preceding Friday if the
September 30 falls on a weekend.
Section 4. Meetings. The meetings of each region shall be held at both the spring and fall conferences
and at such other times and places as may be determined by the region chair. Representatives of five or
more members of the Association from the region present at any region meeting shall constitute a
quorum for purposes of conducting the business of the region. Any meeting, regular or special, may be
held in person or by telephone conference, web video conference, or other electronic video screen
communication or electronic transmission.
Section 5. Workgroups. Workgroups may be appointed by the region chair as needed.
Section 6. Rules. Each region shall organize and adopt rules and regulations for the conduct of its
meetings and affairs not inconsistent with the Articles of Incorporation or bylaws of the Association.
Each region shall abide by the code of conduct adopted by the Board of Directors of the Association.

ARTICLE 6 – EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
Section 1. Membership. There shall be an Executive Committee consisting of the following: the
president of the Association, who shall be the chair thereof; the vice president; the most immediate
active past president; the chair of the Finance Committee; and three at-large representatives selected
from and by the members of the Board of Directors. The election of the three at-large representatives to
the Executive Committee shall occur at the first Board of Directors meeting held in each even-numbered
year and the elected representatives shall serve immediately following their election and until such time
as their successors take office. To the extent practical, the Executive Committee should be constituted
so as to reflect the geographic extent of the Association and the functions of the members of the
Association.
Section 2. Powers. The Executive Committee shall have the following authority:
A. Personnel. Subject to the budget adopted by the Board of Directors, the Executive Committee
shall perform the following personnel actions: (1) recommend compensation for the executive
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director/secretary to the Board of Directors for approval; (2) perform annual reviews of the
executive director/secretary and submit that review to the Board of Directors; (3) review and
approve the classification and compensation plan and publicly posted salary schedule for
Association employees submitted by the executive director/secretary, which shall be reviewable
by the Board of Directors, in closed session, upon request of the Board of Directors; (4) establish
personnel policies for the conduct and behavior of employees, which shall be reviewable by the
Board of Directors; and (5) undertake such other personnel actions as may be requested by the
executive director/secretary in support of his or her oversight of all other personnel matters,
which shall be reviewable by the Board of Directors, in closed session, upon request of the
Board of Directors.
B. Delegation. The Executive Committee may act pursuant to any authority specifically delegated
to it by the Board of Directors. The delegation shall indicate whether the authority is still subject
to the ultimate authority of the Board.
C. Authority to Act Between Meetings. The Executive Committee may act for the Board of
Directors between Board meetings when calling a special meeting of the Board of Directors is
impracticable, provided that no such action of the Executive Committee shall be binding on the
Board of Directors until authorized or approved by the Board. The Executive Committee has the
authority to authorize actions recommended by the Legal Affairs Committee (such as the filing
of letter briefs and amicus curiae briefs) by electronic means without the need for an in-person
or telephonic meeting, but such actions shall be ratified by the Board of Directors at its next
meeting.
Section 3. Reporting. The president, or any person designated by the president, shall report to the
Board of Directors, at each regular Board meeting, any action taken by the Executive Committee since
the last preceding regular Board meeting. The minutes of Executive Committee meetings, which at that
time may still be in draft form, shall be mailed (using the U.S. Postal Service, express delivery, electronic
means, or otherwise) to each member of the Board of Directors at least five days prior to Board
meetings, except in cases in which the Executive Committee meets during or immediately prior to a
conference of the Association or immediately prior to a Board meeting, in which case the minutes,
which may still be in draft form, shall be mailed to each director promptly thereafter.
Section 4. Meetings. The Executive Committee shall hold regularly scheduled meetings as set by the
president. Special meetings of the Executive Committee may be called by the president upon notice to
the members of that committee or upon written request of three Executive Committee members.
Notice for special Executive Committee meetings shall be provided to the entire Board: (1) upon five
days’ written notice sent by mail, or (2) upon 24 hours’ notice with notice provided by electronic means;
and all such meetings shall be open to the Board of Directors. Any meeting, regular or special, may be
held in person or by telephone conference, web video conference or other electronic video screen
communication or electronic transmission. All members of the Board of Directors may attend any
meeting of the Executive Committee. Meetings of the Executive Committee may be closed to others at
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the discretion of the President or committee. Only members of the Executive Committee are allowed to
vote on matters at a meeting of the committee.
Section 5. Minutes. The minutes of the Executive Committee meetings shall be kept by the executive
director/secretary at the Association’s principal office. Actions of the Executive Committee shall be
reported to the Board of Directors as provided in Section 3 of this Article and shall be available to any
member of the Board of Directors upon request to the executive director/secretary.

ARTICLE 7 – STANDING COMMITTEES
Section 1. Qualification. In order to serve on any ACWA standing committee, an individual must be an
officer, employee, or member of the governing body of a member agency of the Association, or other
representative duly designated by a member agency of the Association to represent that member at the
time of the appointment. Where an individual ceases to meet these criteria during the term of the
appointment, the individual may not serve during the remaining term of that appointment unless that
individual can again meet the criteria for appointment and is appointed to complete the term.
Section 2. Term of Office. The term of office of standing committee members shall be two years
commencing on January 1 of each even-numbered year. The term of office of standing committee chairs
and vice chairs shall be approximately two years and shall commence as soon after January 1 of the
even-numbered year as they may be appointed by the president and ratified by the then-seated Board
of Directors, and shall terminate on December 31 of the odd-numbered year approximately two years
later or until their successors are appointed and ratified.
Section 3. Meetings. Meetings of standing committees may be called at such times and places
designated by the respective chair thereof except where provided otherwise by these bylaws. Subject to
the provisions of these bylaws and any actions that may be taken by the Board of Directors, the chairs of
each standing committee may establish their own rules for the efficient operation of the committee
they each chair. The chairs of each standing committee are authorized to create subcommittees and
workgroups in order to complete the work of the committee.
Section 4. Committee Composition. Each limited standing committee shall have a membership
composition that is comprised of members in the quantity and with qualifications as defined by the
provisions of these bylaws. The committee chair position shall not be included in the maximum count
for determining the committee composition total of any given limited committee. The committee chair
shall, however, be a voting member of their respective committees subject to the rules and procedures
of each committee.
Rationale: Staff is recommending this amendment to the Bylaws to allow the President
flexibility in appointing members to limited standing committees and to provide an odd number
committee composition total.
LAC Workgroup Analysis: The proposed revision is clear and meets its intended purpose.
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Committee Composition Terms in Sections 5 through 17.
Rationale: Review of Committee Composition Terms: Staff noted that the use of the term
“individual” versus “representative” (and one instance of “member”) was inconsistent
throughout the committee composition description for each of the standing committees in
Article 7. Staff asked the LAC Workgroup to review Section 1, Qualifications, as well as each of
the committee descriptions to make a determination as to which term would best apply for all
of the committees for purposes of consistency throughout Article 7.
LAC Workgroup Analysis: Reading of the various ACWA committee sections suggests that
“Member” would be the most appropriate word for consistency throughout the By-Laws.
However, the use of a single term, may require some minor revisions to surrounding text for
clarity (for an example see Section 15 (State Legislative Committee) where “member” is
separately used to denote a “member agency” and so would need to state “member-agency”
consistently to accommodate the more general use of “member” throughout the By-Laws).
Staff Response: Staff revised the terms in the committee sections to “member” for consistency
and the surrounding language where needed in response to the LAC Workgroup’s analysis.
Section 5. Agriculture Committee. There shall be an Agriculture Committee whose duty it shall be to
recommend Association policy, positions and programs to the Board of Directors, State Legislative
Committee, Federal Affairs Committee or other committees, as appropriate, regarding agricultural
issues affecting the interests of ACWA and its members. The committee shall consist of at least one
member from each region.
Rationale: The 2016-2017 Business and Strategic Plan initiative to increase involvement and
engagement from ACWA’s agricultural members has successfully generated momentum
amongst ACWA’s agricultural members and a renewed attention to and involvement in key
policy issues that uniquely affect agricultural water suppliers. Amidst this success, a concern has
arisen that the momentum could be lost once the Board of Directors finishes its current term
and the initiative sunsets. This concern has sparked the suggestion that ACWA should consider
creating an Agriculture Committee as the thirteenth standing committee of the Association to
continue the objectives of the Ag Initiative long-term.
LAC Workgroup Analysis: The proposed revision is clean and meets its intended purpose.
Section 4 6. Business Development Committee. There shall be a Business Development Committee
whose duty it is to develop and recommend to the Board of Directors programs and activities to be
provided or administered by the Association that generate non-dues revenue and provide a service or
benefit to Association membersmember agencies. The committee shall consist of at least one
representative member from each region and one representativemay include members from the any of
the other standing committees.
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Section 5 7. Communications Committee. There shall be a Communications Committee whose duty it
shall be to develop and make recommendations to the Board of Directors regarding a comprehensive
internal and external communications program for the Association and to promote development of
sound public information and education programs and practices among members of the Association
agencies. The committee shall consist of no more than 40 individualsmembers. Of that number,The
committee shall consist of at least one individual member shall be from each region.
Section 6 8. Energy Committee. There shall be an Energy Committee whose duty it shall be to
recommend policies and programs to the Board of Directors and to the State Legislative Committee
and/or Federal Affairs Committee as appropriate. The committee shall consist of at least one
representative member from each region.
Section 7 9. Federal Affairs Committee. There shall be a Federal Affairs Committee whose duty it shall
be to review all federal legislative proposals and regulatory proposals affecting members of the
Associationmember agencies, after consulting with other appropriate committees, and to develop
Association positions consistent with existing policy, where it has been established; recommend
sponsorship of bills that will resolve problems or improve conditions for members of the Association
agencies; and assist in the establishment of the Association’s federal legislative program. The committee
shall consist of at least one and, but no more than five individuals members from each region.
Section 8 10. Finance Committee. There shall be a Finance Committee whose duty it shall be to make
recommendations to the Board of Directors regarding annual budgets, dues formula and schedules and
other revenue-producing income, annual audit and selection of an auditor, and investment strategies.
The committee shall consist of the president and vice president of the Association as ex officio
members, the Finance Committee chair, one membereither the chair or vice chair from each of the
Association’s of the region board from each of the Association’s 10 regions boards (either chair or vice
chair), and one additional representative member from each region with experience in financial matters.
Section 9 11. Groundwater Committee. There shall be a Groundwater Committee whose duty it shall be
to recommend policies and programs to the Board of Directors and to the State Legislative Committee
and/or Federal Affairs Committee as appropriate. The committee shall consist of at least one
representative member from each region.
Section 10 12. Legal Affairs Committee. There shall be a Legal Affairs Committee whose duty it shall be
to support the mission of the Association, and more particularly to deal with requests for assistance
involving legal matters of significance to members of the Association agencies, including but not limited
to state and federal court litigation, water rights matters, selected regulatory and resources agency
matters, proposed bylaw revisions, review of legislation as requested by the State Legislative
Committee, etc. The committee shall consider matters and issues submitted to it in order to determine
which ones are of major significance to the members of the Association agencies and, assuming a
finding of major significance, recommend to the Board of Directors the position(s) which the committee
believes the Association should take with respect thereto. The committee shall be composed of
between 35 34 and 45 44 attorneys, each of whom shall be a member of the California Bar and shall be,
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or act as, counsel for a member of the Associationagency, representing diverse interests within the
Association, including but not limited to, different geographical areas throughout the state, large and
small agencies, agricultural and urban agencies, agencies created under the various enabling statutes,
etc. Further, there shall be at least one representative from each region on the committeeThe
committee shall consist of at least one member from each region.
Rationale: Change the committee composition range so there is a resulting odd number total
when the chair is added.
LAC Workgroup Analysis: Considered together with the general change in Section 4, Committee
Composition above, this change accomplishes its purposes and maintains the current overall
LAC membership numbers.
Section 11 13. Local Government Committee. There shall be a Local Government Committee whose
duty it shall be to recommend policies to the State Legislative Committee, as appropriate, and Board of
Directors on matters affecting water agencies as a segment of local government in California. The
committee shall consist of at least one, and but no more than three individuals members from each
region.
Section 12 14. Membership Committee. There shall be a Membership Committee whose duty it shall be
to assist staff in developing membership recruitment and retention programs, make recommendations
to the Board of Directors regarding membership policies, eligibility, and applications for membership
and review and make recommendations to the Finance Committee regarding an equitable dues
structure. The committee shall consist of at least one member from each region.
Section 13 15. State Legislative Committee. There shall be a State Legislative Committee whose duty it
shall be to review all state legislative proposals affecting members of the Association agencies and to
establish Association positions, consistent with existing policy, where it has been established; sponsor
bills that will resolve problems or improve conditions for member s of the Associationagencies; and
assist in the establishment of the Association’s legislative program. The committee shall consist of
individuals members representing a variety of types of members member agencies and at least one and,
but no more than four individuals members from each region.
Section 14 16. Water Management Committee. There shall be a Water Management Committee whose
duty it shall be to recommend policy and programs to the Board of Directors on any area of concern in
water management. The committee shall consist of at least one, but and no more than four individuals
members from each region.
Section 15 17. Water Quality Committee. There shall be a Water Quality Committee whose duty it shall
be to develop and recommend Association policy, positions, and programs to the Board of Directors, to
promote cost-effective state and federal water quality regulations that protect the public health, to
enable interested members of the Association agencies to join together to develop and coordinate with
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other organizations, and to present unified comments regarding agricultural and domestic water quality
regulations. The committee shall consist of at least one individual member from each region.

ARTICLE 8 – SPECIAL COUNCILS, COMMITTEES, AND TASK FORCES
Section 1. Council of Past Presidents. There shall be a Council of Past Presidents composed of all past
presidents of the Association who serve on the council until each is no longer able to or wishes to serve.
The council shall provide a mechanism for past presidents to continue to make valuable contributions to
the Association. With approval of the Board of Directors, the president and/or executive
director/secretary may assign specific responsibilities to the council from time to time. Members of the
Council of Past Presidents are invited to attend and participate in the Association’s Board meetings.
Section 2. Nominating Committee. There shall be a Nominating Committee consisting of five or more
persons appointed by the president prior to the Association’s fall conference in each odd-numbered
year, whose purpose shall be to nominate qualified individuals for the offices of president and vice
president of the Association. The Nominating Committee shall publish its nominations for the offices of
president and vice president of the Association not less than 10 or more than 90 days before the
membership meeting is held at fall conference. Additional nominations may be made by any member of
the Association for candidates for the office of president and vice president. Additional nominations
shall be made from the floor during the election of president and vice president at the membership
meeting scheduled for said purposes.
Section 3. Other Committees and Task Forces. Other committees and task forces may be appointed by
the president from time to time as needed, consistent with and supportive of the mission of the
Association.

ARTICLE 9 – MEETINGS OF MEMBERS
Section 1. Meetings. Meetings of the members of the Association shall be held at the Association’s
conferences at such times as may be determined by the Board of Directors to conduct necessary
business and to elect the president and vice president, which occurs at the fall conference in each oddnumbered year.
Section 2. Special Meetings. Special meetings of the members of the Association may be called by the
Board of Directors, the president of the Board of Directors, or by 5 percent or more of the members of
the Association. Except when called by the Board, a request for a special meeting must be in writing and
must be delivered in person or mailed by first-class mail addressed to the president of the Board at the
principal office of the Association, with a copy to the executive director/secretary. The request must
state the general nature of the business proposed to be transacted at the meeting.
A special meeting that has been called by written request of 5 percent of the member agencies of the
Association to the Board of Directors shall be set by the Board of Directors on a date that is not less than
35 or more than 90 days after receipt of the request.
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Section 3. Notice Requirements for Membership Meetings. Written notice of any membership meeting
shall be given to each voting member of the Association. The notice shall state the date, time, and place
of the meeting; the means by which members may participate; and the general nature of the business to
be transacted. The notice of any meeting at which Board officers are to be formally nominated and
elected shall include the names of the recommended slate of candidates for the offices of president and
vice president in addition to the election procedures. The member notification information shall also be
posted on the Association’s website.
Except as otherwise provided in these bylaws or California law, a written notice of regular membership
meetings shall be given not less than 10 or more than 90 days before the date of the meeting to each
member who, on the record date for notice of the meeting, is entitled to vote; provided, however, that
if notice is given by mail, and the notice is not mailed by first-class, registered, or certified mail, that
notice shall be given not less than 20 days before the meeting.
Section 4. Notice Requirements for Special Meetings. The executive director/secretary shall cause
notice to be given to all members of the Association of the date, time, and place of the meeting and the
general nature of the business to be transacted at the meeting. No business except that specified in the
request and notice may be transacted at said special meeting. If notice of the requested special meeting
is not given within 20 days after receipt of the request, the person or persons requesting the meeting
may give the notice.
Section 5. Voting. Each member of the Association shall be entitled to one vote that shall be cast by its
authorized representative. All questions, except amendments or revisions of these bylaws, shall be
determined by a majority of the members present and voting. A roll call may be requested by any
representative.
Section 6. Amendment of Bylaws. These bylaws may be amended or revised by two-thirds of the
member agencies of the Association present and voting at any meeting.
Section 7. Quorums. The presence of the authorized representative of 50 members of the Association at
any meeting of the members shall constitute a quorum for transacting business.
Section 8. Amendments, Revisions, and Resolutions. Before any amendments or revisions to the
bylaws, or resolutions, may be considered at any meeting of the Association, any such amendment,
revision, or resolution shall be submitted to the executive director/secretary at least 30 90 days prior to
the first day of such meeting. The executive director/secretary shall promptly distribute any proposed
amendments or revisions to the Legal Affairs Committee for the Legal Affairs Committee to develop an
unbiased analysis of the amendments or revisions. Following development of an analysis for the
proposed amendments or revisions, the executive director/secretary shall distribute copies of any
resolutions, amendments or revisions, including any applicable analyses, to all members of the
Association at least five not less than 10 days or more than 90 days prior to presentation at such
meeting. The written notice of the membership meeting shall be given to each voting member of the
Association consistent with the provisions defined in Section 3. The 30 90-day rule may be suspended at
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any meeting of the Association by consent of three-fourths of the members present. Voting on
resolutions, amendments, or revisions shall proceed as provided by Sections 3 5 and 4 6 of this Article.
Staff Rationale: Staff is recommended that the deadline for submitting requests for
amendments, revisions, and resolutions be changed from 30 to 120 days prior to any
membership meeting to provide Legal Affairs Committee sufficient time to review and develop
the required analysis and for staff to provide adequate notice to the members as set forth in
Article 9, Sections 3 and 4 of the Bylaws. Note: Staff typically notifies ACWA members at least 45
prior to a given membership meeting to allow the agency boards to designate their authorized
representative.
LAC Workgroup Analysis: This proposed revision is clear and meets its intended purpose.
However, subcommittee members did express some concern that the 120-day submission
requirement may unduly limit the Association’s ability to quickly respond to state or federal
legislative or administrative acts appropriately. A supermajority of the Association may vote to
suspend the requirement, however, it may be advisable to require only 90-days for submission
while retaining the general Association distribution timing of no later than 10-days and no
earlier than 90-days prior to presentation at an Association meeting.
Staff Response: Staff revised the proposed amendment to state 90 days instead of 120 days in
response to the LAC Workgroup’s analysis.
Section 9. Nomination of President and Vice President.
A. Qualification. At the time of their election, the president and vice president of the Association
shall each be an elected or appointed member of the governing body or commission (as
appropriate) of a member agency of the Association.
B. Nominating Committee Process. All nominations for the positions of president and vice
president shall be accompanied by an official resolution from the Association member agency
on whose board the nominee serves. Said resolution shall be signed by an authorized signatory
of the member agency’s Board of Directors.
C. Nominations from the Floor. Additional nominations may be made by any member of the
Association for the office of president and vice president. Said nominations and seconds shall be
made from the floor during the election of the offices of president and vice president at the
membership meeting scheduled for said purposes (as provided for in the penultimate sentence
of Article 8, Section 2). Such nominations and seconds shall be made by a member of the
Association and must be supported by a resolution of the governing body of the member
making and seconding such nomination. The member agency on whose board the nominee
serves shall submit a resolution of support if they are not the agency making the floor
nomination or second.
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Section 10. Additional Procedures for Election of Officers. The Board shall have the authority to
develop additional procedures for elections of president and vice president when not otherwise covered
by these bylaws.

ARTICLE 10 –INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS, OFFICERS, AND OTHER AGENTS
Section 1. Right of Indemnity. To the fullest extent permitted by law, this Corporation shall indemnify its
Directors, Officers, employees, and other persons described in Section 7237(a) of the California
Corporations Code, including persons formerly occupying any such position, against all expenses,
judgments, fines, settlements and other amounts actually and reasonably incurred by them in
connection with any “proceeding,” as that term is used in that Section, and including an action by or in
the right of the Corporation, by reason of the fact that the person is or was a person described in that
section. "Expenses," as used in this bylaw, shall have the same meaning as in Section 7237(a) of the
California Corporations Code.
Section 2. Approval of Indemnity. On written request to the Board by any person seeking
indemnification under Section 7237(b) or Section 7237(c) of the California Corporations Code, the Board
shall promptly determine under Section 7237(e) of the California Corporations Code whether the
applicable standard of conduct set forth in Section 7237(b) or Section 7237(c) has been met and, if so,
the Board shall authorize indemnification.
Section 3. Advancement of Expenses. To the fullest extent permitted by law and except as otherwise
determined by the Board in a specific instance, expenses incurred by a person seeking indemnification
under these bylaws in defending any proceeding covered by those Sections shall be advanced by the
Corporation before final disposition of the proceeding, on receipt by the Corporation of an undertaking
by or on behalf of that person that the advance will be repaid unless it is ultimately determined that the
person is entitled to be indemnified by the Corporation for those expenses.
Section 4. Insurance. The Corporation shall have the right to purchase and maintain insurance to the full
extent permitted by law on behalf of its Officers, Directors, employees, and other agents, against any
liability asserted against or incurred by any officer, director, employee, or agent in such capacity or
arising out of the officer’s, director’s, employee’s or agent’s status as such.

ARTICLE 11 – MISCELLANEOUS
Section 1. Conduct of Meetings. All meetings of the Association shall be conducted in accord with the
code of conduct and in substantial accordance with the latest edition of Robert’s Rules of Order Newly
Revised unless the Board adopts alternate rules of conduct for itself and/or its committees, region
boards, and region workgroups.
Section 2. Funds. The funds of the Association shall be used to further the aims and purposes of this
Association. They shall be kept by the controller/treasurer and paid out by checks or other electronic
means, which shall only be valid with two authorized signatures. The Board of Directors shall designate
As amended by the ACWA Members on December 2, 2015
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by resolution which persons, other than the controller/treasurer, may sign for expenditures. The Finance
Committee shall implement procedures to ensure necessary internal controls over the receipt and
expenditures of Association funds and arrange for an external audit. Audit reports shall be presented to
the Board of Directors.
Section 3. Disposition of Assets upon Dissolution. The Association’s properties and assets are
irrevocably dedicated to the fulfillment of the Association’s purposes as described in Article 2 of the
Articles of Incorporation. No part of the Association’s net earnings, properties and assets, on dissolution
or otherwise, may inure to the benefit of any private person. Upon the dissolution of the Association, all
debts thereof shall be paid and its affairs settled, and all remaining assets shall be distributed to the
Association’s member political subdivisions for a public purpose, consistent with the provisions of the
California Nonprofit Corporation Law relating to public benefit corporations then in effect and with the
Articles of Incorporation.
Section 3. Definitions. As used in these bylaws, the term “notice provided by electronic means” shall
refer to notice given by fax or e-mail.
Amended comprehensively December 1, 2010
Amended May 9, 2012
Amended May 7, 2014
Amended December 2, 2015

As amended by the ACWA Members on December 2, 2015
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PROXY DESIGNATION FORM
ASSOCIATION OF CALIFORNIA WATER AGENCIES
GENERAL SESSION MEMBERSHIP MEETING(S)
WEDNESDAY, NOVEMBER 29, 2017 AT 1:20PM
THURSDAY, NOVEMBER 30, 2017 AT 1:20PM (IF NEEDED)
TO:

Donna Pangborn, Clerk of the Board

EMAIL:

donnap@acwa.com

FAX:

916-325-4857

The person designated below will be attending the ACWA General Session Membership Meeting(s) on
Wednesday, November 29, 2017 (and November 30, 2017 if necessary) as our voting delegate.

MEMBER AGENCY’S NAME

AGENCY’S TELEPHONE No.

MEMBER AGENCY’S AUTHORIZING REPRESENTATIVE

SIGNATURE

DELEGATE’S NAME

SIGNATURE

DELEGATE’S EMAIL

DELEGATE’S TELEPHONE No.

DELEGATE’S AFFILIATON (if different from assigning agency)1

DATE

1

If your agency designates a delegate from another entity to serve as its authorized voting representative,
please indicate the delegate’s entity in the appropriate space above. Note: Delegates need to sign the proxy
form indicating they have accepted the responsibility of carrying the proxy.
REMINDER: Proxy cards will be available for pick up on Wednesday, November 29, between 9:00 a.m. and
12:00 p.m. at the ACWA General Session Desk in the main foyer outside of the Marquis Ballroom Center,
Marriott Anaheim. The luncheon and General Session Membership Meeting will be held in the Platinum
Ballroom 1-6.
Proxy Designation Form_General Session Fall 2017.Docx

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
EXPENSE REIMBURSEMENT SUMMARY
SEPTEMBER 2017

DIRECTORS
DATE

DESCRIPTION

LEIDY

EMMERSON

WALLACE

GREENWOOD

SELSKY

ACWA FALL CONFERENCE
ACWA SPRING CONFERENCE
ACWA/JPIA
CALIFORNIA-OREGON TRANSMISSION PROJECT
CAP TO CAP MEETING/CONFERENCE
9/6

2x2 CWD/FOWD COMMITTEE

1

*

CWD - ADHOC PERFORMANCE REVIEW MEETING
CWD - EMPLOYEE RELATIONS COMMITTEE
CWD - FINANCE COMMITTEE
CWD - PLANNED SYSTEM MAINTENANCE COMMITTEE
CWD - REGULAR BOARD MEETING/PUBLIC HEARING
8/21

CWD - REGULAR BOARD MEETING

1

1

1

1

CWD - SPECIAL BOARD MEETING
CWD - SPECIAL BOARD MEETING/PUBLIC HEARING
CWD - WATER SALES COMMITTEE
GROUNDWATER RESOURCES ASSOCIATION
LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION
REGIONAL WATER AUTHORITY BOARD MEETING
8/16

REGIONAL WATER AUTHORITY EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

1

SACRAMENTO GROUNDWATER AUTHORITY

TOTAL COMPENSATION
TOTAL EXPENSES
*DECLINED PAYMENT FOR MEETING

1

2

1

2

0

$144.70

$144.70

$144.70

$289.40

$0.00

$0.00

$0.00

$0.00

$0.00

$0.00
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TOTAL MEETINGS ATTENDED

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
EXPENSE REIMBURSEMENT SUMMARY
FY 2017 / 2018
YEAR TO DATE
DIRECTORS
DESCRIPTION

LEIDY

EMMERSON

WALLACE

GREENWOOD

SELSKY

ACWA FALL CONFERENCE
ACWA SPRING CONFERENCE
ACWA/JPIA
CALIFORNIA-OREGON TRANSMISSION PROJECT
CAP TO CAP MEETING/CONFERENCE
2x2 CWD/FOWD COMMITTEE

1

*

CWD - ADHOC PERFORMANCE REVIEW MEETING
CWD - EMPLOYEE RELATIONS COMMITTEE
CWD - FINANCE COMMITTEE
CWD - PLANNED SYSTEM MAINTENANCE COMMITTEE
CWD - PUBLIC HEARING/REGULAR BOARD MEETING

1

CWD - REGULAR BOARD MEETING

2

2

2

1

1

2

1

CWD - SPECIAL BOARD MEETING
CWD - SPECIAL BOARD MEETING/PUBLIC HEARING
CWD - WATER SALES COMMITTEE
GROUNDWATER RESOURCES ASSOCIATION
LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION
RWA BOARD MEETING

1

RWA EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

2

SGA BOARD MEETING

1
TOTAL MEETINGS ATTENDED
TOTAL COMPENSATION
TOTAL EXPENSES

*DECLINED PAYMENT FOR ONE (1) MEETING

3

3

3

6

2

$434.10

$289.40

$434.10

$868.20

$289.40
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A Landmark California Plan
Puts Floodplains Back in
Business
A century of levee building confined the state’s major rivers to
narrow channels. A new policy aims to free them again, which
could not only reduce flood risk but also recharge groundwater
and improve wildlife habitat.
WRITT EN BY Matt

Weiser

PUB LISH ED O N 

Oct. 10, 2017
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6 minutes

The Yolo Bypass near Sacramento is a massive floodplain that only fills with water when the Sacramento
River is running high. It helps divert floodwaters away from urban levees while also creating valuable
fishery habitat. The state hopes to encourage more such projects, including a bypass proposed on the San
Joaquin River, as part of the Central Valley Flood Protection Plan. Photo by Carson Jeffres, courtesy UC Davis

on August 25 in California water
management that received almost no media attention: It became official
policy to reconnect the state’s major rivers with their floodplains.
SOMETHING MONUMENTAL HAPPENED

The action by the Central Valley Flood Protection Board, an obscure panel
appointed by the governor, clears the way for the state to embrace
projects that allow floods to recharge groundwater. This could include
projects like breaching levees, building setback levees and creating flood
bypass structures so rivers can inundate historic floodplains for the first
time in a century.
In short, it means rivers must no longer be confined within levees as a
standard practice.
The result could be not only reduced flood risk, but reviving severely
depleted groundwater aquifers, restoring wildlife habitat and improving
the capabilities of existing water storage reservoirs.
The state calls these “multibenefit” flood-control projects, said Mike
Mierzwa, chief of the office of flood planning at the California Department
of Water Resources. They’re a major focus of the Central Valley Flood
Protection Plan, a massive policy document the board adopted at its
August 25 meeting.
The plan will guide flood-safety improvements on the Sacramento and
San Joaquin rivers – the largest in the state – and their tributaries for the
next 30 years.
“It’s the first time that the state, from a flood-management perspective,
has recognized there’s a significant opportunity here,” said Mierzwa. “It’s
a very big signal to a local agency that if they are interested in a project
that incorporates groundwater recharge, the state will be interested in
partnering with them and paying for the public benefits associated
with that.”
The plan identifies $20 billion worth of flood-protection projects, and
priority locations for their construction. Many are focused on existing
levees that are in poor condition, or in locations vulnerable to increased
flood flows likely to be caused by climate change.
The plan does not require anything to be built, and it does not include any
construction money.

“The plan itself is an investment strategy,” Mierzwa said. “It outlines what
it is we hope to achieve in both the Sacramento and San Joaquin basins
within next 30 years.”
In California, most of the levee maintenance and improvement is done by
more than 50 small levee districts. Each oversees a local levee network
that is part of the larger whole in the flood-prone Central Valley. Most
operate using small property tax surcharges collected from local
landowners – usually just enough to keep up with regular
levee maintenance.
These local agencies rely on state and federal dollars to build larger
projects, such as reconstructing a levee or building new levees. The
Central Valley Flood Protection Board oversees many of these decisions,
so priorities in the new investment strategy can drive a lot of change on
the ground.
The timing coincides with two other major state programs.
First is the California Water Commissions’s process to award bond money
from Proposition 1 for new water storage projects. The law allows this
money to be spent only on the “public benefits” of new water storage
projects, which can include things like flood protection and
wildlife habitat.
The nonprofit group River Partners, for instance, has applied for $22
million from Proposition 1 to acquire land and remove farm levees as part
of an expansion of San Joaquin River National Wildlife Refuge. It would
revive nearly 1,500 acres of historic floodplain, improve groundwater
recharge and restore wildlife habitat.
The second is the Sustainable Groundwater Management Act, which
requires every aquifer in the state to be managed such that it does not
suffer chronic depletion. The requirement means many groundwater
management agencies will be looking for new ways to recharge their
aquifers, which could include allowing floodwaters to inundate farm fields
or dedicated floodplains.
“There’s no one silver bullet for our water supply problems,” said John
Cain, director of conservation for California flood management at
American Rivers, an environmental group. “And there’s no easy solutions
for our flood control and groundwater problems. But one thing that helps
all of them is multibenefit flood management projects.”

California’s efforts have been partly inspired by the Netherlands, which
launched its Room for the River Program years ago. The program
recognizes that confining rivers to narrow, levied channels is risky
because levees will always be vulnerable to decay, climate change and
other threats. Therefore, it’s better to reduce dependence on those levees
by moving them farther apart. This reduces water elevation between the
levees and creates a wider, more natural river channel.
“People assume levees function all the way to the top,” Mierzwa said. “But
levees in the Central Valley of California are failing long before they
overtop. It’s underseepage, through-seepage or a leverage force that
eventually gets the levee. So the goal is to keep the water level down.
Every little bit helps.”
The San Joaquin River region is a primary target of the state’s efforts
because it suffers from severe groundwater depletion. This has caused
major land subsidence that is damaging infrastructure, including levees
and flood channels, which reduces their water-carrying capacity. In other
words, groundwater loss is also increasing flood risk.
“In some places, like the upper San Joaquin River between Fresno and
Merced, there’s a lot of potential there for groundwater recharge,”
said Cain.
The Central Valley Flood Protection Plan identifies a number of projects
in this area, including setback levees and floodplain restoration efforts.
One such project is already proving it can work. The San Luis Canal
Company, a farm irrigation district based in Dos Palos, California,
delivers surface water to a group of farms on the west side of the San
Joaquin River. But they are affected by land subsidence caused by another
group of farmers outside their service area, who depend on groundwater
to irrigate crops east of the river.
So the canal company, led by general manager Chase Hurley, approached
the east side farmers about trying a groundwater recharge project. One
farmer decided to sign on, agreeing not to plant almond and pistachio
trees on a portion of his land, so it can be used instead to store
floodwaters for aquifer recharge.
The farmer plowed up berms around the recharge field to hold
floodwaters diverted from the Fresno River and the Eastside Bypass, a
flood control channel. It took two years before there was enough runoff to
test the project. But finally last winter, the rivers rose and the field could
be flooded.

“Just in this one basin, we sank a little over 30,000 acre-feet,” said
Hurley. “Even the landowner was amazed how much water the ground
took. Then his neighbors started watching it, so now there’s an organized
effort to build similar structures.”
One goal of the project was to recharge shallow aquifers in the area so
farmers don’t have to pump from a deeper aquifer, which is the cause of
land subsidence. And that is exactly how the trial project worked out.
Because the trial floodplain captured so much water, Hurley said, the
landowner didn’t have to tap very many wells to irrigate his crop this year.
And when he did, he was able to use only shallow wells.
“It’s water we’re taking off the top of the system [during floods], and it
helps the local flood control district to take some pressure off the levees,”
he said.
The new Central Valley Flood Protection Plan ought to make more of
these projects possible, Hurley said, because it stands as an official
endorsement of the concept.
He also said the Sustainable Groundwater Management Act seems to have
motivated some property owners.
“I think having SGMA, sort of as a small billy club over these guys’ heads,
has helped us a little bit,” Hurley said. “We don’t use that as a threat. But
the more we all understand what SGMA is all about, they know they’re
better off trying to do something on their own rather than being told
by Sacramento.”

$17 billion Delta water tunnels project faces
critical MWD vote Tuesday in LA

A boat cruises down the Delta Cross Channel between the Sacramento River and Snodgrass Slough near Walnut Grove. On
Tuesday, Gov. Jerry Brown’s $17 billion plan to build tunnels under the Delta is up for a crucial vote before the Metropolitan
Water District. (AP Photo/Rich Pedroncelli)

By STEVE SCAUZILLO | sscauzillo@scng.com | San Gabriel Valley Tribune
October 9, 2017 at 4:46 pm

After 11 years of planning, a massive tunnels project touted as a solution to the state’s
vulnerable water supply faces its biggest test Tuesday.
The 38-member board of the Metropolitan Water District of Southern California —
the largest supplier of treated water in the United States delivering water to agencies
serving 19 million people — is scheduled to vote on the $17 billion California
WaterFix.
Metropolitan’s staff has waged a campaign in favor of the project for years and is
recommending its board ratify the environmental review and also pay 26 percent of
the cost, amounting to $4.3 billion. MWD’s wholesale water rates charged to 26
Southern California retail water districts and cities would rise 4.5 percent annually
during the 18-year construction period, but the agency says WaterFix only accounts
for 1 percent of the increase, with inflation accounting for the rest.
Gov. Jerry Brown and the state Department of Water Resources say the project will
make water supplies more reliable, stabilize water flow and protect endangered fish

species. The project would include installing three intakes north of the SacramentoSan Joaquin Delta and building two, 35-mile concrete diversion tunnels that would
move water more efficiently into the State Water Project for cities and the federal
Central Valley Project used by farmers.
Southern California gets about 35 percent of its water from Northern California
through the 700-mile State Water Project, which includes the California Aqueduct.
During the recent five-year drought, the city of Los Angeles took 75 percent of its water
from Northern California, said Brown, who visited MWD and the Southern California
Association of Governments on Friday to lobby for the project and listen to concerns.
“People were very clear how fundamental this WaterFix is to the well-being of Los
Angeles and Southern California,” Brown said during an interview. “A lot of water is
needed from the State Water Project, especially since the Colorado River water is high
in salt content.”
MWD General Manager Jeff Kightlinger called the upcoming vote critical to saving the
project after the Westlands Water District, the largest supplier of irrigation water to
farms in the nation, withdrew from the project last month.
“If we are out, it says you don’t have a viable project,” Kighlinger said.
David DeJesus, president of Covina Irrigating Co. and a MWD board member, said
he’s prepared to vote Tuesday. “This will be the biggest one in my 40-year career,” he
said. “Something like this is huge.”
When asked about future MWD water rate increases, Kightlinger said his agency
estimates the cost to the average Southern California household would be $2-$3 a
month, a necessary pill to swallow for rebuilding the most critical water supply link
between Northern and Southern California. Brown said the increased reliability
during droughts and protection from levees being damaged by a major earthquake is
worth the cost.
“Water is not free,” Brown said.
Several environmental groups have sued the state on grounds that the project would
not protect endangered fish, including the native salmon, and does not address
climate change’s effects on water runoff. They see it as an outdated response to a
changing world and would prefer the money be spent on water recycling, capturing
rain water and conservation.
“You will have a third less water before it becomes operational in 2033,” said Barbara
Barrigan-Parrilla, executive director of Restore the Delta. “Those tunnels will be dry
50 percent of the time. Why spend billions on a project that won’t be used half the
time?”

Barrigan-Parilla said even if enough agencies sign on, the state and project partners
will have to battle three current lawsuits, including one brought by her group, alleging
the state does not have the authority to sell bonds for the project.
“There are a number of lawsuits that have a potential to cause delays or create
roadblocks,” Kightlinger said. “That is pretty normal on large, multibillion-dollar
projects in California. They are things you have to work through.”
After Tuesday, Kern County Water Agency, San Diego County Water Authority and
the Santa Clara Valley Water District — three large agencies — will vote on whether to
join the project.

Maven’s Notebook Taps Into the
Flood of California Water Data
The website Maven’s Notebook has been a major source of California
water information for years. Now Maven’s creator, Chris Austin,
wants to take it one step further with a new digital library.
WRITT EN BY
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A photo of the California Aqueduct from one of Chris Austin’s many trips to see California water
infrastructure. Chris Austin

involved in California water issues, the website Maven’s
Notebook has become as important a resource as the water agencies
themselves. Part blog, part news aggregator, part information hub,
Maven’s Notebook is a passion project by one woman, Chris Austin. Now,
Austin wants to provide a whole new level of information to her readers
with the launch of her California Water Library.
FOR MANY PEOPLE

The library, said Austin, is a central online repository of thousands of
reports and documents on water, which are produced by various state and
federal agencies, think-tanks and nonprofits. Much of the information is
technically publicly available, but hidden away behind poorly designed or
rarely updated websites. She has already loaded 1,000 water documents,
and there are many more to go.
Austin says that she hopes that her new library can be used to find that
same information easily, empowering not only water experts, but also

ordinary citizens, to know what is happening to their water. Her funding
for Maven’s Notebook comes from the Rose Foundation and reader
contributions. Her main sources of funding for the development of the
water library came from the S.D. Bechtel, Jr. Foundation,
the Metropolitan Water District, the Byron-Bethany Irrigation District,
the Department of Water Resources and Geosyntec consultants. She also
received smaller amounts of funding – about $1,000 each – from various
water districts across the state. But, she said that no organization has ever
tried to influence the website or content, and that this money is only for
the development of the website. “From here on out,” said Austin, “it is
going to be donors and sponsors.”
Water Deeply spoke with Austin about her new online library, the
difficulty of accessing government water information and her own
decade-long obsession with California water. [Editor’s Note: Maven’s
Notebook often features content from Water Deeply.]

Water Deeply: How are you grabbing all of this
information for your library and how do you know your
library will be complete?
Chris Austin: It will probably never be complete because there will always
be stuff coming out. It’s hard to know if I am getting everything because, I
have to tell you, the agency websites are not helpful.
There are pages at the agency websites that say they’re a listing of
publications, but they’re [pages] that started up and never ended up being
maintained. So, I just keep digging through the agency websites, digging
through the [Department of Water Resources] and the State Water
[Resources Control] Board, and putting those things in.
I’ve been doing this for 10 years, so I kinda know who has stuff, and I
remember a lot, too. Some of these things, they are hard to find, but I
know the space pretty well. Sometimes I think I know more about what’s
on people’s websites than they know themselves.

Water Deeply: It sounds like this was a passion project
for you. What convinced you that this was relevant, and
that other people would want it as well?

Austin: Well, I am a consumer of California water information as much as
I am a producer of it, and I am out there surfing around on the web.
Actually, all of my websites have been me looking at the space and going
“wow, nobody has ever done this.” When I did [my last blog] Aquafornia,
blogs were just starting and nobody was doing it like that, like I did. It was
actually really hard to get people to look at it at first. The same thing with
Maven’s Notebook. I decided to start covering meetings, and I tried to
pitch this to people, and I even had one person tell me “who cares what
happens at those meetings and who wants to sit through them?” So, you
know what, I went out and I did it. And, what do you know, people
liked it.
The library is another extension of that. I think that a lot of people
understand the potential of it, but I think that once they see what I’ve
done with it, they’re going to see it to be a really useful and innovative
tool, and hopefully something that they can’t live without.

Water Deeply: How do you think people will use
the library?
Austin: It is kind of a wonky tool, in a way, and we’ll have to see how
people use it. The thing is, it’s never been done before. People have never
had access to the information this way, so it is going to be interesting to
see how it gets applied. There are so many different agencies, and so
many documents in so many websites sitting out there – the idea that you
could go to a region page and then get all of the plans that are active in
that region … there is no place right now that you can do that. Here’s you
basin plans, here’s you species recovery plans, here they all are in
one place.
The real centerpiece is the “browse by region,” which is an interactive
map of California with the Colorado River Basin added on. So, you click
on a hydrologic region and you’ll get reports that relate to that region, and
those reports could be groundwater reports or water-quality control
plans, species recovery plans that are for species in that watershed.
There’s a lot of different ways to go at the data.

Water Deeply: You have been writing about and
researching California water for about 10 years now.
How did you get into California water in the first place?

Austin: I had just started writing for a local paper – back in 2007. I wrote
an article on water and I just got hooked.
At the same time, my parents live in Reno and the road up to Reno, where
I take my kids up to grandma’s house, parallels the Los Angeles Aqueduct.
I had read “Cadillac Desert,” and so I got really interested in
the L.A.Aqueduct. It became our family pastime. We would look at things
on Google Earth and figure out how we could get to that piece of
infrastructure and take the van and the kids, and off we’d go. And then we
expanded outside of the L.A. Aqueduct – we went and saw the Salton Sea
and the Colorado River. Years later, my kids would come home from
school and say “mom, did you know that some families actually get to go
to Disney World for vacation?” I told them, oh no, it’s much more fun to
go see water infrastructure.

Water Deeply: What is next for Maven’s Notebook?
Austin: I’m never done with my website. I’m not done with Maven’s
Notebook, I’m not done with the library. I have all sorts of plans to keep
going. Expect things to keep moving.
The next thing will be to rebuild Maven’s Notebook with added features
for members and sponsors, and then to take that data from Maven’s
Notebook and from the library, and pull it into some kind of dashboard
for people – so you can have your favorites there and maybe things you’ve
saved and whatever else.

Water Deeply: The library was part of Maven’s
Notebook, but you gave it a separate website. Why?
Austin: I anticipate, I hope, to pass this [library] on when I stop doing the
Notebook, and I didn’t want anybody to have to dig it out of an existing
website. I have given it its permanent home, and everything is set up on
that site, because that is the site that should live on.
The idea is to create a turn-key website for the next person who will
succeed me. It should have funding set up, a donor system all managed,
they will just have to maintain it. Everyone talks about legacies; the Water
Library is going to be my legacy to the water community.

Once again, Southern
California could make or break
a major California water
project
BY DALE KASLER AND RYAN SABALOW
dkasler@sacbee.com
OCTOBER 09, 2017 3:59 AM

In 1960, the water barons of Los Angeles stood between Gov. Pat Brown and his
dream of building a network of dams and canals to make the southern half of
California bloom. He beat them – just barely, after weeks of public arm-twisting
– and the State Water Project was born.
Now Brown’s son, the current Gov. Jerry Brown, is calling on Southern California
to support another massive water project – the Delta tunnels, a controversial
plan aimed at fixing the system his father helped build. The difference this time is
that Southern California has become heavily reliant on the State Water Project, is
a leading advocate for the tunnels, and could be the lifesaver that keeps the
younger Brown’s troubled project from utterly collapsing.
On Tuesday, the board of the powerful Metropolitan Water District of Southern
California will decide whether to commit billions of dollars to construction of the
Delta tunnels. If Metropolitan votes in favor of the tunnels, as expected, it would
provide a desperately needed boost for a project that’s hanging by a thread,
following a resounding rejection last month by another major water agency, the
Westlands Water District.
Metropolitan would provide about a quarter of the funding for the $17.1 billion
project, so by itself a “yes” vote from the Southern California agency wouldn’t be
enough to save the tunnels. But it would keep the process alive and give Brown’s
administration some breathing room to develop an alternative plan if Westlands
doesn’t change its mind. Conversely, a “no” vote from Metropolitan would almost
certainly doom the project.
California WaterFix, as the project is officially known, can’t advance “until we at
least know a baseline of who’s in and who’s out,” said Metropolitan general
manager Jeff Kightlinger, an outspoken proponent of the tunnels. Two other

major agencies are expected to vote on WaterFix in the days after Metropolitan:
the Kern County Water Agency and Santa Clara Valley Water District.
In a sense, Kightlinger is banking on history repeating itself. Metropolitan’s
board rejected Pat Brown’s State Water Project four times in 1960 before
reversing course. He’s hoping that in 2017 Westlands, which provides irrigation
water for a half-million acres of farmland in the San Joaquin Valley, will
reconsider and support the tunnels. The farmers who control Westlands like the
concept but voted against WaterFix because they said the price was too
high, largely because of a cost-allocation formula imposed by the U.S. Bureau of
Reclamation.
“It was the right thing (in 1960) for Met to get to ‘yes,’” Kightlinger said. “It was
the right thing for California and Southern California. It would be the right thing
for Westlands to get to ‘yes.’”
California already had a major water project when Pat Brown took office in 1959.
But the federal government’s Central Valley Project, launched during the 1930s,
reached only about halfway down the San Joaquin Valley. Brown
believed California’s long-term prosperity depended on bringing Northern
California’s river water to the farmers of Kern County and the vast urban territory
of Southern California. Because the northern end of the system would consist of a
new dam at Oroville, he originally called it the Feather River Project.
A $1.75 billion bond issue breezed through the Legislature and was placed on the
November 1960 ballot for voter approval. But Brown knew it wouldn’t win
without heavy turnout from Southern California. And he was unlikely to get voter
support from the south state unless the project first secured a contract to sell
water to Metropolitan, the massive wholesale agency that served 7.5 million
customers at the time, from San Diego to Riverside.
Getting the green light from Metropolitan proved extremely difficult.
Metropolitan had more than enough water back then. There were ample supplies
from the Colorado River Aqueduct, and the city of Los Angeles was also fed by
water imported from the Owens Valley. Metropolitan was leery of signing a
contract committing itself to purchasing water from Brown’s project.
“They thought their water supply was secure, and they (didn’t think) they would
need State Water Project water,” said Tim Quinn, a former deputy general
manager at Metropolitan.
The agency also had legal concerns: Metropolitan feared that importing a
generous new supply from the Sacramento Valley might weaken its argument in a

pending court fight with Arizona and other Southwestern states over the
allocation of water from the Colorado River.
There was also the issue of money. Metropolitan’s 74-year-old board chairman,
Joseph Jensen, thought Brown’s plan was too expensive – and was structured in
a way to subsidize the Kern County farmers and make Metropolitan pay more
than it should have. Metropolitan’s share of the costs exceeded $800 million, or
$6.7 billion in today’s dollars.
“Metropolitan was simply … suckered into paying for the development of water
for other parts of the state which are not a part of Metropolitan Water District,”
Jensen said in a 1970 interview conducted by the UCLA Library Center for Oral
History Research.
Above all, it was a power struggle. Metropolitan wanted authority over how the
water would get delivered through its territory. Brown refused to yield.
“They wanted to control the water in Southern California,” Brown said years
later, in an oral history interview conducted by UC Berkeley’s Bancroft Library.
“As a matter of fact, they wanted to control the water in California.”
What ensued was an extraordinary spell of public feuding in the run-up to the
1960 election. Addressing a Sept. 14 Metropolitan board meeting, Brown
pounded the table and told directors they were ignoring the will of the people.
“You’ve been on a high horse,” the governor said.
Jensen accused Brown of employing scare tactics about water shortages – and
suggested that if Metropolitan needed more water, it could build its own
aqueduct to bring supplies from the Eel River, off the North Coast.
On Oct. 4, the board voted to refuse to purchase water from the Feather River
Project, and fired off a telegram to Brown saying his plan was “wholly
unacceptable” and “neither fair, just or equitable” to Southern Californians.
Brown shot back the next day with a letter warning Metropolitan about the
consequences of not falling in line.
“It is your right to refuse, but if you exercise that right, I think should be
conscious that you are risking responsibility for a long and crippling delay in
bringing urgently needed new supplies of water into Southern California – and
just as urgently needed flood control to Northern California,” he wrote.
Splitting his time between two causes – the water bond and Democratic
presidential candidate John F. Kennedy – the governor campaigned furiously
through the fall. Three more times, the Metropolitan board rejected the water

project, but its resolve was crumbling. Brown pointedly lined up support from
Los Angeles’ mayor and the region’s business community.
Finally, on Nov. 1, just a week before the election, the Metropolitan board caved
in and voted for the project, despite Jensen’s objections.
“We really shoved it down Metropolitan’s throat because they had to have water,
and we were the bosses,” Brown boasted to the UC Berkeley interviewer.
Brown went to Los Angeles a few days later to sign the agreement with
Metropolitan. Jensen was a no-show at the ceremony. When Election Day arrived
Nov. 8, he voted against the water bond, just as he had at the board meetings. But
with Metropolitan’s support, the bond passed by a scant 173,944 votes, out of 5.8
million ballots cast.
In the decades since, Metropolitan’s reluctant endorsement for the State Water
Project has become a warm embrace. The major reason is that other water
sources have faltered. A landmark 1994 victory for environmentalists cost Los
Angeles half of its Owens Valley water, and less than ten years later Metropolitan
had to surrender a significant portion of its Colorado River supply to California’s
neighbors. The agency’s customer base has nearly tripled since 1960, to more
than 19 million.
“Instead of having a soft landing on the cutback on Colorado River surplus water,
they had to take a hard landing,” said Tim Brick, who was Metropolitan’s
chairman from 2006 to 2010. “That really changed Metropolitan’s attitude.”
Another jolt came from a 2007 federal court case in Fresno. Judge Oliver
Wanger, in a pair of historic rulings aimed at saving the endangered Delta smelt,
ordered a substantial reduction in the amount of water that could be pumped out
of the Delta. It was a wake-up call for water agencies south of the Delta.
“It was like, this really doesn’t work any more, we’re in a downward spiral,”
Kightlinger said.
Kightlinger said the Wanger rulings focused Metropolitan’s attention on finding a
way to repair the Delta. The answer, he said, lies in the tunnels – a $17.1 billion
project that Brown’s administration says will improve water flows through the
Delta, protect fish from the perils of the pumping stations, and enable the pumps
to deliver water to the southern half of the state more reliably. Opponents say
WaterFix will actually worsen the estuary’s ecosystem.
Few water agencies have advocated for WaterFix as enthusiastically as
Metropolitan. Besides contributing more than $58 million toward project

planning, last year it spent $175 million to buy five islands in the Delta to use as
possible staging grounds for tunnels construction.
But with the board vote approaching, pockets of opposition, or at least
skepticism, still exist within the sprawling water district.
Michael Hogan, a board member from the San Diego area, said he and other
board members from San Diego think Metropolitan’s staff hasn’t answered all
their questions about “what the risk and what the benefit is.” Mark Gold, a board
member representing Los Angeles, said he and other L.A. directors aren’t sold on
WaterFix in part because the city has a directive to reduce its reliance on
imported water and create more local sources. Metropolitan’s board uses a
“weighted” voting system, and the Los Angeles and San Diego contingents control
a combined 37 percent share of the voting board.
The younger Gov. Brown met informally with several Metropolitan board
members Thursday to urge acceptance of the tunnels project. Kightlinger said he
thinks the board will agree to fund its share of WaterFix, but the vote could be
close.
“I still have a lot of board members deeply concerned about the costs of this, the
financing plan, whether or not we’re still subsidizing agriculture,” Kightlinger
said. “The concerns are very reminiscent of where we were in 1960. … It’s not a
slam dunk.”

Environment Is Big Winner in U.S.–
Mexico Colorado River Agreement
A new agreement signed between the U.S. and Mexico continues an
important collaboration in managing the Colorado River, but also
gives new hope for reviving stretches of the river that have run dry.
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Mexican and American officials, dignitaries and residents gathered in March 2014, on the Morelos Dam in Algodones,
Mexico, to celebrate a landmark agreement between the two nations that allows a “pulse flow” of Colorado River to
reach the river’s delta in Baja Mexico for the first time in more than five decades.Photo by Luis Sinco/Los Angeles Times via Getty Images

pact between Mexico and the United States is believed to
be the first time that two nations have agreed to allocate part of a shared
water resource to the environment.
A NEWLY SIGNED

Farmers and cities in both countries will reap benefits from Minute 323,
an update to an existing agreement that seeks to sustainably manage the
water of the overburdened Colorado River basin.
The new agreement, signed on September 27 in Santa Fe, New Mexico, by
officials from both nations, requires the United States to invest millions of
dollars in water conservation projects in Mexico – like plugging leaks in
irrigation canals and helping farmers implement waterefficient technology.
Minute 323 also allows Mexico, which has no significant reservoirs in the
Colorado basin, to store some of its water north of the border. In return,

the U.S. will receive a portion of the Colorado River water to which Mexico
has historically been entitled.
But the river’s beleaguered delta, which has received barely a trickle of
water for years, may see the most dramatic benefits of all. Through 2026
– the lifespan of the new arrangement – 210,000 acre-feet of water,
provided by stakeholders both north and south of the border, will be
allowed to flow through the lower reaches of the Colorado, just upstream
from the Sea of Cortez.
“We don’t know of any other international agreement that provides for
binational environmental flows,” said Anne Castle, a senior fellow with
the University of Colorado’s Getches-Wilkinson Center for Natural
Resources, Energy and the Environment. “Minute 323 is really an
agreement between two countries to manage their shared river as one.”
For decades, the Colorado River has not reached the sea. The river
essentially dies at the Morelos Diversion Dam, which sends the last of the
Colorado’s water into the alfalfa and vegetable fields of the Mexicali
Valley, one of Mexico’s most productive farming regions. In 2012, Minute
319 – 323’s predecessor agreement that expires at the end of this year –
required that 105,000 acre-feet of water be allowed to pass the Morelos
dam and reach the ocean. That only happened during a remarkable but
brief two-month period in 2014.
This “pulse flow,” as it was called, helped revive the ecosystem.
“When the river came back, even though it was just for a short period of
time, the people came out in droves,” recalled Castle, who was working as
assistant secretary for water and science at U.S. Department of the Interior
at the time and visited the Mexican town of San Luis Rio Colorado to see
the revival of the river.
Castle says the town – once a river settlement but now a place left isolated
in the desert by upstream water development – surged to life with the
renewed flows. “It was a community celebration,” she said. “There were
vendors and bands and carnival rides. It was the most amazing thing to
see the human connection to the river.”
Jennifer Pitt, the National Audubon Society’s Colorado River project
director, also visited the delta town to see the water that had not flowed
for decades.

“Kids came out to see a river they’d never seen before, and grandparents
came out to see the river they remembered from their younger days,”
she said.
Minute 323 requires the U.S. and Mexican governments and a coalition of
environmental groups to bear equal shares of the cost of delivering the
environmental flows, which will provide basic seasonal benefits, like
supporting the regrowth of riparian habitat stressed by dry years and
replenishing local groundwater reserves. Pitt says the delta flows will
likely be delivered sporadically through each year’s March-October
growing season.
Castle, who was involved in steering the outcome of Minute 319 and calls
herself “an interested observer” in the newer agreement, said Minute 323
was a “win-win for both countries.”
In signing the 23-page document, stakeholders north of the border agreed
to invest $31 million in Mexican water conservation and development
projects, like making farms more efficient, compensating growers who
fallow their fields, reducing seepage from irrigation canals and possibly
desalinating water from the Sea of Cortez for municipal use.
The water saved or produced through these projects will be stored in Lake
Mead, the nation’s largest reservoir, and could produce up to 220,000
acre-feet to be used by the U.S. – including 110,000 acre-feet for the
Metropolitan Water District and the 70,000 acre-feet that the country
must set aside for environmental uses. The rest of the water produced by
the conservation projects will be reserved for Mexico, which already
receives 1.5 million acre-feet each year from the Colorado. North-of-theborder users consume about 15 million acre-feet annually.
Lake Mead has not been entirely full since 1999. The lower basin, Castle
says, has remained for decades in a state of chronic overuse – a troubling
imbalance in which total consumption of the reservoir’s water exceeds the
volume of water flowing into it. Since 2000, the lake’s elevation has been
steadily declining, though it is currently on the rise thanks to last winter’s
heavy precipitation and snowfall. Today the lake is only about 40 percent
full – its lowest level since the 1950s.
Minute 323 aims to stabilize the declining level of the lake. When filled,
the lake surface elevation is 1,232ft above sea level. It is now at about
1,080ft. The lowest intake on the face of Hoover Dam sits at 860ft above
sea level. Below this point, the lake’s water is considered to be “dead
storage” – water that is essentially inaccessible.

The agreement’s provision for Mexico to store some of its water in Lake
Mead has huge implications, and benefits, for all parties. For one thing, it
provides Mexico with a place to keep its water.
“Mexico has no storage reservoirs in the Colorado basin,” Castle
points out.
This means the water Mexico has received from the Colorado River flows
to its recipients whether they immediately need it or not, rather like a
running hose that cannot be turned off.
By impounding some of Mexico’s water behind Hoover Dam, reservoir
managers will be better able to keep Lake Mead’s surface elevation above
critical trigger points, below which emergency rationing is enforced.
Pitt notes that habitat restoration projects and efforts to support
imperiled species will almost always come next in line after the needs of
people. By tackling so many of the water supply issues that affect the
human users of the Colorado River, Minute 323 makes it possible for
resource managers to focus some attention on the basin’s environmental
concerns, she says.
“Minute 323 increases the water supply reliability for all users, and that’s
so important,” said Pitt. “There’s no way the conservation community can
make gains or protect resources if communities’ water supplies
aren’t secure.

As Marijuana Industry
Explodes, Some Shift Focus
to Water Conservation
No one yet knows how big the legalized recreational marijuana business will
become. But as it grows, water consumption is sure to become a concern in the
arid West. Brandy Keen gives one industry leader’s point of view.
WRITT EN BY

Matt Weiser

PUB LISH ED O N 

Oct. 3, 2017

READ T IM E

Approx. 7 minutes

An organic indoor marijuana growing operation in Pueblo, Colo., photographed
in 2016.Photo by Jeffrey Rotman, Biosphoto, via AFP
big business around the West as more states
legalize the plant’s cultivation for recreational purposes. California’s entry
into the field, which becomes official on January 1, is certain to bring an
explosion of cannabis-related commerce simply because of the size of
its market.
MARIJUANA IS BECOMING

All this poses a vital question: How much will marijuana tax the West’s
water supplies?
No one knows the answer to that yet, but some in the industry are already
working diligently to slash marijuana’s water footprint. Marijuana is
known to be a thirsty crop, but much of that depends on how it’s grown.

To get a feel for this landscape, Water Deeply recently interviewed Brandy
Keen, co-founder and senior technical adviser at Surna. The company,
based in Boulder, Colorado, makes and distributes water-efficient indoor
cultivation equipment and serves as a consultant to growers who want to
manage their resource consumption and expenses.
Keen got into the business when she and her husband, an epileptic,
discovered that marijuana helped manage his seizures and eliminated his
need for conventional medication. In September, Keen was a featured
speaker on water and energy conservation at the Cannabis World
Congress and Business Expo, held in Los Angeles.

Water Deeply: How much water does marijuana use?
Brandy Keen: It’s pretty water-intensive. It uses a lot of water in
comparison to other crops. But what’s really interesting is that cannabis is
grown in a controlled environment far more often than agricultural food
crops. And when you cultivate in a controlled environment, you can
dramatically reduce waste [such as] runoff associated with growing in
fields, for instance.
In California, a lot of folks are still growing their marijuana plants
outside, but they’re growing them in pots in an effort to conserve water.
But they may still have a bunch of evaporation out of their pots that the
plants aren’t actually using. We can reduce that with cannabis through
creative irrigation and reducing the amount of evaporation by not
overwatering. That compares to a hydroponic system, where I irrigate and
then store that water, and it’s not evaporating.
But the most interesting thing you can do is use reclaimed condensate. No
plant consumes water. Plants borrow water. They use water as a delivery
mechanism for nutrients, then they transpire that water back out into the
space. So when you grow in an open-air greenhouse or outdoors, all the
water your plant transpires is evaporated. It just ends up back in the
atmosphere.
When I grow in a controlled environment where I dehumidify that space,
now I can actually recapture all that condensate. That’s water I gave my
plant, and I can just condense it back out of the air and reuse it. It’s
basically like you’re producing distilled water. You just add more
nutrients to it and give it right back to the plant. I can actually make this a
net-zero water consumption process.

Water Deeply: How common is the use of
reclaimed condensate?
Keen: It’s increasingly common. In some areas reclaimed water is
accepted for some kinds of agricultural use, but not accepted for cannabis
yet, for whatever reason. Denver right now is actually looking at its
regulations, and it looks like they’re going to change it so the city of
Denver will allow you to use reclaimed condensate.

Water Deeply: What does it involve mechanically?
Keen: In a controlled growing environment, you have condensate piping
from cooling and dehumidifying systems already. You already are putting
in the piping that puts that condensate down the drain or outside. So I
just build a tank to hold it instead. It’s not any more expensive from an
infrastructure standpoint, except for the cost of the tank. Then you need a
filtration system for the condensate, which is going to be a couple
thousand dollars.

Water Deeply: Presumably there’s a saving on the water
bill as well.
Keen: Oh yes. If I can reduce my water consumption – even if it’s just by
half – that’s a big deal. Keep in mind, most cultivation facilities
incorporate some kind of reverse osmosis system on their municipal
water supply anyway. And they do that because in order to accurately
measure the nutrients I’m adding back into the water, I’ve got to start
with low concentrations in the water. Reverse osmosis produces some
parts clean water and some parts of extremely dirty water as a waste
product. That means for every gallon I save through reclaimed
condensate, I’m actually saving two gallons. And as that one gallon is
continually reused, it eventually saves me six gallons of municipal supply.
But energy is the big cost component right now. Water is a pretty small
consideration. It just doesn’t cost that much to get water. If water was as
expensive as energy – well, then we’d be having a different conversation
today. That being said, it’s so cheap and so easy to reclaim condensate,
and drop my water consumption 70 to 80 percent, there’s absolutely no
reason not to do it.

Water Deeply: What factors affect marijuana’s
water consumption?
Keen: What we see most commonly is actually a calculation based on how
much light density is in the space. So the type of light the cultivator
selects and the intensity of that light is what drives the transpiration from
the plant. And how quickly it’s transpiring tells you how much more
[water] it needs to uptake.
We like to drive as much transpiration as possible because that means
we’re getting as much yield from the plant as we can. But water and
nutrient consumption and photosynthesis are all really closely
interrelated. So every time I change one of those things, they all change. If
I switch to a lower-intensity bulb, I’m going to be adjusting other things
to get my plant to consume as much water as it can.
We typically see watering ranges of somewhere between 3 and 5 gallons
[11-19 liters] per day per kW of light – not per plant – in the building. And
generally speaking, in a growing operation you have between 0.6 kW and
1 kW for every 25 square ft [2 square meters] of plant canopy.

Water Deeply: What else can be done to reduce
water consumption?
Keen: People are doing things like reducing the evaporation of water
outside of what your plant is transpiring: not having open tubs of water
laying around, covering your pots so that water that would be evaporating
out of the pot is contained so your plant can actually drink it.
That has the added benefit of helping you control your environment.
Humidity is a huge problem in cultivation facilities. When I’ve got a
bunch of water evaporating in a room, now I’m using a whole bunch of
energy to dehumidify water that’s not even being used by my plants.

Water Deeply: Are growers interested in saving water?
Keen: Absolutely. We have a multi-pronged reason for doing this. One is
obviously the cost of cultivation. Everyone’s always going to be looking at
the competition and how to cultivate at a lower price point. Is the cost of
water their biggest consideration? No. Overall, water is pretty
inexpensive. But it’s still a consideration. So that’s one driver.

The other is, as I like to put it, the ability to do good and do well. We all
understand we have to be stewards of this planet. Anything we can do to
reduce the resource intensive cultivation of anything, we should be doing
it. It takes energy to move that water and treat it. So I think the industry
in general wants to do better, wants to be more efficient, wants to do these
things that are better for our planet. Whether it’s out of complete
altruism, whether it’s out of a marketing competitiveness to say, “We’re a
water-wise business,” or whether it’s simple mathematics around how I
can make this less expensive to do.

Water Deeply: Do marijuana consumers care how much
water their weed uses?
Keen: I don’t think so. But I think in certain markets, they’re going to be
really receptive to the marketing component. If the grower can say “We
are focusing on energy conservation and water conservation,” I think
there are certain buyers who would be influenced by that. Folks in more
progressive markets, like California, or areas where brownouts and
droughts are really common, people are a lot more focused on this kind of
thing than they would be in states like Texas, where climate change
doesn’t exist. I’m from Texas, by the way, so I can say that.
So, certainly I think it will start to matter to the consumer. But it’s the
industry itself that has to start talking about it.

Water Deeply: What’s the growth potential of
this industry?
Keen: The sky is the limit. California and Canada are a huge focus for our
company because of the marketing potential there. There are estimates
that California alone is going to triple the size of the regulated cannabis
market just by itself. So it’s game-changing for the industry.
And it’s a really positive thing, too, that we’re regulating it. Because now
we can actually get this information out there [about saving water].
Historically, the industry has had all these underground facilities, and
everybody was kind of guessing at what they were doing, because nobody
knew where they were, nobody was regulating pesticide use or water
consumptive activities.
But I’ve already seen, in some of the cities down in the desert, where
they’ve actually had to tell people, “we can’t provide you that many acre-

feet of water because the city just can’t even get that much water.” If we go
in and reclaim all our condensate, and suddenly that’s 70 percent less
water – well, guess what? Suddenly we can build there. If we can figure
out a way to make sure we are using water mindfully – well, then we’ve
got a completely different opportunity there.

Why Disappearing Sierra
Nevada Meadows Are
Bad News for Water
Meadows play an important role in water storage and flood prevention. But a
new study shows that warming temperatures and resulting tree encroachment
could doom these landscapes, except at very high elevations.
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Cattle grazing in meadows, like this one on the Plumas National Forest, can harm meadow
health by compacting the soil and may contribute to encroachment by lodgepole pine trees. Photo
courtesy U.S. Forest Service

starting to get some respect. For over a century,
meadows were the first alpine environments targeted for development,
grazing and farming, because they tend to be flat and packed with rich soil
and nutritious plants. But we’re starting to understand that meadows
have a much more important role to play for society at large.
MOUNTAIN MEADOWS ARE

Meadows, it turns out, are water banks. As winter snows melt, the runoff
flows into meadows, where deep organic soil holds the moisture like a
sponge and then releases it slowly. This helps minimize downstream
flooding during spring. Meadows release that runoff over a longer period,
helping stretch valuable water supplies through the long, dry
summer months.
Efforts are underway to restore meadows, which have lost some of their
water-holding ability as they’ve been compacted and eroded by grazing,
logging and other activity. Unfortunately, a new threat has emerged:
climate change.
A new study by researchers at University of California, Merced, found that
Sierra Nevada meadows are shrinking due to encroachment by trees –
primarily lodgepole pines. And not just some meadows, but virtually all
meadows throughout the Sierra Nevada.
Warmer temperatures are likely to blame, according to the study, creating
conditions more favorable to trees. As a result, lodgepole pines are
creeping into areas that have been historically meadow environments,
sinking deeper roots that create a new year-round water drain on
meadow environments.
And the future doesn’t look good. As temperatures warm further due to
climate change, more trees are expected to encroach on meadows. The
authors reach a startling conclusion: By the end of this century, the
average meadow will shift entirely to forest. Eventually, meadows may
only be found in sparse locations at high elevation, where lodgepole pines
can’t thrive.
What are the implications for biodiversity, for water supply and flood
prevention? A lot of these answers aren’t yet known. But to find out more,
Water Deeply recently talked to Lara Kueppers, a co-author of the study
and a research scientist at the Sierra Nevada Research Institute, based
at U.C. Merced.

Water Deeply: What’s unique about this study?
Lara Kueppers: I think the main thing is the extent of ground-based
observations that we did. When you are in the field observing just a single
meadow or a small number of meadows, you can sort of draw conclusions
about those few meadows you looked at. But we were really after a large
area and wanting to understand: Is this phenomenon something that’s
widespread across a big section of the Sierra? So we surveyed meadows

across a pretty broad area, from Sequoia-Kings Canyon National Park on
up to the Lake Tahoe area.
The other way people try and cover a lot of ground is usually by using
satellite images. But we were interested in the number of trees that were
coming into these meadows that might be smaller and difficult to detect
remotely. So being on the ground enabled us to do that.
I think in the end we surveyed over 340 meadows. Not all with the same
level of intensity.

Water Deeply: Are meadows really likely to disappear
by the end of the century?
Kueppers: The conclusion isn’t that all meadows will disappear. The
conclusion is that the average meadow will disappear. Basically, what we
were finding is that many meadows are experiencing encroachment.
There are some that aren’t, however, and those may continue to be
resistant to encroachment in the future.
So, for example, in some meadows at higher elevations, where lodgepole
pine isn’t abundant, you don’t see the same kind of encroachment as you
do at lower elevations. But anyone who hikes in the backcountry of the
Sierra has surely noticed trees creeping into meadows, if you return
over time.
That’s why we say the “average” meadow, because a lot of those meadows
that are out there are experiencing encroachment. It may not be full
encroachment by the end of the century, but it will have experienced
some encroachment.

Water Deeply: Your results show that climate change is
a major reason for meadow shrinkage. How did you
reach that conclusion?
Kueppers: If by climate change you mean human-caused climate change,
we actually didn’t examine that question. What we were focused on is
figuring out what are the causes of encroachment we see in terms of
specific factors. So we looked at landscape factors like topographic
position, elevation, what are the tree species around the meadow. Then
we also looked at climate factors.

We found that climate factors are important drivers of the patterns we’re
seeing, but we didn’t really try to quantify whether past human-caused
climate change was complicit in that. We don’t really conclude the
encroachment we’ve seen so far has been caused by human-caused
climate change. Our conclusion is that climate is an important driver of
encroachment. And then we said, let’s look to the future and projections
of climate change.
Given what we know about factors that seem to lead to tree recruitment in
these meadows, that’s what led us to the conclusion that future climate
change is going to be a really strong contributor to encroachment. For
example, temperature is one of the important factors that explains
variability in the number of [tree] recruits in a meadow in any given year.
So when we look at future temperatures increasing, we see that drives an
increase in the number of trees in the meadows.

Water Deeply: How does snowpack affect
meadow encroachment?
Kueppers: High snowpack actually promotes encroachment. We think
that’s in part because, if there’s low snowpack, over winter these young
trees can be exposed to very cold temperatures, and that can be
detrimental to their ability to grow and survive. So when you have high
snowpack, the really young juvenile trees are buried in snow, and
protected over the winter. Then they can emerge and grow really strong in
the summer.
The other thing snowpack is important for is a sustainable source of water
in the drier meadows during spring and summer. These meadows are
collecting meltwater, not just from the meadow itself but from the
surrounding watershed, because the meadows are in topographically low
locations. Again, when these trees are young and getting established, if
the meadow dries out they’re going to have a hard time making it through
the summer. But if there’s a high snowpack, there’s that sustained input
of water and they’re less liable to dry out.

Water Deeply: How big of a role do meadows play in
water storage?
Kueppers: They’re an integral part of the hydrology of the High Sierra. A
big role that many meadows play is sort of as a regulator in the water

system. They collect snowmelt from the surrounding slopes and they store
it and sort of release it slowly over the spring and summer season. They
can absorb a large amount of water and then release it. Some is coming
from surface runoff, but other water is coming underground through
cracks in the rock and then emerging in the meadows.
The soil, especially in the wettest part of meadows, is very organically
rich. That’s because, over time as these grasses and other sedges and
wildflowers that are well adapted to the meadows grow and die, the
organic matter decomposes very slowly because there’s so much water
around. So this organic matter just builds up, and more organic-rich soil
can hold more water. And they release that water slowly over the summer.

Water Deeply: What are the water-supply implications
of shrinking meadows?
Kueppers: We don’t fully know what the full-sum impact might be. There
are a couple different ways that trees encroaching into meadows could
alter hydrology. One explanation we have would be that trees typically use
more water than the meadow grasses and wildlife. As a consequence, as
trees become more abundant and larger, they would use more of the
water coming into meadows, which means less water would
flow downstream.
Another is that as the meadows dry, if the trees are using more of the
water, there would be faster decomposition of organic matter, and that
organic matter wouldn’t necessarily be replaced in kind by the trees.
If there are fewer roots with the trees than there were with the grasses
and forbs, then the amount of organic matter flowing might not keep up
with the losses from the drying conditions. So you would lose that
sponginess in the soil, and it would weaken its ability to absorb and
release that water over time.

Water Deeply: Will the Sierra look different in future?
Kueppers: I think there will still be some meadows. There will still be
areas that remain wet. You just might have to look harder. You probably
will have to go higher to get to them. Maybe not over our lifetimes, but in
our children’s lifetimes. Luckily for us, changes happen very slowly. So
while we can see signs of this process underway, at least all of us can still
enjoy the meadows for what they are right now.

Water Deeply: What can we do to reverse this trend of
meadow loss?
Kueppers: Our simple modeling exercise suggests that supporting
solutions to climate change is a really important part of slowing meadow
encroachment, because the critical factor driving encroachment overtime
is the temperature increase. Another thing we can do is really limit the
direct effects on meadows, such as trampling by grazing animals, because
that just contributes to impacts on these meadows.

The West’s Wildfires Are
Taking a Toll on Reservoirs
New research predicts that an increase in the frequency and magnitude of
wildfires will double the rates of sedimentation in one-third of the West’s
large watersheds, reducing reservoir storage and affecting water supplies.
WRITT EN BY Alastair

Bland

PUB LISH ED O N 

Sep. 20, 2017

READ T IM E Approx.

5 minutes

California’s Sierra Nevada foothills are still recovering from the 2014 King fire that burned
98,000 acres, about 40,000 of which were within the Placer County Water Agency’s drainage
area.Tara Lohan

country and the world, reservoirs are silently
filling with sediment, and only a few people are thinking about it. Among
them is Tim Randle, a civil engineer with the United States Bureau of
Reclamation’s Sedimentation and River Hydraulics Group.
AROUND CALIFORNIA, THE

“We used to be gaining water storage capacity with dam building,” said
Randle, who is based in Denver. “Now, around the world, the pace is
slowing down as sediment builds up. This is true in the U.S., too.”
In the Paonia Reservoir, completed in 1962 in Gunnison County,
Colorado, for example, the dam’s outlet was built 60ft off the lake’s
bottom. Now, Randle says, the bottom of the lake is above the outlet. The
outlets in many other small reservoirs have become clogged with

sediment, requiring expensive dredging or even the removal of the dams.
Other times, boat ramps and marinas get buried and filled in. According
to Randle, about 35 percent of the reservoirs managed by his agency have
been surveyed for sediment fill. With most reservoirs, however, how
much capacity has been lost is a matter of educated guesswork.
“Lake Powell probably has 1 million acre-feet less water than what we
think,” Randle says.
And now the problem is predicted to get much worse.
According to new research from the U.S. Geological Survey, in many
regions erosion rates are now accelerating thanks to wildfires and climate
change. The western U.S., which relies on reservoirs for vital water storage
and flood control, will be particularly impacted.
The problems of reservoir sedimentation have been at least somewhat
understood for centuries, and most dams in the United States have been
built with average rates of upslope erosion factored into the placement of
the outflow pipes. In more erosive watersheds, Randle says, outlets are
built higher off the soon-to-be reservoir’s bottom. In watersheds where
soil naturally moves downslope at a slower pace, dam intakes can be built
at a lower elevation.
Authors of the USGS study, which was published September 7 in the
journal Geophysical Research Letters, wrote that projected increases in
the frequency and magnitude of wildfires will double the rates of
sedimentation in one-third of 471 large watersheds in the
western U.S.within the next 33 years. In almost nine out of 10 of the
watersheds assessed, sedimentation could increase by at least 10 percent,
the researchers warned. In some watersheds, the researchers predict,
erosion and sedimentation could increase by 1,000 percent. Climate
change, they concluded, is the underlying culprit.
Randle says climate change – which may already be increasing the
intensity of droughts and, in turn, wildfires – is driving a vicious cycle
whereby sedimentation rates increase. This reduces reservoir storage
space, “which leaves you less prepared for the next drought.”
Joel Sankey, a coauthor of the study and a USGS research geologist, says
portions of the Cascade Range in Washington, Oregon and California, as
well as parts of the Sierra Nevada, are likely to experience particularly
dramatic increases in fire damage and subsequent erosion. Since the root
systems of trees and shrubs literally hold mountainsides together, when
such vegetation dies en masse – as it can in destructive wildfires – vast

quantities of soil may subsequently erode into streams and rivers. Sankey
says the first year after a fire presents the greatest erosion hazard.
But impacts may last for years. In California’s Sierra Nevada foothills,
much of the acreage incinerated by the 2014 King fire remains
mostly bare.
“We’re just beginning to see the small plants return, and this is year three
after the fire,” said Andy Fecko, the Placer County Water Agency’s
director of resource development. “We expect it will be five to 10 years
before the watershed recovers.”
The King fire burned 98,000 acres, about 40,000 of which were within
the Placer County Water Agency’s drainage area. This has caused an
“exponential” increase in local erosion, Fecko said.
Elsewhere, water and forest managers well know the correlation between
fires and post-burn erosion. For example, more than 1 million cubic yards
of sediment entered Strontia Springs Reservoir, a major supply lake for
Denver Water, following the Hayman fire, which burned 138,000 acres in
Colorado in 2002.

There has been so much sedimentation at the Paonia Reservoir in Gunnison County, Colorado, that the
bottom of the lake is now above the outlet. (Jeffrey Beall / Flickr)

Randle says the preferred course of action in mitigating sedimentation is
preventative – especially protecting upslope areas against erosion, which
results mostly from fires, logging, farming and development. Once
sediment enters reservoirs, it is more challenging to deal with. He says

dam operators may open the release gates to allow muddy water that has
gushed into a reservoir after a storm to exit the system before the
sediment can sink to the bottom.
Once sediment has settled to the bottom, the most effective means of
removal is dredging, which can be costly.
“It’s much more expensive to dredge out your reservoirs after a fire than it
is to take preventive action, like reducing fuel loads and restoring forests,”
said Jason Kreitler, a research geographer with the USGS and a coauthor of
the study.
Dredging a reservoir can cost as much as $60 per cubic yard of material,
according to Randle. Some operations remove hundreds of thousands,
and even millions, of cubic yards of material. Finer-grained silt and clay is
cheaper to deal with.
“Sand and gravel is coarser and tends to do more damage to the dredging
equipment,” he noted.
Denver Water has spent $27 million removing debris and sediment from
Strontia Springs Reservoir, according to a June report. The Los Angeles
County Public Works plans to spend $190 million dredging four
reservoirs impacted by sediment from the 2009 Station fire, according to
a 2013 report from the U.S. Department of the Interior.
Fecko says his agency has removed 44,000 cubic yards of material from
Ralston Afterbay, a small hydroelectric reservoir on the Middle Fork of
the American River, at a cost of $2.2 million. Still, the reservoir has lost
about 50 percent of its storage capacity thanks to long-term
sedimentation, he says.
Besides lost reservoir storage, there are other impacts from
sedimentation. Downstream from dams, rivers become depleted of gravel
– essential for spawning salmon. In fact, gravel must be poured regularly
into many spawning areas to mimic gravel deposition cycles lost with dam
construction. Beach erosion, too, has become a chronic problem in many
coastal regions where dammed rivers no longer carry inland sands to the
ocean. Japan and Taiwan, Randle says, are both experiencing rapid beach
loss, as is California.
Randle, at the Bureau of Reclamation, thinks all water agencies and local
governments would be wise to take a proactive stance against sediment
entering reservoirs.

He likens sedimentation of reservoirs to clogged arteries.
“You might not have symptoms until you have a heart attack,” he noted.
With sedimentation of reservoirs, he explains, the impacts do not appear
until the sediment clogs a dam’s outflow or until the problem
literally surfaces.
“And for every reservoir in the world, it’s not a matter of if this will
happen, but when,” Randle said.

How Science and Data Can
Help Water Agencies Evolve
Among water users and agencies, data is often kept in private and hidden
from public view, but that’s beginning to change, writes Kirby Brill,
former general manager of the Mojave Water Agency.
WRITT EN BY Kirby

Brill
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An aerial view of the Cedar Springs Dam and Silverwood Lake, located about 30 miles north of the city of
San Bernardino on the West Fork of the Mojave River. Florence Low/California Department of Water Resources

several years serving as the general manager for the
Mojave Water Agency (MWA), I frequently stated to my board and
community that we were operating in the midst of a rapidly changing
world in water resources management. California’s recent drought
conditions grabbed their share of headlines and placed a laser-sharp focus
on the state’s finite water resources. In addition, in 2014 California passed
historic groundwater management laws (Senate Bill 1168, Assembly Bill
1739 and Senate Bill 1319).
DURING MY LAST

California is not alone in this changing world. Other states such as
Washington, Oregon, Colorado, Idaho and Montana are also facing
challenges of population growth, climate change and new state and
federal regulations that are bringing increased uncertainty. There appears
to be a greater sense of urgency to develop innovative and cost-effective

solutions in a water world that is rapidly changing all across the
Western states.
In the midst of this evolution (or revolution), there are opportunities for
our industry to raise its game. My experience at the MWA has led me to
believe that “science-based,” “market-driven” policies can be effective
cornerstones for a journey toward economic and water resources
sustainability. While there, I saw how a community seized an opportunity
to elevate science as a foundation that provided them the tools and
confidence to make effective and bold decisions to ensure sustainability.
Historically, water users and managers are reluctant to share or make
publicly available data on critical water level, production and quality. We
fear that somehow it will be “used against us.” It is time for us to discard
these past parochial perceptions that water data is proprietary, and to
embrace transparency. It begins with each of us laying our cards on
the table.

Focus on Science-Based Decision-Making
When I assumed the position of MWA general manager in 2000, I entered
a challenging and volatile environment that lacked trust and clear
direction. Cities competed with each other for economic development.
Water districts were pitted against each other in a zero-sum game.
Downstream cities and water districts sued upstream entities at every
opportunity to protect their access to limited supplies. Everyone disliked
the MWA.
It became immediately clear that the looming challenges of constraining
previously unconstrained groundwater could only be addressed with a
science-based decision-making. This was a serious challenge for the
sprawling rural desert region with limited resources. At that time
the MWA’s data collection program comprised one employee, a steel tape,
a filing cabinet and a limited partnership with the United States
Geological Survey to cover approximately 5,000 square miles (12,950 sq
km) of service area.
During the last 17 years, the MWA has made significant investments to
build a regional platform to collect, store and evaluate data, and serve the
science-based decision-making needs of the community. Its database now
contains 22,000 well construction reports dating all the way back to 1890
and annual data for about 2,000 active producing wells. Water levels are
regularly collected from more than 400 monitoring wells with additional

water quality data coming in from more than 700 wells through
partnerships with state and federal agencies.
All of that data goes into a robust relational database where staff use
geographic information systems (GIS) and other analytical tools to make
the knowledge available to the public and to the agency’s board.

Community Engagement
As the MWA traveled along its data-driven journey establishing science as
the foundation for decision-making, a wonderful thing happened along
the way: we gained public trust. Good, defensible data proved to be a
bridge between a skeptical public and our agency.
Our team rolled out charts, maps and studies of basin health. Community
members might not have liked us or what they saw, but they began to
trust the science.
During the MWA’s series of presentations, the ABCs of Water – an ongoing
program geared toward interested community members – I noticed a
change. Citizens became increasingly interested in moving beyond the
“talking points” and into the details of the science of water
resource management.
So we put our geologists, engineers, water conservation specialists and
operators out in front of these citizens to talk about what they do. We
authorized them to speak in an unvarnished manner, using the data that
they work with on a daily basis. I witnessed an enthusiastic interest from
the audience and an appetite for more.
In California, and across the West, the public is skeptical and hungry for
information on water levels, water quality, water production and other
related water resource data. People don’t want simply to follow new rules
and regulations; they want to become part of the solution.
In the Mojave Basin, science-based decision-making created an engaged
and empowered community. The West faces many challenges ahead and
it will only be through science-based innovation that we will
find sustainability.
The views expressed in this article belong to the author and do not
necessarily reflect the editorial policy of Water Deeply.
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Groundwater Resources Association Annual Meeting 2017
Panel Discussion

“Call to Action to Recharge California’s Depleted Aquifers”

Panelists: Graham Fogg (UC Davis), Dave Bolland (ACWA), Kamyar Guivetchi (DWR), Amanda Montgomery
(SWRCB), Sherry Luper (Reclamation)
Graham Fogg









The Central Valley has 0.5-2.8 MAF groundwater overdraft; we need to either reduce pumping or recharge.
How much water is available for recharge? Getting theoretical water to where needed is a problem.
Most of CV aquifer systems are semi-confined with a myriad of clay/slit layers to impede recharge.
A small number of big projects will be ineffectual. You have to incentivize 1000s of smaller projects.
There are technical challenges to releasing and moving water to where needed.
There are legal challenges and how to quantify the recharge.
UCD has looked at snowmelt and the guess is 0.5 MAF available within the American River/Consumnes
River watershed.
Mapping aquifers has to begin again; it was stopped in 1970’s. DWR did mapping (Bulletin 108) 50’s,
60’s and 70’s.

Kamyar Guivetchi




California water is all about two extremes – very wet or very dry.
We have to look at new ways to manage water because of climate changes: groundwater recharge and flood
management.
On November 8, there is a public forum at Convention Center to discuss water management.

Sherry Luper



Reclamation is working with contractors to encourage groundwater recharge.
Reclamation still has $25M to institute groundwater recharge in San Joaquin Valley.

Amanda Montgomery



Remember you need a water right to divert from a stream even if it is a new stream created from flooding.
You can get a temporary water right - $2000 and up.

Dave Bolland




ACWA wants to be a part of the leadership in the effort to recharge groundwater.
There is an importance to invest in storage and recharge infrastructure. Impediments have to be removed
for this to happen.
ACWA is concerned about water rights and maintaining the protection afforded by these rights.

Questions:
1.
2.
3.

Has anyone quantified the impact of drip instead of flood on farmland? Kamyar mentioned that Karen
Ross has told farmers not to remove their flood infrastructure when putting in drip systems.
There is a need for more detail in water models. Kamyar mentioned DWR is coming out with white paper
on this that needs buy-in and ownership by industry.
How do you incentivize those whose recharge efforts help other districts more than their own – locally or
regionally? Amanda hopes that GSA’s rather than districts will apply for permits.
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Christina Buck (Butte County Water)











What about interbasin boundary flows?
There are 12 subbasins in the study area of counties in NSVIRWM.
She mentioned Darcy’s lawbeing used in a groundwater model, and an integrated groundwater/surface
water model.
Even though SGMA does not require surface water models, they will have to be used in groundwater
modeling.
Models have to be evaluated for each area because each subbasin is uniquely different.
Long term use of models by GSAs will make them better.
GSAs need to: form advisory committee, identify needs (subsidence, seawater intrusion, etc.), identify
models, analyze models (specify to needs), model selection (matching current understanding & modeling
historical groundwater conditions) and then test it.
Different models will not perfectly agree.
There is a need to continually refine models – adaptive management.

Reza Namvar (Woodward & Curran)



















“Appropriate Use of Models”

Subbasin boundaries are very fluid.
He looked at the C2VSim (DWR) and CVHM (USGS) models.
CVHM data in 1960 is very different than the 2000 data.
The models are much closer in 2000 due to fine tuning.
The two models are using different quantities of water.
Looked at calibration of models: CVHM much lower than observed whereas the C2Vsim model is within
observed results.
The good news is that updated models are coming out soon.
In the end, develop a model tool that is easy to use in the field.

Tyler Hatch (DWR)


“Regional Collaboration and Model Selection Process”

“SGMA Technical Assistance: Climate Change Datasets for GSPs”

Undesired results to be addressed under SGMA: lowering groundwater levels, reduction of storage,
seawater intrusion, degraded quality, land subsidence, and surface water depletion.
Your GSA has to comment on historical and future projections, i.e. climate changes.
DWR has a climate action plan (phase 2 complete) and a water plan (updated for 2018).
CCTAG resulted in selection of climate models appropriate for the GSAs.
The 2030 data will be useful to evaluate projects and actions in order to gain sustainability.
The 2070 data will be useful to show sustainability.
Calculation of projected water budgets and establishment of water budgets have to be dynamic over time.
DWR provided climate data is recommended, but not required. Be sure to use the latest data.
Change factors for precipitation and reference evapo-transpiration.
Data to be provided in GSP: climate, hydrologic, etc.
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Kathleen Kuepper (United Water CD)









“Groundwater Monitoring Protocols for Seawater Intrusion”

Seawater intrusion is measured by minimal chloride concentration. What about bromide or other anions?
Strawberries are very susceptible to saltwater in the Oxnard plain.
Underwater geology, i.e. the Magu Canyon, can be a direct conduit to seawater intrusion.
In 1930, 100 mg/l chloride defined the leading edge of saltwater.
Older methods used by USGS to determine the chloride in different sources of saltwater sources were:
major/minor ion chemistry, trace element analysis, specific isotope chemistry, depth dependent water
quality sampling (a little poor quality water skewed results), and surface geophysical methods.
They learned of lateral seawater intrusion, cross contamination compaction of salt-laden marine clays and
lateral movement of brines from tertiary formations.
The chloride concentration by itself might not be the only ion to measure.
Track 2 SGMA Modeling & Other Tools

Dirk Kassenaar (Earthfx, Inc.)









“Data Management Strategies for Integrated Development”

In building an integrated model, it is easy to push the “blind spots” aside -- what we don’t understand.
Blind spots: Artificial partitioning of SW and GW, historic simplifications and biases
Spreadsheets are not databases.
On-line transaction processing (OLTP) is designed for processing raw transaction data and is best for use
by consulting engineers where data is stored in “original units of measure” -- use a DataSourceID.
On-line analytical processing (OLAP) is designed for analysis and decision making by a water management
agency with clear operations and regulatory reporting requirements. OLAP is optimal for modeling and
GIS software tools.
Limit your pre-calibration to the simple parts where feedback is limited.
Integrated calibration can target measured precipitation and total stream flow.
Track 2 SGMA Planning

Gina Nichols (Nossaman LLP)











SGMA says it does not address legal water rights, however, water rights will play into GSPs.
California is only the second state, Texas the other, to establish local control of groundwater.
So far SGMA is working but the next big problem is sustainability planning (each GSP has to have the
same methods and data throughout basin) and then adjudication of water rights.
All decisions in the GSP are going to affect the water rights of the parties in the basin.
Legislators expected adjudication and have addressed and proposed a process.
A GSP should address a means of compromise and working through differences.
Can GSAs impose pumping limits, or impose fees (Prop 218?), or should they recognize prescriptive rights.
How do GSAs reach agreement to utilize the same data and methods?
Questions: what is safe yield, how do you get credit for stored water, what are impacts to water transfers?
Comprehensive adjudication is not the only litigation option: writs, declaratory relief, torts, or validation.

Jason House (Woodward & Curran)





“Will Water Rights Conflicts Rupture SGMA Collaborations?”

“Mutual Benefits of GSA and Remediator Cooperation”

SGMA says that you have to reach out to those in the basin that have to do remediation.
GSAs have to be in partnership with remediators.
It is good to talk to remediators because they have a lot of information already available for defining basin.
There is available information without talking: geotracker, DWR data, and CASGEM.
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SGMA has produced an interplay between regulatory authorities; now remediators have to talk with people
to work through this process.

Ruth Langridge (UC Santa Cruz)






“Managing Groundwater During Drought for California’s Communities”

Drought planning at the State level usually goes on after a drought happens.
There is no incentive in SGMA for proactive planning for a drought.
Most basins still have a large need for imported water.
Many basins have accumulated an overdraft of groundwater that is rarely addressed.
She mentioned projects in Ojai, Tehachapi, Monterey peninsula and Goleta basins, and described how they
have fought drought conditions.
Track 3 Land Use Planning and Groundwater Resources Management Under SGMA

Panel Discussion:
Pete Parkinson (American Planning Association)








GSAs must take into account land use planning in a general sense.
Land use planning is very much a local jurisdiction.
Community values are embedded in the plan whether they are explicitly stated or not. Social values are
complex and highly subjective and variable over time.
The economy, the environment and social equity are core planning principles. Planners must strive for
“public equity” for all three.
Land development drives water demand.
Land use decisions are local and they vary by locality.
Planning managers do not have to do anything unless there is a substantial change to a general plan and
they need water managers on their team.

Paul Gosselin (Director Water Conservation Butte County)





Counties have the power in well permitting, land use decisions and more.
Butte County has a very strong community interest in water because of internal and external threats that led
to a need for recognition of land use in water plans.
A lot of community involvement led to a desire for a water resource element.
Butte County’s experience indicates the need for two-way dialogue and collaboration.

Iris Priestaf (Todd Groundwater)



As you develop your GSP, consider: how land use plans may change water demands, how your GSP may
affect water use demands, and etc.
GSAs are given the power to regulate well water extraction, but it has to be consistent with an applicable
general plan unless there is an insufficient sustainable yield in the basin to serve land use designated in the
general plan.

Jack Rice (CA Farm Bureau Federation)





The agricultural community is a big thread to a GSP.
Values are changing and farmers are having a hard time accepting it.
Farmers are very concerned with water rights issues.
Plans need to be flexible to allow land use variability.
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Track 4 Advances in Site Remediation

Lindsay Swearingen (Specialty Earth Sciences)









“In Situ Soil & Groundwater Remediation of Emerging
Contamination of Concern”

Specialty Earth Sciences performs sustained in situ chemical oxidation (ISCO).
The process’s use of solid encapsulated chemicals in place of liquid allows the chemical to stay in place
longer.
The period of oxidant activity is relatively short
The process involves a coating or encapsulated granular environmental reactants, i.e. permanganate, being
placed in a holder and lowered into a ground site, i.e. horizontal well, direct borehole, down-well, or
extraction slurry.
A concentration gradient driven diffusion governs the transport in low permeability.
She mentioned a California case in San Diego ($350K) to remove PCE using permanganate in both shallow
and deep zones. The permanganate has to be recharged every 18 - 36 months.
She mentionded a New Jersey case to remove VOCs from point source for less than $75K.
Track 4 Groundwater Replenishment

Mark Woyshner (Balance Hydraulics)







Fractured granite, i.e. the Montara Mountain next to the San Andreas fault line, is very hard to assess
because of the uncertainty of response.
A bore hole found granitic rock at 230 feet, but when they dug below 720 feet, they hit pockets of water
(40gpm).
They observed the typical drawdown levels you should experience during a drought when higher pumping,
but the levels recovered after the drought.
Shallow groundwater near North Fork Montara Creek
They applied groundwater age techniques to determine age: modern (tritium), pre-modern (carbon 14), and
paleo (carbon 14).
Their results allow them to assume 4 inches of natural recharge when recharge pumping at a 70gpm rate.

John Lindquist (United Water CD)






“Balancing Pumping with Recharge in a Fractured Granitic Aquifer”

“Groundwater Replenishment on the Oxnard Coastal Plain”

United Water WD is district in Oxnard plain serving 400,000 people in Ventura, Camarillo and Oxnard.
The District is within the Santa Clara river watershed; most years are very dry but can have huge flows
during El Nino years (1MAF flows). United was formed to capture high flows for recharge in 1956.
Cones of depression have caused a lot of saltwater intrusion.
A local water supply is being used for recharge and therefore the cost is low.
Southern California steelhead trout (endangered species) could be a real challenge in the future because
they could be asked to reduce pumping by 70TAF.

Sam Schaefer & Dana Munn (GEI) “Increasing Groundwater Recharge Capacity in Southern San Joaquin River”






Shafter-Wasco ID,founded in 1937, is a CVP supplier divided into a north and south delivery area.
Banking of surplus San Joaquin River with the available CVP water in the south area was a problem
because farmers did not like the water quality.
Then the Cross-Valley Canal Calloway Intertie happened in their southern zone that could bring in Kern
River water with much higher water quality.
The recharge project is located next to the Calloway canal and away from farming land.
The hope is to use a recharge rate fo 54CFS and recover at a rate of 15CFS from settling ponds.
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They used precast piping in making three ponds (depth only about 3 feet) that will eventually be grass
covered.
Track 5 Tools for Visualization and Analysis

Daniel Mountjoy (Sustainable Conservation)










“GRAT: Integrating Geo-Spatial Data to Determine GSA
Recharge Potential”

GRAT is Groundwater Recharge Assessment Tool.
GRAT is a preliminary tool, not a model, to assess: where recharge is best, how much water to capture,
cost, and how much of groundwater overdraft can be addressed.
GRAT addresses: water available for recharge then conveyance then site availability then fallow recharge/
dedicated basins and then a recharge benefit/cost analysis.
The recharge suitability index used is the UC Davis one that measures the composition of the top six feet of
soil.
It looks at crop compatibility to learn which crops can take more water than needed without harm.
GRAT is a great on-site selection process for recharge by these measurements: conveyance/water access,
volume applied, deep percolation and retention.
When GRAT is overlaid with GIS, a GSA can play with the selection criteria with various scenarios to
determine the best outcome for modeling.
The big question farmers always want to know: How much does our recharge offset pumping? GRAT
helps see that.
GRAT helps determine how much unused water is available for recharge and helps determine future
improvement projects.

Rick Fears (DTSC) “Identifying New Sites and Sources of Contamination Impacting Public Water Supply Wells”






DTSC uses Spatial Prioritization Geographic Information Tool (SPGIT).
There are approximately 21,000 drinking water wells in the State from 7500 purveyors.
He mentioned San Gabriel (40%) and San Fernando (75%) having the most contaminated wells exceeding
MCLs and not able to serve customers.
SPGIT looks at impacted wells, halogenated waste, environmental justice scores, and facility information
and then scores an area according to: health risk, potential risk, a California environ screen, etc.
The SPGIT score helps DTSC prioritize sites for cleanup with available resources. It has also help find
new sites.
Track 5 Surface Water / Groundwater

David Fairman (Roseville GM)





“Data Collection for Assessing Surface Water-Groundwater Interaction”

The Roseville recharge study area is a well funded (AB 3030 grant) project over six years old.
There was a cone of depression that allowed for an opportunity of recharge.
They looked for the best area for recharge which turned out to be at the confluence of numerous creeks into
Dry Creek where they put in four monitoring wells.
They also looked at the potential source of water for recharge and found some to be Sierra water that they
have assumed to be from the purchase of PCWA water.

Rodney Fricke (GEI)



The Consumnes River recharge project is only about nine months old.
This project used an existing levee well and three ranch wells to measure water level/temperature/
conductivity with probes.
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Water level data from the levee well has shown so far that peaks in groundwater correspond with peaks in
the river. Data from the ranch wells shows a delay in groundwater levels from river water levels.
Temperature data showed an increase from ranch wells and a decrease from the levee well.
The conductivity data was pretty flat for all well data.
General Session – 2016 David Keith Todd Lecturers

Claudia Faunt, Ph.D. (USGS)










“Water Availability and Sustainability in California’s Central Valley”

California’s hydrologic setting:
o 39M people, rainfall ranges <5 to >80 in/yr, climate volatile & varies,
o Three main sources of hydrologic system are: surface water, snow pack, & groundwater
o One big integrated water system where 38B gallons used daily.
o Conjunctive use (past), sustainability (present) and adaptation & resiliency (future)
Groundwater legislation:
o It took about 100 years for groundwater to be treated as a common source.
o There are six SGMA sustainability factors, unfortunately these six are now equal throughout the
state: desert basins – declining, coastal basins – steady to declining, central valley (north) –steady,
central valley (south) – declining.
o SGMA is a big change but legislation is not a quick fix.
Central valley water availability:
o Development began in 1850 and now the system is highly organized.
o MODFLOW-OWHM has 13 layers.
o The Central Valley aquifer is pretty confined.
o Consumptive use of water determines a water budget because of: nature uses, agriculture uses, &
urban uses.
o A shift of crops does not allow fallowing land as in the past.
Sustainability/Adaptation:
o These affect CV water availability: extensive pumping, land subsidence, saltwater intrusion,
depletion of surface water, & water quality.
o CV agriculture relies heavily on conjunctive use of groundwater and surface water.
o Recent droughts, land-use changes and poor infrastructure are showing the present system is not
sustainable.
o We need to focus on maintaining groundwater levels above a critical level.
o Models are tools that help identify challenges and assess scenarios but are not needed everywhere.
Management horizons may range from years to decades to more than a century.

Rosemary Knight, Ph.D. (Stanford U) “Use of Geophysical Methods for Groundwater Evaluation and Management”








Groundwater makes up 97% of potable water.
How do we get the data that we need to figure out what is going on under ground?
Geophysical methods are available: electrical resistivity (airborne), land electromagnetic, insar data
(satellite), airborne electromagnetic, seismic reflection, etc.
She challenged her students to work with real people in a real place with real problems.
She talked of a project in the San Luis River valley/aquifer in Colorado between the San Juan Mountains
and the Sangre de Cristo Mountains.
o When you pump, you have compaction and subsidence. The opposite happens in an elastic system
when recharging causing expansion of aquifer.
o ∆d = Sk∆h ∆d is change depth; ∆h is change well headspace; Sk is elasticity constant.
She talked of subsidence in the Tulare ID.
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GRA Conference
October 3-4, 2017
o



They used airborne electromagnetic imaging to see electrical resistivity 1900 feet below the
surface.
o They looked at 12 lithology logs (clay, mixed fine & coarse, sand & gravel) to measure resistivity.
o How do you capture and communicate the uncertainty to an end-user? This is still being
determined, but she is working on giving probabilities.
o Her group is using these data to get 3D imaging of an area underground.
She talked of saltwater intrusion along the Monterey coast.
o You need to know the interface of fresh water and saltwater in order to do adaptive management.
o Seaside Basin put in four sentinel wells in the south to look for the southern interface.
o Electrical resistivity (airborne) imaging of saltwater intrusion shows saltwater intrusion in the
south is very tight in the upper aquifer whereas further north the saltwater intrusion has permeated
the lower aquifers.
o They have now imaged from Santa Cruz to Monterey and have shown tremendous variability in
saltwater intrusion – some areas very deep and other areas very shallow.
o Some shallow areas are where inland pumping has ceased showing good groundwater
management.

8

AGENDA ITEM 20

2017
Regular Board Meeting Schedule
January
February
March
April
April
May
June
July
August
September
October
November
December

23
27
20
17
24
22
19
17
21
18
16
13
18

(Cancelled)
(Special Board Meeting)
(Budget Public Hearing)
(Public Hearing)

Meetings will be held at 7:00 p.m. at the District’s meeting room located at:
7837 Fair Oaks Boulevard, Carmichael.

November 2017

November 2017
Su
5
12
19
26

Mo
6
13
20
27

December 2017

Tu

We

Th

Fr

Sa

7
14
21
28

1
8
15
22
29

2
9
16
23
30

3
10
17
24

4
11
18
25

Su
3
10
17
24
31

Mo
4
11
18
25

Tu

We

5
12
19
26

6
13
20
27

Th

Fr

Sa

7
14
21
28

1
8
15
22
29

2
9
16
23
30

SUNDAY

MONDAY

TUESDAY

WEDNESDAY

THURSDAY

FRIDAY

SATURDAY

Oct 29

30

31

Nov 1

2

3

4

9

10

11

9:00am RWA-Board Mtg
(@ RWA)

Veterans Day; Observed

Veterans Day (Holiday)

17

18

24

25

WEF San Joaquin River Restoration Tour (Fresno)

5

12

6

13

7

8

14

15

16

21

22

23

7:00pm Board Meeting
(Board Room)

19

20

8:30am RWA-Exec
Comm Mtg @ RWA

26

27

28

29

Thanksgiving Day (Holiday)

30

Dec 1

2

ACWA/JPIA Executive Committee Meeting (Anaheim)
ACWA Fall Conference & Expo (Anaheim)

Shelby Kalisiak

1

10/12/2017 11:01 AM

December 2017

December 2017
Su
3
10
17
24
31

Mo
4
11
18
25

Tu

We

5
12
19
26

6
13
20
27

January 2018

Th

Fr

Sa

7
14
21
28

1
8
15
22
29

2
9
16
23
30

Su

Mo

Tu

We

Th

Fr

Sa

7
14
21
28

1
8
15
22
29

2
9
16
23
30

3
10
17
24
31

4
11
18
25

5
12
19
26

6
13
20
27

SUNDAY

MONDAY

TUESDAY

WEDNESDAY

THURSDAY

FRIDAY

SATURDAY

Nov 26

27

28

29

30

Dec 1

2

ACWA Fall Conference & Expo (Anaheim)

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

9:00am SGA Board
Meeting (@
RWA/SGA office)

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

26

27

28

29

30

4

5

6

7:00pm Board Meeting
(Board Room)

24

25

Christmas Day (Holiday)

31

Jan 1, 18

2

8:30am RWA-Exec
Comm Mtg @ RWA

3

New Year's Day (Holiday)

Shelby Kalisiak

1

10/12/2017 11:03 AM

AGENDA ITEM 21

BOARD REPRESENTATIVES
COMMITTEE ASSIGNMENTS
Effective: January 2017
Revised: October 2017
CARMICHAEL WATER DISTRICT
STANDING COMMITTEES:
Employee Relations Committee
Paul Selsky; Roy Leidy
Finance Committee
Roy Leidy; Mark Emmerson
Water Sales Committee
Mark Emmerson; Paul Selsky

ADHOC COMMITTEES:
FOWD/CWD 2x2 Committee
Mark Emmerson; Paul Selsky
Negotiations Committee
Mark Emmerson; Paul Selsky
OTHER MEMBERSHIP COMMITTEES:
ACWA Region 4
Mark Emmerson (Representative)
ACWA Region 4 - Groundwater Committee
Roy Leidy (Representative)
ACWA–Joint Powers Insurance Authority
Mark Emmerson (Representative)
CALIFORNIA-OREGON TRANSMISSION PROJECT
Mark Emmerson (Representative)
GROUNDWATER RESOURCES ASSOCIATION
John Wallace (Representative); Steve Nugent (Alternate)
REGIONAL WATER AUTHORITY - Board of Directors Executive Committee
Ron Greenwood (Representative); Paul Selsky (Alternate)
Steve Nugent (Representative)
SACRAMENTO GROUNDWATER AUTHORITY
John Wallace (Representative); Mark Emmerson (Alternate)
WATER FORUMS SUCCESSOR EFFORT
Roy Leidy (Representative), Steve Nugent (Representative); Ron Greenwood (Alternate)

